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Corporate Information

DR EH

Executive Directors:

Zhao Zhenzhong (Vice Chairman and Acting Chairman)
(Removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed on 12 March 2025)

Zhang Zhilin (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Guo Wei (Re-designated as non-executive Director on 29 November 2024,
removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed as an executive Director on
12 March 2025)

Qin Jiali (Removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed on 12 March 2025)

Tan Xin (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Xiang Xin (Chairman) (Appointed on 1 October 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Qiu Bin (Vice Chairman) (Appointed on 1 October 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Chan Wai Cheong (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Chen Xingiong (Appointed as non-executive Director on 1 October 2024,
re-designated as executive Director on 24 December 2024 and

removed on 11 March 2025)

Non-executive Directors:

Chiu Sui Keung (re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director
on 29 November 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025)
Zhang Shaoyan (re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director

on 29 November 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Lin Qiucheng (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Wang Anxin (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (Retired on 30 September 2024)

Lam Williamson (Removed on 11 March 2025)

Wong Hoi Kuen (Retired on 30 September 2024)

Wong Tsz Fung (Appointed on 30 September 2024
and removed on 11 March 2025)

Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (Appointed on 30 September 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Chou Chiu Ho (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Cho Ka Wing (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Chan Lok Yin (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Ma Kin Ling (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (Chairman)
Lin Qiucheng
Wang Anxin
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Corporate Information
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Corporate Profile
REIREIT

Elife Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) is principally engaged in the supply chain business for branded
goods and consumer products in the Greater China region. The Group's core
activities encompass a comprehensive range of brand digitisation services,
such as brand management, brand promotion and brand supply chain, thereby
establishing an integrated industry chain. In addition, the Company is also
engaged in the supply chain, sales and marketing, and brand building of daily
cleaning, anti-epidemic and licensed branded consumer goods. The Group
is currently expanding it's business into various consumer goods markets
conforming to the Group’s business philosophy of “an easier life and better
livelihood”, striving to provide consumers with a more comfortable, convenient,
environmentally friendly, and healthier lifestyle experience.

The Group has been managing the following businesses:

The Group is engaged in the comprehensive supply chain business for branded
goods and consumer products, focusing on assisting brand suppliers to expand
their online and offline sales channels, establishing direct sales channels
with end customers (B2C2C), and offering various value-added services such
as brand building, management and promotion for brand owners (or their
advertising agents) to form a complete industry chain. With respect to our
brand promotion services, the Group offers digital intelligent marketing plan to
enhance customers’ brand awareness and boost product sales through different
online and offline platforms, including scenario-based digital media in hotel
venues and various social media platforms such as TikTok, Kuaishou, efc.

The Company possesses the brand “"HZ4"/"E'ANSN” and the supply chain
including the formula, brand and package design of the anti-epidemic and daily
cleaning products and is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and brand
building of such products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
overseas.

The Group is engaged in the sales of licensed branded consumer goods
including licensed branded watches and ladies’ handbags. The sales channels
included direct export sales, e-commerce app and live video streaming
television channels in Beijing, Jiangxi, Zhejiang, Shandong and Guangxi.
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Financial Highlights

MBEEE

Operating Performance

Continuing operations

Turnover
Loss for the year

Discontinued operation

Loss of the year from

a discontinued operation,

net of income tax

Loss for the year

attributable to owners of

the Company

2025 2024 2023
- el - —E-ME =
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T FET
KRB
BHEEERS
R 177,551 184,086 238,840
FEBE (55,732) (28,954) (22,882)
ERIEEERS
DRIEREERS
FEBE  HBRAEH
(41,154) (1,954) (2,355)
RARBEEABGLFEE
&8
(97,838) (32,008) (21,673)

2022
—E-=

HK$'000

FHET

152,600
(46,560)

(2,815)

(40,840)

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FERT

276,040
(29,704)

(940)

(26,403)

Financial Position B 7 AR R,

Total assets

Cash reserves

Total bank borrowings
Net cash reserves

Shareholders’ funds

EERE 132,712 255,659 78,150
REHAE 18,541 27,132 2,283
RITIEEHRER - - -
REEFH 18,541 27,132 2,283
RERESE 50,071 52,235 25,612

101,344

10,807

10,807

43,385

123,552

14,590

14,590

70,123
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRBE

As the global economy continued its recovery in 2024, Elife Holdings
Limited (“the Company” or “Elife,” together with its subsidiaries, “the
Group”) capitalized on accelerating digital transformation to achieve
meaningful progress. Guided by our vision for the future, we further enhanced
our comprehensive digital ecosystem, delivering intelligent solutions across the
entire brand lifecycle — from strategic brand management and operations to
promotion and supply chain excellence.

The Group delivered outstanding performance in the first half of the fiscal year,
achieving a substantial 179% year-on-year revenue increase. In the second half,
the Company experienced suspension of trading in the shares since December
2024 and board composition change, certain executive directors, who has
been responsible for the business operation of the Group, were suspended
duties for certain period of time, which resulted in Group facing significant
challenges and slow down in business development and sales. Under new
leadership, the Group successfully stabilised operations and maintained full-
year revenue at a level consistent with the preceding year.

Our commitment to collaborative innovation was demonstrated through
landmark alliances with industry pioneers in this year:

o Our partnership with TCL Commercial extended our brand supply
chain into smart home appliances and consumer electronics, positioning
us at the forefront of technology-driven consumer markets.

o Our initial agreement with ZhiHang Feigou to leverage their
revolutionary drone technology and application. This initiative is a key
part of our strategy to elevate our e-commerce and logistic infrastructure
and advance our supply chain integration capacity, allowing us fo
provide a more efficient, intelligent and comprehensive supply chain
service.

These alliances have not only expanded our business horizons but also created
powerful cross-industry synergies, reinforcing our market leadership and driving
sustainable value creation.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

As we look to the future, Elife remains steadfast in our purpose: to enable an
easier life and better livelihood through our dual-pillar “Al + Digital Assets”
strategy. We are reshaping value chains, enhancing operational excellence,
and cultivating profitable growth across all business segments.

Artificial intelligence is transforming global business travel, smart hotels,
and cultural consumption digitally, and emerging as a key driver of the new-
generation supply chain ecosystem. To grow with these changes, Elife will enter
the business travel markets of Southeast Asia, Europe, and the United States by
launching brand supply chain business, and propelling the deep integration of
smart Al products into business travel, in the second half of 2025.

Our plan for growth focuses on two key areas. In our home region of Greater
China, we will keep improving our business structure, strengthening our brand
building business, and upgrading our supply chain business. At the same time,
we will actively expand into the international markets by starting our brand
supply chain business in Southeast Asia, Europe, and the United States, aiming
to create a powerful and connected global network.

With respect to strategic investments, through targeted capital raising and
a disciplined approach to expansion, we will deepen our presence across
six pivotal sectors: dining, housing, transportation, travel, shopping, and
enfertainment— balancing organic growth with strategic acquisitions.

With respect to risk management, we are fortifying our risk management
framework and internal controls to navigate evolving market dynamics while
ensuring long-term stability.

We extend our deepest appreciation to our shareholders, customers, and
partners for their enduring trust and collaboration. As we embark on 2025,
Elife is poised to pioneer new frontiers in digital brand services, creating lasting
value for all stakeholders and shaping a more connected, intelligent future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFNWE TN

The Group is principally engaged in the supply chain business for branded
goods and consumer products in the Greater China region. In 2024, the
global economy sustained its recovery, and the accelerated advancement of
digital transformation presented the Company with unprecedented growth
opportunities. Aligning with the trends of the times, the Company continued
to enhance its digital intelligent comprehensive service capabilities across the
entire brand lifecycle, including brand management, brand operations, brand
promotion and brand supply chain.

The Group reported a substantial 179% year-on-year revenue increase for the
first half of the financial year. In the second half, as affected by the suspension
of trading in the shares of the company since December 2024, suspension of
duties of certain executive directors who are responsible for business operations
of the Group and reshuffle of the Board, business development of the Group
experienced significant slow down, and, revenue trends moderated. As a result,
the full financial year concluded with revenue levels that were consistent with
those of the preceding year.

Elife forged strategic partnership with leading enterprise — TCL Commercial.
The strategic cooperation has expanded the Company’s brand supply chain
footprint in smart home appliances and consumer electronics, enhancing
penetration in technology-driven consumer markets.

For details of the business development of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025, please refer to the section headed “Corporate Profile” as set out
on page 2 of this annual report.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded turnover of
approximately HK$177,551,000 (2024: approximately HK$184,086,000),
largely consistent with previous year. The Group’s revenue was generated
from the supply chain business segment, the daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and
other consumable products segment, and the licensed branded consumer goods
segment.

During the first half of the financial year, the Group reported a substantial year-
on-year revenue increase of 179%.

This performance was driven by the strategic expansion of the supply chain
business with a focus on brand promotion services, which commenced in the
second half of year 2023. These services provide digital intelligent marketing
plans to customers to enhance customers’ brand awareness and boost product
sales through online and offline platforms — including hotel media and social
media platforms such as TikTok, Kuaishou, etc. The Group acted as both
principal and agent for customers across different types of services in the
brand promotion business. Revenue from provision of brand promotion services
increased by 3 times during the first half of the financial year as compared to
that of last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFNWE TN

In the same period, revenue from sales of commodities also rose significantly by
2.5 times reflecting the sales team’s success in diversifying the product portfolio
and expanding the customer base.

Notwithstanding the strong first-half performance, full-year revenue moderated
to a level consistent with the prior year, principally as a result of board
composition change and suspension of duties of certain executive directors for
certain period of time in the second half of the financial year.

Cost of Sales

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the cost of sales of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$161,640,000 (2024: approximately HK$152,226,000),
representing an increase of approximately 6% as compared to the year ended
31 March 2024. The increase was primarily due to the Group's strategic
expansion of its supply chain business, specifically in brand promotion services.
The Group strategically invested in the expansion of its brand promotion
services to enhance long-term profitability.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 decreased to
approximately HK$15,911,000 (2024: approximately HK$31,860,000),
representing a decrease by approximately 50% from the previous year. A gross
profit of HK$10,860,000 with gross profit margin of 8.8% was generated by
provision of brand promotion services that the Group started during the year
ended 31 March 2024. The decline in gross profit was primarily a result of the
Group's strategic expansion in its supply chain business which increased its
cost of sales, and the Group’s strategic decision to offer volume-based rebates
to certain brand promotion clients. For the long term, after the reshuffle of the
Board, the Group will restore the business operation of the Group, and the
Group aims to enhance the Group's gross profit by optimizing its service mix.
Additionally, the Group plans to leverage its existing client relationships and
business network to expand into new geographic markets.

Selling Expenses

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded selling expenses
of approximately HK$10,710,000 (2024: approximately HK$4,211,000).
The increase was mainly due to (i) the additional headcount recruited for the
development of the supply chain business segment and offering of various
value-added services, such as brand promotion, to our customers in the first
half of the financial year and {ii) the participation in ‘City Corridor’ project
since April 2024, through which the Group acquired offline advertising spaces
in mid-to-high-end hotel clusters across major cities in China. This initiative
provides a physical platform for supply chain customers to showcase products
and run promotional campaigns, thereby amplifying the marketing impact.
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Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses incurred by the Group for the year was
approximately HK$24,130,000 (2024: approximately HK$24,096,000),
consistent with previous year. The Group implemented stringent cost control
policy to lower the operating costs in spite of the increased headcount and the

development of new businesses.

Net Allowance for Expected Credit Losses on Trade
and Other Receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment on its trade and other receivables
under expected credit loss (“ECL") model in accordance with HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each year end to reflect any changes in
credit risk in respect of trade and other receivables. Net allowance for ECL
recognised during the year amounted to approximately HK$32,503,000
(2024: approximately HK$27,767,000). The increase was mainly due to
(i) the additional allowance for ECL of approximately HK$18,576,000 on
trade receivables with reference to the aging of the outstanding balances as
at 31 March 2025; (ii) the additional allowance for ECL of approximately
HK$4,634,000 due to a high level of impairment risk related to the loan to
Graceful Ocean International Group Holding Limited; and (iii) net allowance
for ECL of approximately HK$9,293,000 for certain long outstanding other
receivables where the expected possibility of repayment was considered
remote. For details of net allowance for expected credit losses on trade and
other receivables, please refer to Notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements as set out in this annual report.

Loss on Disposal of Subsidiaries

On 30 March 2024, the Company entered into a sales and purchase
agreement to dispose of its equity interests in Admiral Glory Global Limited
(“Admiral Glory”) for a cash consideration of approximately HK$22,000. The
disposal was completed on 28 June 2024.

The loss on disposal of the Admiral Glory and its subsidiaries (the “Admiral
Glory Group”) was calculated with reference to (i) the consideration for
the Disposal, (ii) the unaudited consolidated net liabilities of Admiral Glory
Group, (iii) the non-controlling interests of Admiral Glory Group; and (iv) the
losses on waiver of loans to Admiral Glory Group as at the date of completion
of the Disposal. For details of the calculation, please refer to note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual report.

Hfth = E BT
AEERAFEEEHMBEERMZ#24,130,000/8 T
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FESG - AREEFBESENSETH  URRAE
MESRAMGERRE EERKREE - NEEER
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Loss for the Period from a Discontinued Operation
Prior to its disposal, Admiral Glory Group carried out all activities related to
the Group’s Esmart digital services segment; thus, the results of the Esmart
digital services segment are considered a discontinued operation in the
consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024, respectively.

Loss for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Company

Although the Group has achieved a gross profit of approximately
HK$15,911,000 during the year by making a proactive effort in developing
its businesses, the Group has recognised (i) loss on disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$40,658,000 (2024: Nil); (ii) net allowance for ECL
on trade and other receivables which is of non-cash nature of approximately
HK$32,503,000 (2024: approximately HK$27,767,000) and impairment
losses and written-off of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$2,481,000 (2024: approximately HK$173,000) which
is of non-cash nature, during the year. As a result, the Group recorded a
loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
of approximately HK$97,838,000 (2024: approximately HK$32,008,000),
representing an increase of approximately 3.1 times from the previous year.
The Group would like to emphasise that, were the one-off loss on disposal
of subsidiaries; net allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables and
impairment losses and written-off of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets excluded, the Group would have achieved a loss from operating
activities in the amount of approximately HK$18,595,000 for the year ended
31 March 2025, compared to a profit from operating activities of approximately
HK$4,549,000 for the previous year if calculated on the same basis.

Final Dividend
The Board did not recommend payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024 Nil).

EXLEERBZFHMEGIR
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group had net cash outflow from operating activities of approximately
HK$32,935,000 (2024: approximately HK$28,904,000), net cash inflow
from investing activities of approximately HK$64,000 (2024: approximately
HK$2,000) and net cash inflow from financing activities of approximately
HK$25,752,000 (2024: approximately HK$54,332,000). As at 31
March 2025, the Group had available cash and cash balances amounted
to approximately HK$18,541,000 (31 March 2024: approximately
HK$27,132,000) which are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

As at 31 March 2025, surplus on shareholders’ funds of the Group aggregately
amounted to approximately HK$50,071,000 (2024: approximately
HK$52,235,000). Net current assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$49,442,000 (2024: approximately HK$48,404,000). The Group's total
current assets and current liabilities were approximately HK$131,578,000
(2024: approximately HK$249,813,000) and HK$82,136,000 (2024:
approximately HK$201,409,000), respectively, while the current ratio was
approximately 1.6 times (2024: approximately 1.2 times). The Group's assets-
liabilities ratio (total liabilities to total assets) was approximately 0.6 times
(2024: approximately 0.8 times).

Capital Structure

On 15 September 2024, the Company and China Innovation Investment
Limited (stock code: 1217), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, entered into the subscription agreement pursuant
to which the Company agreed to issue, and China Innovation Investment
Limited agreed to subscribe for, an aggregate of 226,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each in the issued share capital of the Company at the
subscription price of HK$0.123 per share. The subscription price of HK$0.123
per subscription share represents a discount of approximately 12.14% to
the closing price of HK$0.14 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 13 September 2024, being the last full trading day of the shares on
the Stock Exchange immediately prior to the subscription agreement (the
“Subscription”).

The aggregate nominal value of the subscription shares is HK$22,600,000.
The actual net proceeds from the Subscription after deduction of related
expenses were approximately HK$27,789,000. The then Directors (except
Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong, Ms. Qin Jiali and Mr. Guo Wei but including all the then
independent non-executive Directors) considered that the Subscription will
provide additional funding for the Company’s business operation and will also
strengthen the capital base of the Company.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 15 September
2024, the then Board had originally intended to use 50% of net proceeds
for replenishing the working capital of the Group and the remaining for
developing the Group’s businesses. However, since the suspension of trading
of the shares of the Company on 2 December 2024 and in light of various
matters impacting the Company since then, including but not limited to
(i) the issuance of the resumption guidance by the Stock Exchange on 16
January 2025 (the “Resumption Guidance”); and (i) the removal of the
entire Board on 11 March 2025 and the appointment of the new Directors
since then, the Company had expected additional legal and professional
fees to be incurred for the purposes of (a) facilitating the compliance of the
Resumption Guidance, which involved the engagement of legal advisers to
advise on the Resumption Guidance and various professional advisers such
as the independent forensic accountant, Acclime Corporate Advisory (Hong
Kong) Limited, to conduct the forensic investigation and the internal control
consultant, SHINEWING Risk Services Limited, to conduct an internal control
review and follow-up review of the Company’s internal control system and
procedures; and (b) advising the Company on imminent operational and
business matters during the transitional period following the replacement of
the entire Board on 11 March 2025. Accordingly, the Company has changed
and re-allocated the use of net proceeds from the Subscription, such that
approximately HK$20.4 million, comprising approximately 73.6% of the net
proceeds of the Subscription, will be used as general working capital of the
Group, while approximately HK$7.4 million, comprising approximately 26.4%
of the net proceeds of the Subscription, will be used for the development
of the Group’s businesses. Set out below are the details of the originally
intended use of net proceeds, the revised allocation of the net proceeds and
the status of its utilisation up to the date of this annual report:

Originally
intended
allocation
of net
proceeds
s RIR
BHECREE
SERE
HK$’000
FET

R

J )
T

Working capital of the Group EEES 13,895

Developing the Group’s businesses BREANEEER 13,894

27,789
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FRAVEXRFFR-_Z_HEF—A+ B HEMIE
Sl (TEke$E5El)) s R ZREFERENR-_Z-HF
ZAt-BHERTIREBRZAFTES  REAQATE
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EAENEXERNBE AR STMe B £EME
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Amount Amount Expected
utilised unutilised timeline
as at the as at the for
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The re-allocation of the use of net proceeds from the Subscription allows
the Company to deploy its financial resources with more flexibility to enable
it to meet its financial commitments and is therefore in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole and will not have any material
adverse effect on the existing business and operations of the Group.

For further details of the Subscription, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 15 September 2024, the clarification announcement of
the Company dated 23 September 2024, the supplemental announcement
of the Company dated 23 September 2024, and the announcement of the
Company dated 25 September 2024.

Material Acquisition
The Group did not have any material acquisition for the year ended 31 March
2025.

Material Disposal
Save for the disposal of Admiral Glory Group disclosed in this annual report,

the Group did not have any material disposal for the year ended 31 March
2025.

Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitments

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the capital expenditures mainly
comprised property, plant and equipment which was approximately
HK$220,000 (2024: HK$2,000). These capital expenditures were funded by
internal cash flow from operating activities.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had capital commitments of approximately
HK$444,014,000 (2024: approximately HK$379,045,000) in respect of the
authorised and contracted capital contributions payable to subsidiaries.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group operates mainly in China and Hong Kong and a majority of
transactions conducted by the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
(“"HK$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group is exposed to limited foreign
exchange risk as most of the commercial transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency same as the functional currency of each entity of
the Group. Therefore, the Group will only be exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from the assets and liabilities which are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which it is related. The conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect
of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise. The Group does not have significant exposure
to foreign currency risk.
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Key Risk Factors and Uncertainties

The Group monitors the development of the industry on a regular basis and
timely assesses different types of risks in order to formulate proper strategies to
minimise the adverse impact on the Group.

Pledge of Assets of the Group
There was no pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2025 (2024: Nil).

Event after the Reporting Period
For details of the events after the reporting period, please refer to note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual report.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 38 employees (2024: 66) in
Hong Kong and the PRC. Notwithstanding the recruitment of additional staff
for the supply chain business segment in the first half of the financial year,
the Group’s total headcount recorded a decrease as at 31 March 2025 as
compared to last year. The decrease was resulted from senior management
transitions during the second half of the year, which led to: (i) a strategic shift
away from the licensed branded consumer goods business with a reduction in
headcount and (ii) workforce optimisation within the Group. All employees are
remunerated according to their performance, experience and the prevailing
industry practices. The Group also participates in retirement benefit schemes for
its staff in Hong Kong and the PRC.

During the year, no share options and share awards under the share option
scheme and share award scheme of the Company were granted to directors
and employees of the Group and other parties while the remaining 23,891,282
share options lapsed. As at 31 March 2025, no share options remained
outstanding.

Material Related Party Transactions
Details of material related party transactions of the Group as at 31 March
2025 are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements as set out

in this annual report.

Significant Investment

The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024: Nil).

Environmental Policies and Performance

For further information about the environmental policies and performance of the
Company for this financial year, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report published by the Company.
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Moving forward, Elife will remain committed to its business philosophy of “an
easier life and better livelihood” and its dual-pillar strategy of “Al + Digital
Assets.” The Company aims to redefine the value chain across the brand
lifecycle, improve operational efficiency and gross profit margins, and deliver
steady performance growth.

With respect to market expansion, the Company will focus on Greater China
region, refining its business structure and driving in-depth upgrades in brand
development and supply chain management to elevate market recognition and
brand reputation.

In terms of investment strategy, the Company intends to raise funds through
viable channels, focusing to strengthen brand supply chain management.
Additionally, the Company will expand its footprint across six major sectors of
“dining, housing, transportation, travel, shopping, and entertainment” through
a mix of self-operated ventures and acquisitions, fostering high-quality brand
growth.

With respect to risk management, the Company will further refine its internal
control and risk management systems to bolster resilience against external
uncertainties, ensuring stable and sustainable development.

(1) Brand Management
In view of the Group’s marketing resources and advantages in the
digitalisation and internet technologies field, the Group is able to provide
brand management services, which include strategy formulation, planning
and execution, brand incubation, investment in brand assets, enhancement
of brand and product image and market recognition in areas such as
innovation, intellectual property rights management, brand private domain
marketing, membership rights services, event planning and execution, etc.

(2) Brand Promotion

The Group is expanding its media advertising resources, targeting various
sources of screen such as face recognition screens in hotels, LCD screens
in elevators, in-room television screens, large screens in hotel lobbies,
restaurant/interactive screens, various screens in airports and high-speed
rail stations, as well as the “City Corridor” offline resources in various
major cities, to be developed as advertising resources and to carry out
advertising, brand display and experience activities, so as to enhance the
market reputation and influence of the brands.

(3) Brand Supply Chain
In view of the Group’s strength in nationwide supply chain resources and
its online and offline sales channels across hotels in China, the Group will
make use of its nationwide high-end hotels’ scenario-based channels, sales
spaces and online shops to facilitate the expansion of the brands’ sales

channels.
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Mr. ZHAO Zhenzhong, aged 41, was appointed as the executive Director,
Vice Chairman and Acting Chairman on 12 March 2025. He has more than 16
years of experience in marketing and brand operation in the hospitality industry
and loT smart products, focusing on user-centered brand value assessment
and channel construction. He has served as chief customer manager in TCL
Commercial Information Technology (Huizhou) Limited Liability Company, a
Fortune Global 500 company, from 2009 to 2016, mainly responsible for
channel development, channel management and channel operation. From
2016 to 2019, he joined Sichuan Zhongxuan Hi-Tech Co., Ltd. as a managing
director. From 2019 to 2023, he joined Chengdu Chengzutong New Retail
Technology Co., Ltd. as a managing director. Mr. Zhao obtained his bachelor
degree in education from Beijing Normal University in 2007. He is currently
pursuing his master’s degree in business administration from the Swiss Hotel
Management School.

Ms. QIN Jiali, aged 39, was appointed as an executive Director on 12
March 2025. She has extensive sales and management experience in the
software and hotel industries. She has served as the sales director of Nanning
Universal International Hotel, the head of the Guangzhou office of FeelEC
Technology Co., Ltd. and the vice president of Guangzhou Htrip Info Tech Inc..
Ms. Qin holds a college degree in tourism exhibition planning and management
awarded by the Guangxi Guilin Tourism College.

Mr. GUO Wei, aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director on 12
March 2025. He has more than 15 years of experience in brand promotion
and channel development. He has been involved in the construction of many
landmark building projects in different cities in China, and has established
long-term and stable cooperation with a number of enterprises, institutions,
universities and real estate companies, accumulating a wealth of resources in
the government and enterprises. He has rich experience in brand promotion,
channel development and management. From 2005 to 2008, he served as a
marketing director of Australia Clipsal (China) Co., Ltd. (which was acquired
by Schneider Electric). From 2008 to 2013, he served as a marketing director
of Leviton Electronic (ShenZhen) Co., Ltd. He joined Guangzhou Suber Electric
Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Mule Information Technology Co., Ltd. as managing
director during 2014 to 2016 and 2016 to 2023, respectively. Mr. Guo
obtained his bachelor degree in intelligence design in architecture from
Nanjing Normal University in 2007.

Ms. TAN Xin, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director on 11
March 2025. She has more than 19 years of experience in investment,
business administration and development. In 2023, Ms. Tan founded Suzhou
Gezhong Design Engineering Company Limited* (3 E MR TRABRAF),
a marketing and branding services provider. In 2019, she founded Shanghai
Xiaozhuiba E-commerce Company Llimited* (L& NEEEFEBERA G
), an e-commerce solution company. In 2017, she founded Shanghai Yiye
Printing Technology Company Limited* (/8B ENRIEHR AR A F), a printing
technology company, and in 2005, she co-founded Shanghai Xiyi Corporate
Image Planning Company Llimited* (/&&FZE MK EIFRADF]), a marketing
consultancy company specifying in developing and managing a company’s
brand identity. Ms. Tan served as chairlady and/or general manager at
these companies. Ms. Tan graduated with a bachelor degree in business
administration from East China University of Science and Technology in 2017.
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Mr. ZHANG Zhilin, aged 36, was appointed as an executive on 11 March
2025. He has more than 7 years of experience in business administration,
investment and project management. Mr. Zhang is currently the deputy
general manager of integrated services department of Zhuhai Letong New
Material Technology Company Llimited* (BRGZ@HMERHEBRAAF]), o
wholly owned subsidiary of Zhuhai Letong Chemical Co Ltd* (Bk/GT44E1(E
THMAEMRAR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 002319). From 2017 to 2020, Mr. Zhang was the vice president of
terminal supply chain and service department of Zhuhai Huifu Communication
Technology Company Limited* (508 & JHEEIE AR AFR]), responsible for the
development of hardware and supply chain management. Mr. Zhang graduated
with a bachelor degree in chemical engineering from South China University
of Technology in 2012, and obtained a master degree in chemical and

biomolecular engineering from John Hopkins University in 2014.

Mr. LIN Qiucheng, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 11 March 2025. Mr. Lin is an entrepreneur and has
over 30 years of experience in investment, business administration and
development. Between 2016 and July 2024, Mr. Lin was the head of operation
of Guangzhou Yushiwei Security Services Company Limited* (& /N £+ &R 2 AR
% ABR 2T, a company engaged in providing security services. Between 2005
and 2018, he was the chairman of Navigation Technology Company Limited*
(BN E/HkiliERAF), a company engaged in satellite technology
research and development. Mr. Lin graduated with a master degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University (Macau) in 2001
and obtained a master degree in business administration from South China
University of Technology in 2009.

Mr. WANG Anxin, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 11 March 2025. Mr. Wang is a practicing lawyer in the
PRC, he has over 24 years of experience in the legal profession. Mr. Wang is
currently a senior partner of Beijing Yida Law Firm. Mr. Wang graduated with
a bachelor degree in mathematics from Beijing Normal University in 1983, and
obtained a master degree in law from Jilin University Law School in 1998. Mr.
Wang obtained PRC lawyer qualification in 1991.

Mr. WU Kwok Choi, Chris, aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 March 2025. Mr. Wu has more than 20 years
of experience in accounting, finance and corporate governance in the PRC.
Mr. Wu currently serves as the general manager of the office of the executive
director at a Hong Kong-listed company, assisting in the management of its
Mainland China operations. From 2017 to 2024, he held positions as chief
financial officer and senior advisor at Quam Plus International Financial
Limited, a Hong Kong-listed company (stock code: 952). From 2012 to 2017,
he served as chief financial officer at Shenwan Hongyuan (H.K.) Limited, a
Hong Kong-listed company (stock code: 218). From 2008 to 2012, he held
positions as finance director, company secretary, and chief operating officer at
International Genius Company (formerly known as Rainbow Brothers Holdings
Limited), a Hong Kong-listed company (stock code: 33). Mr. Wu graduated with
a bachelor degree in business administration in accounting from Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 1995, and has been a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2006 and 2009 respectively.
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Ms. Chu Mei Yi, aged 33, was appointed as the company secretary on
12 September 2025. Ms. Chu is the Company Secretarial Manager of Bird
& Bird. She has extensive experience in delivering comprehensive company
secretarial services to listed companies across a diverse range of industries,
including property development, property management, financial services,
and e-commerce. Ms. Chu has held positions at international law firms and
prominent corporate service providers. She also previously served as a
Company Secretarial Officer at Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 388). Ms. Chu obtained
a Bachelor of Laws from University of London and a Bachelor of Business
Administration in Accounting from Hong Kong Metropolitan University. She is
an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.
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The Company had applied the principles and all the applicable code provisions
(the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out under the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the year.
The Directors will periodically review the Company’s corporate governance
policies and will propose any amendment, if necessary, to ensure compliance
with the Code Provisions from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company had complied with all
the applicable Code Provisions of the CG Code, except for the following Code
Provisions as explained below:

Code Provisions C.2.1 to C.2.9 of the CG Code stipulate that (i) the roles
of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual and (ii) the division of
responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established. Before the appointment of Mr. Xiang
Xin on 1 October 2024, the position of the Chairman of the Board has been
vacant. After Mr. Xiang Xin has been removed on 11 March 2025, Mr. Zhao
Zhenzhong has been appointed as the vice chairman and acting chairman on
12 March 2025. Currently, Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong, being the vice chairman and
acting chairman, performs the responsibilities of the Chairman of the Board,
and with the assistance of the senior management, the executive Directors

continue to monitor the businesses and operations of the Group.
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The Board (including independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)")) is
collectively responsible to all Shareholders for leading and overseeing the
Group’s business, and is in charge of operation and decision making. The
Board is mainly responsible for formulating the business strategies, objectives,
policies and plans of the Company, and monitoring the execution of the
Company's strategies. It is also responsible for overseeing and controlling
the operational and financial performance of the Company and establishing
appropriate risk management policies and procedures in order to ensure that
the strategic objectives of the Group are materialised. In addition, the Board
is also responsible for improving the corporate governance structure and
enhancing communications with the Shareholders.

The INEDs are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting
of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations. The INEDs will
also be able to provide an impartial, external opinion to protect the interests of

the Shareholders.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of eight Directors,
including five executive Directors and three INEDs. One INED has the relevant
accounting and related financial management expertise as required by the
Listing Rules. The names of the Directors by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (Vice Chairman and Acting Chairman)
(removed on 11 March 2025 and appointed as vice chairman,
acting chairman and executive Director on 12 March 2025)
Mr. Zhang Zhilin (appointed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Guo Wei (re-designated as non-executive Director on 29 November 2024,
removed on 11 March 2025 and appointed as executive Director on
12 March 2025)
Ms. Qin Jiali {removed on 11 March 2025 and
re-appointed as executive Director on 12 March 2025)
Ms. Tan Xin (appointed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Xiang Xin (Chairman) (appointed on 1 October 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Qiu Bin (Vice Chairman) (appointed on 1 October 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Chan Wai Cheong (appointed on 24 December 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
Ms. Chen Xingiong (appointed on 1 October 2024 as non-executive Director,
re-designated as executive Director on 24 December 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) (re-designated as non-executive

Director on 29 November 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025)

Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (re-designated as non-executive Director on

29 November 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lin Qiucheng (appointed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Wang Anxin (appointed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (appointed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (retired on 30 September 2024)
Mr. Lam Williamson (removed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (retired on 30 September 2024)
Mr. Wong Tsz Fung (appointed on 30 September 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (appointed on 30 September 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Chou Chiu Ho (appointed on 24 December 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Cho Ka Wing (appointed on 24 December 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
Ms. Chan Lok Yin (appointed on 24 December 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)
Mr. Ma Kin Ling (appointed on 24 December 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)

The biographical information of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors & Senior Management Profiles” in this annual report.

According to the announcement of the Company dated 5 March 2025, Mr.
Chen Xiaodong, Mr. Lee Tsung Ta, Mr. Zhou Deyin and Ms. Yang Qiong were
appointed as Directors with effect from 5 March 2025. However, according
to legal advice obtained by the Company, there is no evidence to support that
the appointments of Mr. Chen Xiaodong, Mr. Lee Tsung Ta, Mr. Zhou Deyin
and Ms. Yang Qiong as Directors have been duly authorised and approved
by the Company and took effect under Cayman Islands law as (i) there was no
relevant resolutions of directors or resolutions of shareholders approving these
appointments in accordance with the articles of associations of the Company
(the “Articles”); (ii) these persons had not provided any documents to the
Company indicating their consent to act as Directors; and (iii) these purported
appointments were not recorded in the register of directors of the Company. As
such, Mr. Chen Xiaodong, Mr. Lee Tsung Ta, Mr. Zhou Deyin and Ms. Yang
Qiong were not included as Directors in this annual report.
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Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed as
executive Director on 12 March 2025), Ms. Qin Jiali (removed on 11 March
2025 and re-appointed as executive Director on 12 March 2025), Mr.
Guo Wei (re-designated as non-executive Director on 29 November 2024,
removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed as executive Director on 12
March 2025), Ms. Tan Xin (appointed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Zhang Zhilin
(appointed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Lin Qiucheng (appointed on 11 March
2025), Mr. Wang Anxin (appointed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Wu Kwok Choi,
Chris (appointed on 11 March 2025) had obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 11 March 2025 and each of them has
confirmed that he/she understood his/her obligations as a Director.

Mr. Wong Tsz Fung (appointed on 30 September 2024 and removed on 11
March 2025) and Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (appointed on 30 September
2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) had obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 13 September 2024. Mr. Xiang Xin
(appointed on 1 October 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Qiu
Bin (appointed on 1 October 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) and Ms.
Chen Xingiong (appointed on 1 October 2024 and removed on 11 March
2025) had obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 30 September 2024 and each of them has confirmed that he/she
understood his/her obligations as a Director.

As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further
details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025)
and no records or information relating to the training records of the below
former Directors were available, the Company is unable to disclose the date
that each of the below former Directors, namely Mr. Chan Wai Cheong, Mr.
Chou Chiu Ho, Mr. Cho Ka Wing, Ms. Chan Lok Yin and Mr. Ma Kin Ling,
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules.

L?JE¢5E$(EA_7_£$ =H1+—A#EE ER=

THFZATAEEEIRBTESE)  EEE
ti(/%‘_;:_'ﬁfﬁ =H+—A#ESR WHR-—FE-FH
F=ZF+AEBEFZERBHATESE) ~ BELE (K
CECMFEf A+ AAFEEHHTEE  R=-F
Z—HE=ZF1+—AKER UR-F-ZRE=F+=
AEEHFZIEHTESE) BRLET(R=—F-AF
ZAt+—HEZMF) REFREER-ZFE-FZF=A
T—AEZF) MBEEE (R=ZF-—FZF=F+—
AEZF) TR2O0EE (R=ZF-HZF=F+—H%
ZF)RMEAA RE (RZFE-FFE=F+—AEZ(T)
ER-ZE-_HEF=A+—AEE LHRAIZEI.00DK
iz 2EZER  YESERAPEEERESZE
£ o

BEYBEE (R-ZFE-ZOFARA=+HEZF - jf]z“‘
TECRFZAt - AHER)RBUMELE (K=
THAFANA=TAEEZF  ER-ZFZLF= ﬁ+—
A#EZ)CN-ZE_MFNAT=AMELHRAE
3.09DMRFTil 2 ERBR - UKL (R=ZFEZHF+
A—HEZEMF ZR-FB-BF=ZFA+—HKEL) -
Bt (R-FE-ZmF+A-—HEZF IR-F
THFZAt-AKER) RRRERZL (R-F-Q
FTA-—AEZERBHHTES jf]f"—;:—'ﬁfﬁ—
At— Eﬂ%’é‘f"ﬁ)af"—;—winﬁ T HEE
HAEI.0DIRAM 2 EEER IE%QﬁEW\EHEI
EVE}%%%Z;E"

HAMESEN -_Z-AF=A+-HR2BER (B
Eﬁ?ﬁ SHBEFSHALAEMA-ZE-AF=A+—

ofe)  BREZBBUTHESZIZILHERE
ﬂ E&ZIS’RTE&HS‘Z:%EIJ%%I?%/E;E £ BRAL
£ OERKAELE REKRZIREREEESEARA
HEUS LR RIS 09D 2 EEER -

Annual Report 2025 F % - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % it 45 Fit 2 #]

22



Corporate Governance Report
TERERWMSE

The Board has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity which
are relevant to the Company’s strategy, governance and business and supports
its efficiency and effectiveness. The Board’s composition as at the date of this
report under diversified perspectives is summarised as follows:

Education background (highest level)
BEER (BSEE)

Designation

EZSARBEELA R BRRRZ M mZE
R KBRS IMERDT KR EENREKE
BB YRSEFEZHERME - RAREAH
EESEZAARAT ZHEARBREMLMNT

Postgraduate degree 3 Directors, Bachelor 4 Directors, Other 1 Director

REBMU-3BRES BLBU 4585 Hil - 18ES

5 executive Directors, 3 INEDs

Bfz SEHVTES IEBHINFHTES

Gender

Age group (years old)
Fieln (F5r)

Directorship with the Company (years of service)

REQAFZESWIE REFE) SEES(DRI0F)

The Board has already achieved gender diversity by the appointment of at
least one female Director during the year. To develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity, the Company has adopted
relevant hiring policies for considering candidates of senior management
positions which would take into account diversity perspectives including gender
diversity.

As at 31 March 2025, the percentage of male and female in the workforce
(including senior management) is 47% and 53%, respectively. The Company's
workforce (including its senior management) has achieved gender diversity.
The Company will continue to take into account diversity perspectives including
gender diversity in its future hiring to maintain gender diversity across its
workforce (including senior management).

Each of the executive Directors has respectively entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years but is subject to
retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.

Each of the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of three years but is subject to retirement by rotation and is
eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships with other members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the current INEDs about
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and considers each of them
to be independent.

6 male Directors vs 2 female Directors

MhH S EBMESH2ELMES

6 (between 30 and 50); 1 (between 51 and 60); 1 (between 61 and 70)
6% (30Z508%) ; 1A (51F608%) ; 18 (61&705%)

8 Directors (Less than 10 years)

EZSCRAFEAGEL — B MES  EXM
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(BRESAEEE) EmLEEEMRZ R - AAF
SEERBERFIEEZESEMENZTEERZ
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2RI Z T o
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The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input
from any Director are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and
effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed
annually by the Board, through its Nomination Committee, to ensure their
effectiveness:

(i)  formal and informal communication channels have been established
whereby INEDs can express their views in an open and candid manner,
and in a confidential manner, should circumstances require; and

(i) the Nomination Committee and the Board will focus on assessing factors
such as the independence and time commitment of candidates to ensure
that the Board receives independent and professional advice and
recommendations from the relevant INEDs in the course of daily operation
of the Board.

The Board, as led by the Vice Chairman and Acting Chairman, Mr. Zhao
Zhenzhong, is responsible for the establishment of the Group’s overall
strategies, operating and financial policies, approval of annual budgets and
business plans, evaluation of the performance of the Company’s business, and
oversight of the management team. The management team is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group under the supervision of the executive
Directors.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of
the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company, the Company's constitutional documents and the Guides on Directors’
Duties issued by the Companies Registry to each newly appointed Director
to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Company Secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials, and the legal advisers
of the Company prepare and provide the Directors with detailed interpretations
and analysis on the revised contents for them to understand the latest
developments in a timely and accurate manner and to perform their duties in
accordance with relevant laws and regulatory requirements.
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During the year, Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (removed on 11 March 2025 and
re-appointed as executive Director on 12 March 2025), Ms. Qin Jiali (removed
on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed as executive Director on 12 March
2025), Mr. Guo Wei (re-designated as non-executive Director on 29 November
2024, removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed as executive Director
on 12 March 2025), Ms. Tan Xin (appointed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Zhang
Zhilin (appointed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Lin Qiucheng (appointed on 11
March 2025), Mr. Wang Anxin (appointed on 11 March 2025, Mr. Wu
Kwok Choi, Chris (appointed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Chiu Shui Keung (re-
designated as non-executive Director on 29 November 2024 and removed
on 11 March 2025), Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (re-designated as non-executive
Director on 29 November 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Cheng
Wing Keung, Raymond (retired on 30 September 2024), Mr. Lam Williamson
(removed on 11 March 2025), Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (retired on 30 September
2024) were provided with regular updates on the Group’s business and

operations.

As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further
details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025)
and no records or information relating to whether updates on the Group's
business and operations were provided to the below former Directors were
available, the Company is unable to disclose whether any updates on the
Group's business and operations were provided to each of the below former
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Tsz Fung, Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew, Mr. Xiang
Xin, Mr. Qiu Bin, Ms. Chen Xingiong, Mr. Chan Wai Cheong, Mr. Chou Chiu
Ho, Mr. Cho Ka Wing, Ms. Chan Lok Yin and Mr. Ma Kin Ling.
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (Vice Chairman and
Acting Chairman) (removed on 11 March
2025 and appointed as executive Director on
12 March 2025)

Mr. Zhang Zhilin (appointed on 11 March 2025)

Mr. Guo Wei (re-designated as non-executive
Director on 29 November 2024, removed on
11 March 2025 and appointed as executive
Director on 12 March 2025)

Ms. Qin Jiali (removed on 11 March 2025
and appointed as executive Director on
12 March 2025)

Ms. Tan Xin (appointed on 11 March 2025)

Mr. Xiang Xin (Chairman) (appointed on
1 October 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 1)

Mr. Qiu Bin (Vice Chairman) (appointed on
1 October 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 1)

Mr. Chan Wai Cheong (appointed on
24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 1)

Ms. Chen Xingiong (appointed on 1 October
2024 as non-executive Director, re-designated
as executive Director on 24 December 2024
and removed on 11 March 2025) (Note 1)

E=

RITES
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%)
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A#HER WR-_F-HF
ZAT-REZETBITE
%)
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THEFZATHEZES
BITEE)

BBzt (R=—ZF-mF=AH
+—HEZE)
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F+A-—HEZF WR=
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) (ftaE1)
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%) (Mit1)
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%) (Mat1)

Rzt (R=FE=-F+
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YR=-ZBE-ZFF=F+—H
wEER) (Mat1)

Attending seminars and/or reading materials
on legal and regulatory updates, corporate

governance, director’s duties and
responsibilities or group’s business
HEASER, BRFAEEMAEERETRHEH
LEER EERRRREUKEEBOMH

N/A T3E A

N/A T3E A

N/A T3E A

N/A T3E A
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Directors

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-designated as non-executive Director on
29 November 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 2)

Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (re-designated as
non-executive Director on 29 November 2024
and removed on 11 March 2025) (Note 2)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Lin Qiucheng (appointed on 11 March 2025)

Mr. Wang Anxin (appointed on 11 March 2025)

Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (appointed on
11 March 2025)

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (retired on
30 September 2024)

Mr. Lam Williamson (removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 2)

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen
(retired on 30 September 2024)

Mr. Wong Tsz Fung (appointed on
30 September 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)
(Note 1)

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (appointed on
30 September 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 1)

Mr. Chou Chiu Ho (appointed on
24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 1)

Mr. Cho Ka Wing (appointed on
24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 1)

Ms. Chan Lok Yin (appointed on
24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025) (Note 1)

Mr. Ma Kin Ling (appointed on 24 December
2024 and removed on 11 March 2025)
(Note 1)

Attending seminars and/or reading materials
on legal and regulatory updates, corporate
governance, director’s duties and
responsibilities or group’s business
HEASER, BRFAEEMAEERETRHEH

E= LEER EERRRREUKEEBOMH
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Notes:

(1

(2)

As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further
details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025)
and no records or information relating to the relevant former Director’s
attendance of seminars and/or reading materials on legal and regulatory
updates, corporate governance, director’s duties and responsibilities or
Group's business were available, the Company is unable to disclose whether
each of the relevant former Directors, namely Mr. Wong Tsz Fung, Mr. Moy
Yee Wo, Matthew, Mr. Xiang Xin, Mr. Qiu Bin, Ms. Chen Xingiong, Mr. Chan
Wai Cheong, Mr. Chou Chiu Ho, Mr. Cho Ka Wing, Ms. Chan Lok Yin, Mr.
Ma Kin Ling, had attended seminars and/or read materials on legal and
regulatory updates, corporate governance, director’s duties and responsibilities
or Group’s business.

As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further
details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025)
and no records or information relating to the relevant former Director’s
attendance of seminars and/or reading materials on legal and regulatory
updates, corporate governance, director’s duties and responsibilities or
Group's business for the period from 1 October 2024 to 11 March 2025 were
available, the Company is unable to disclose whether each of the relevant
former Directors, namely Mr. Chiu Sui Keung, Mr. Zhang Shaoyan and Mr.
Lam Williamson, had attended seminars and/or read materials on legal and
regulatory updates, corporate governance, director’s duties and responsibilities
or Group’s business for the period from 1 October 2024 to 11 March 2025.

Wit :

(1)

(2)
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At no time during the year and up to the date of this report, were there any
permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the
Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or an associated
company (if made by the Company).

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover the certain

legal actions brought against its Directors and officers.

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held by
separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective segregation of
duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to- day management
of the Group's businesses.

The Chairman leads the Board and oversees the functioning of the Board
to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and conducted effectively. The
Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval of the agenda prepared by
the Company Secretary for each Board meeting, and taking into account, where
appropriate, matters proposed by members of the Board and including them in
the agendas. Full agenda and relevant documents will be sent to the Directors
in a timely manner prior to the Board meetings. With the support of other
executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and
receive sufficient and reliable information in a timely manner before the Board
meetings. The Chairman also actively encourages Directors to engage in the
Board’s affairs and make contribution to the Board’s decisions.

The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and actively encourages Directors
to voice their opinion and be fully engaged in the Board's affairs so as to
contribute to the Board’s effective functioning. The Board, under the leadership
of the Chairman, has adopted good corporate governance practices and
procedures and taken appropriate steps to promote effective communication
and ongoing engagement with Shareholders and other stakeholders, as outlined
later in this report.
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The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating and
financial policies of the Group and accountability to the Board for all the
Group's operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the management
team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent with the strategies
and objectives established by the Board. In addition, the Chief Executive Officer
ensures that the Company meets its funding requirements and closely monitors
the operating and financial results against the Company’s business plans and
budgets, and takes remedial actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer
is also responsible for the establishment and maintenance of an effective
management team to assist him in the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses. Mr. Heung Chin Wai and Mr. Cheung Kam Fai, who were both
purported to be appointed as co-chief executive officers of the Company on 5
March 2025 have been placed on administrative leave since 12 March 2025.
For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 12

March 2025.

Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong has been appointed as the vice chairman and acting
chairman on 12 March 2025. Currently, Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong, being the vice
chairman and acting chairman, performs the responsibilities of the Chairman
of the Board, and with the assistance of the senior management, the executive
Directors, will continue to monitor the businesses and operations of the Group.

The Board will collectively focus on the overall strategic planning and
development of the Group and effective functioning of the Board.

Regular Board meetings are usually scheduled at least 14 days in advance to
give all Directors an opportunity to attend in person and include matters in the
agenda. Four regular Board meetings had been held during the year ended
31 March 2025. Each of the Directors has full access to information of the
Company and has access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
in respect of compliance with board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations. Each of the Directors may also take independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance with the
approved procedures. The minutes of the Board are prepared and kept by the
Company Secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the members of the Board
or dissenting views expressed. Minutes of all Board meetings are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice upon request by any of
the Directors.

Where material conflict of interest arises, a physical Board meeting with the
attendance of the INEDs will be held and the conflicted Director(s) will abstain
from voting on the relevant resolutions.
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As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further
details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025)
and no records relating to the number of Board meetings held for the period
from 1 October 2024 to 11 March 2025 were available, the Company is
unable to disclose the number of Board meetings held for the period from 1

October 2024 to 11 March 2025.

The Board held 6 Board meetings for the period from 1 April 2024 to 30
September 2024 and 3 Board meetings for the period from 11 March 2025 to
31 March 2025 and convened three general meetings during the year ended
31 March 2025 and the attendance record of each member of the Board is set

HRAESEEN -_Z-AF=A+-HR2BER (B
BE-SHBEFSHLARAAARA-ZE-RF= )EH'—
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out below:

_//\Hxijtg RESERECHELHERIINT ¢

Attendance of
general meeting

Attendance of
Board meetings

EEgOMHERY BRAEHERH
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (Vice Chairman and Acting HRPEE (BIETERBEEIRE) (R=-F-QH
Chairman) (re-designated as non-executive Director on fr—"—+ A=t AABERHHTESE /7‘_
29 November 2024, removed on 11 March 2025 and THEF=AT—H#HERE WR-FZ
appointed as executive Director on 12 March 2025) fr—"— ATZHEZEFRBHTESE) 7/9 3/3
Mr. Zhang Zhilin (appointed on 11 March 2025) RERAER-ZF-LF=F1T—HEZF) 3/3 N/A TBR
Mr. Guo Wei (re-designated as non-executive Director ~ BRMEH % (R =F=WF+—H =+ HHFE
on 29 November 2024, removed on 11 March BHBTEE RZF_AF=F+—HA®%
2025 and appointed as executive Director on B WR-F_AF=ZA1+-HEZFH
12 March 2025) HITESE) 7/9 2/3
Ms. Qin Jiali (removed on 11 March 2025 and BBt (R=E-AF=ZF+—H#HE
appointed as executive Director on 12 March 2025) 2 UWR-IEZRAF=ZATHEZAEAH
TEE) 7/9 2/3
Ms. Tan Xin (appointed on 11 March 2025) BRLL (R-E-ZF=ZA+—-HEZE) 3/3 N/A TER
Mr. Xiang Xin (Chairman) (appointed on BOEE (ERE) (R=FE-AF+A—-HEZF
1 October 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) WR-ZFEZHF=ZF1—HHER) N/A FEH 0/1
Mr. Qiu Bin (Vice Chairman) (appointed on 1 October ~ ERXE %4 (BIERE) (R=FE=-WHE+HF— A%
2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) ZEF WR-EFEZHEF=ZF+—HHER) N/A FEH 1/1
Mr. Chan Wai Cheong (appointed on RBERE (R-FE-WFE+=-F=-+HAE
24 December 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) ZF TR -E-HEF=F1+— HHFKEZE) N/A FEH 0/1
Ms. Chen Xingiong (appointed on 1 October 2024 as BRRRBEZ+ (R=FE-WFE+HA—HEZEH
non-executive Director, re-designated as executive HHTEE R-B-mFE+=A=1+HH
Director on 24 December 2024 and removed on 11 FEBPTEE IR -F-_BF=F+—
March 2025) H#%ER) N/A TEH 0/1
Non-executive Directors FUTEE
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) HhEEE ((TRER) (R-ZZE-[F+—A
(re-designated as non-executive Director on 29 ZFNAHEBHHATEE IR —FE-HF=
November 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) A+—H#ES) 6/6 2/3
Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (re-designated as non-executive RBELE(R-BE-MF+—A=FAAHES
Director on 29 November 2024 and removed on 11 FHTEE UR—E-RF=F+—HREE)
March 2025) 6/6 2/3
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Attendance of
general meeting

Attendance of
Board meetings

EFEREHERY BREXEHERE
Independent non-executive Directors BUERTES
Mr. Lin Qiucheng (appointed on 11 March 2025) MU EE (R-E-FFE=ZF+—-AEZF) 3/3 N/A TER
Mr. Wang Anxin (appointed on 11 March 2025) IRVEE (R=E-FFE=ZF+—HEZHF) 3/3 N/A TER
Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris WE A EE (RZF-ZF=F1+—HEZ(E)

(appointed on 11 March 2025) 3/3 N/A TER
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (retired on 30 BXBEE(R-E-WESH=+HREF)

September 2024) 5/6 1/2
Mr. Lam Williamson (removed on 11 March 2025) WEEEE (R-E-ZE=FA+—-ARESL) 5/6 2/3
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen [retired on 30 September 2024)  &8BE% (R=F=-[FAH =+ HEE) 6/6 2/2
Mr. Wong Tsz Fung (appointed on 30 September 2024 &EFWg %4 (R=ZFE=MWEAA _+E’j§§/_{- 7

and removed on 11 March 2025) R-E-_RF=ZF+—HHE 1/1 0/1
Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (appointed on WUMEE (R-E-WEAA= +E?§§/I' 4

30 September 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) R=-ZE-RF=F+—-AH#E 0/1 0/1
Mr. Chou Chiu Ho (appointed on 24 December ARMEE (R-FE-WEFL+= ﬁ +EH#§

2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) R —E_RF=F+—HKE N/A TEH 0/1
Mr. Cho Ka Wing (appointed on 24 December EREAE(R=F-MEF+=ZA= +EH#§

2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) F UwR—E_RF=F+—HKE N/A TEH 1/1
Ms. Chan Lok Yin (appointed on 24 December M@Kt (R=—E-[{F+=F= +EH#§

2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) R —E_HF=F+—HKE N/A TEH 0/1
Mr. Ma Kin Ling (appointed on 24 December BEREXE(R-F-WE+=H= +EH#§

2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) F IR E-BF=A+—HKESE) N/A TEH 0/1

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Chairman has met with all INEDs
without the presence of the executive Directors. This has complied with the
relevant Code Provisions of the CG Code which required that the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the INEDs without the presence of
other directors.

Between scheduled meetings, senior management of the Group provides to
the Directors, on a regular basis, monthly updates and other information with
respect fo the performance and business activities of the Group. It enables the

Board to make informed assessment of financial and other decisions.

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company. In accordance with Article 87(1)
of the Articles, every Director (including those appointed for a specific term
or holding office as the Chairman) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.
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The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules on
the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025. After having made specific enquiry
to all current Directors, the Directors are of the opinion that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 March

2025.

As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further
details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025)
and no records or information relating to the former Director’s compliance
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 March
2025 were available, the Company is unable to disclose whether each of the
below former Directors, namely Mr. Chiu Sui Keung, Mr. Zhang Shaoyan, Mr.
Lam Williamson, Mr. Wong Tsz Fung, Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew, Mr. Xiang
Xin, Mr. Qiu Bin, Ms. Chen Xingiong, Mr. Chan Wai Cheong, Mr. Chou Chiu
Ho, Mr. Cho Ka Wing, Ms. Chan Lok Yin and Mr. Ma Kin Ling, has complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 March

2025.
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The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the Directors in

relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but

distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 69 to 73 of

this annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the

external auditors of the Company:

(i)

(ii)

Annual and Interim Reports and Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year which
gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at the year end and of the Group's profit or loss and cash flow
for the year then ended.

Accounting Policies

In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the Directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those new
and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements, have applied them consistently with previous financial periods.
Judgments and estimates have been made that are prudent and reasonable.

(iii) Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position
of the Group and enable the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

(iv) Safeguarding Assets

(v)

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the Company
and of the Group.
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As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board committees to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. A majority of the members of each of these committees are INEDs. Each
of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees is governed by its
respective terms of reference.

On 18 March 2002, the Board established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) which currently comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Wu Kwok
Choi, Chris with other two members Mr. Lin Qiucheng and Mr. Wang Anxin.

The Audit Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i Relationship with external auditors
e to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

® to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards; and

® to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

(i) Review of financial information
To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual
report and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements contained
in them.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
and risk management systems
®  to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

e  to discuss the internal control system and risk management system
with management to ensure that management has performed its duty
to have an effective internal control system; and

®  to consider major investigations findings on internal control and risk
management matters as delegated by the Board.

The Audit Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference which are publicly available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further
details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025) Eﬁ?ﬁ
and save for the minutes of the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 29 2 D)
November 2024, no records or information relating to the total number of Audit
Committee meetings held for the period from 1 October 2024 to 11 March
2025 were available, the Company is unable to disclose the total number of
Audit Committee meetings held for the period from 1 October 2024 to 11
March 2025.

EREEEN - E-_NFNA-—BE-Z-WEEN
B=Z+HHHEETTIAEE R-E-NF+—-A
ZHRBEFTTIREE  RR-Z-HF=A+—H
ECE-AFZAZ+-BHBYBETER -RE
REBEREZHFELHERINT ¢

The Audit Committee held 1 meeting for the period from 1 April 2024 to 30
September 2024, 1 meeting on 29 November 2024 and no meetings for the
period from 11 March 2025 to 31 March 2025 and the attendance record of

each member of the Audit Committee is set out below:

Attendance
of Audit
Committee
Meetings
ERTHRE
TRHERE
Independent non-executive Directors BIAFRITES

Mr. Lin Qiucheng (appointed on 11 March 2025) MW EE (R=ZEZFEFE=ZF+—HEZE) N/A T3 A
Mr. Wang Anxin (appointed on 11 March 2025) EFRORE (R=ZFE-ZZF=F+—HEZF) N/A TEA
Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (appointed on 11 March 2025) HELEE(R=ZB-ZLZF=ZA1+—-—HEZHF) N/A TEA

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (retired on BKRAEE (R=ZFEZMEA/=1HEME)

30 September 2024) 1/1
Mr. Lam Williamson (removed on 11 March 2025) MEERE(R=ZFE-HZF=A1+—HKEZR) 2/2
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (retired on 30 September 2024) BEREEE (R-ZBZWFEAA=+HREEF) 1/1
Mr. Wong Tsz Fung (appointed on 30 September 2024 and EE.?“&?EE (R=BEZMFEANA=+HEZF ER=

removed on 11 March 2025) ZEHEF=ZF1+—HHER) 0/1
Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (appointed on 30 September @U\%D‘ﬁ‘ﬁi (R=FBZEAA=+HEZFE  LR=

2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) ZEHEF=ZF1+—HHER) 1/1
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The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31
March 2025 is summarised below:

(i)

(ii)

On 14 July 2006,

Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group's external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2024.

representations with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated

It reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and

financial statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules.

Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems

The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group evaluated
its control environment and its risk assessment process, and the way in
which business and control risks were managed on an annual basis. It
made recommendations to the Board about the effectiveness of internal
control systems in the Group’s business operations. These controls and
systems allowed the Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial
position and to protect its assets.

the Board established a remuneration committee (the

“Remuneration Committee”) which currently comprises three INEDs and
one executive Director, chaired by Mr. Lin Qiucheng with other three members

Ms. Tan Xin, Mr. Wang Anxin and Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris.

The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management and establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
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(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages to
individual executive Directors and senior management;

(iii) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

(v) to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and otherwise fair and
not excessive;

(vi) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

(vii) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
is own remuneration;

(viii) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the group; and

(ix) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Group has adopted the remuneration policy for employees at all levels of
the Group with the following key principles:

- competitive with the market: market competitiveness is assessed by
benchmarking against a predetermined target market positioning for
comparable jobs, including base salary, allowances, bonus and retirement
benefits;

- differentiation of payment based on individual performance: all staff
will be given honest and comprehensive feedback on their performance
and how they are viewed by the Company their performance will be
assessed against these goals and how they measure up to the required
competencies for each role;

- bonus: the award of a bonus is made at the Company’s discretion,
which will vary depending on the Company’s financial performance and
individual performance;

- retirement benefit: all staff are offered the opportunity to participate in a
suitable pension scheme to provide for their retirement.

The Remuneration Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms
of reference which are publicly available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
adopted the model under Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) and the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management.
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As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further
details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025)
and no records or information relating to the number of Remuneration
Committee meetings held for the period from 1 October 2024 to 11 March
2025 were available, the Company is unable to disclose the number of
Remuneration Committee meetings held for the period from 1 October 2024 to

11 March 2025.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings for the period from 1 April
2024 to 30 September 2024 and no meetings for the period from 11 March
2025 to 31 March 2025 and the attendance record of each member of the

Remuneration Committee is set out below:
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B o

FHEEER-E-_NENAE-BE-ZT-NFNA
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Attendance of

Remuneration
Committee Meeting
Directors BEE FHZEREFRHRERE
Ms. Tan Xin (appointed on 11 March 2025) BR &t (RZFE-—AF=F+—HEZ) N/A Fi#E A
Mr. Lin Qiucheng (appointed on 11 March 2025] Mt (R=ZFE-HF=F+—HEZE) N/A TEA
Mr. Wang Anxin (appointed on 11 March 2025) EZi5%% (R=ZFE=HF=F+—HEZF) N/A TEA
Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (appointed on HE 7 it (R=FE-AF=F1T—HEZF) N/A i A
11 March 2025)
Mr. Lam Williamson (removed on 11 March 2025) M&E&E %L (R=ZFE-HF=F+—HFEEEE) 3/3
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (retired on BOKREE (RZBEZMFNA=+HREE) 3/3
30 September 2024)
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (re-designated as non-executive # g8 5% (R=ZFE-[E+—F =+ HFFEHEHTT 3/3
Director on 29 November 2024 and removed on EE » WR=—FE_HF=H+—HHEE)
11 March 2025)
Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (appointed on 30 WUNEE (RZBF-ZOFAA=Z+HEZF  LR=ZF N/A TEA
September 2024 and removed on 11 March —EFE=F1+—H#EER)
2025)
Mr. Qiu Bin (appointed on 1 October 2024 and  ER#%E%E (R=FE=-WFE+A—HEZF UR=-F=-F N/A i A
removed on 11 March 2025) F=F+—HFER)
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A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the

year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows:

- Assessed and reviewed the performance of Directors and senior

management in June 2024

- Determined the policy for the remuneration of the executive Directors and
senior management in June 2024

- Reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee

- Reviewed matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules
The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group by

band for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

#4851

Remuneration bands

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

Z£2%1,000,000% 7t

1,000,001 7t £2,000,000% 7T

FHEEEREE_T-_AF=A=+t-HLEFEE
TZITHEBIMT

- RIZZMNFAAFERBRNEERSRER
Bz®RE

- RIBE-MEAAEERBEITEERSRE
HBEZ#HMEER

- BRYHNEESScHEESEE

- ERLTRAFETLERTHEERMFEZEE
BE-_Z-AF=A=t-HLEFEFAEESRER
BzHMARNMT

Number of persons

IN

13
1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2
to the Listing Rules are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial

statements in this annual report, respectively.

On 14 July 2006, the Board established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) which currently comprises three INEDs and
two EDs, chaired by Mr. Wang Anxin with other four members Mr. Zhao
Zhenzhong, Mr. Zhang Zhilin, Mr. Lin Qiucheng and Mr. Wu Kwok Choi,
Chris.

The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review the structure, size, composition (including skills, knowledge
and experience) and diversity of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement

the Company’s corporate strategy;

BELTHRBMED2ARESTHEURE BB S H
FEBRERBECE-THBINBARRFREEY
BERMEEIOR -

RZZEZERFLATHR ESERIREEES
(REERE]) RAZFBIFITESRWEY
TEZAR FZU0ERERETRE MESKNERES
HWIRPEE  RERLLE - MYCHEERBET L -

REZEECIERHEERE
() ZLEFRHNESIORB AH AN (EF

e HBRERFE) REaL  AREFE
BEABXEMBNESSFHEHREER
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

EREARE

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship, having due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined below) and the nomination policy of the
Company;

to assess the independence of INEDs;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors;

to review the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any required changes to the Board for consideration
and approval, and monitor its implementation so as to ensure its
effectiveness, and make disclosure of its summary and the progress of its

implementation in the corporate governance report; and

to review the nomination policy for the Directors and to make disclosure
of the summary of nomination policy in the annual report of the Company
annually.

The Nomination Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of

reference which are publicly available on the websites of the Company and the

Stock Exchange.

As the former Board was removed entirely on 11 March 2025 (for further

details please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 March 2025)

and no records or information relating to the number of Nomination Committee
meetings held for the period from 1 October 2024 to 11 March 2025 were
available, the Company is unable to disclose the number of Nomination
Committee meetings held for the period from 1 October 2024 to 11 March
2025.
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The Nomination Committee held 4 meetings for the period from 1 April 2024
to 30 September 2024 and 1 meeting for the period from 11 March 2025 to
31 March 2025 and the attendance record of each member of the Nomination

Committee is set out below:

REZEEN-ZE-_NFNA—RBRE-Z-NFNA
SHHEBBTT4RERE  RRZZ-HEF=ZA+—
BEZZ-AF=ZA=Z+-HHHERTTIRERZ - %
REZESHEZHELHRIINT

Attendance of

Nomination

Committee Meeting

Directors = REZAGFRHEREY
Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (appointed on 12 March HWikRPAE (RZFE-HZF=A1T-_HEZHF)

2025) N/A TEHA
Mr. Zhang Zhilin (appointed on 11 March 2025) ®REFZREE (R=-—FE-—BF=F+—HEZF) 1/1
Mr. Lin Qiucheng (appointed on 11 March 2025) M EE (R—FE—BF=A+—HEZ) 1/1
Mr. Wang Anxin (appointed on 11 March 2025) E&ZULkhE(R-ZF-—HF=F+—HEZF) 1/1
Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris HEARE(R=ZE-ZAEFE=F+—HEZ)

(appointed on 11 March 2025) 1/1
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (retired on 30 BRKi&5%EE (R=ZFE-WEAN A=+ HREE)

September 2024) 4/4
Mr. Lam Williamson (removed on 11 March 2025) 28 %kE (R=—ZFE-FAF=F+— AHE 4/4
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (retired on 30 September BEEREE(R-EFE-_[HFEAA= 7"5}@{:?)

2024) 4/4
Mr. Wong Tsz Fung (appointed on 30 September & F I %4 (%:g:ﬂijzﬁ:—+59§%§§/f R E

2024 and removed on 11 March 2025) —HEF=ZA1—HRE N/A FiE A
Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (appointed on 30 WU EE (K= 7’—17_175572/7 THEZMFE ER-F

September 2024 and removed on 11 March THF=A1+—HA%EZR)

2025) N/A TEHA
Mr. Qiu Bin (appointed on 1 October 2024 and BB %4. (R-—F-WFE+ A —HEZF ER-_F_—7

removed on 11 March 2025) FZF+—HAHER) N/A i A

The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed the followings
during the year ended 31 March 2025: (1) the re-appointment of Mr. Zhao
Zhenzhong, Ms. Qin Jiali and Mr. Guo Wei following their removal from the
Board on 11 March 2025; (2) the prevailing structure, size and composition of
the Board; (3) the independence of the INEDs; and (4) nomination of Directors
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Nomination
Committee has made recommendations to the Board.

The Group has a long-established practice of a benchmarked approach
in determining the fees of our INEDs, which does not involve equity-based
remuneration and performance-related elements, with an aim to avoid leading
to bias in their decision-making and compromising their objectivity and
independence. The level of fees payable to INEDs is subject to Shareholders’

approval.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which aims to:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
Directors;

ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company; and

ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

Below are the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted

by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for

directorship.

Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in evaluating

and selecting candidates for directorships:

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s); and

any other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business
and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Directors’ Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination which are

pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Articles as detailed below.

(a) Appointment of Directors

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

the Nomination Committee identifies individual(s) suitably qualified
to become Board members, having due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined below) and the nomination policy of the
Company, and assesses the independence of the proposed INED(s)
as appropriate;

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board;

The Board considers the individual(s) recommended by the
Nomination Committee, having due regard to the Board Diversity
Policy (as defined below) and the nomination policy of the Company;

The Board confirms the appointment of the individual(s) as Director(s)
or recommends the individual(s) to stand for election at a general
meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board will be subject to re-election
by Shareholders at the next annual general meeting after initial
appointment in accordance with the Articles.

The Shareholders approve the election of individual(s), who stand(s)
for election at general meeting, as Director(s).

(b) Re-appointment of Directors

)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(%)

The Nomination Committee considers each retiring Director, having
due regard to the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) and the
nomination policy of the Company, and assesses the independence
of each retiring INED.

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board.
The Board considers each retiring Director recommended by the
Nomination Committee, having due regard to the Board Diversity

Policy and the nomination policy of the Company.

The Board recommends the retiring Directors to stand for re-election
at the annual general meeting in accordance with the Articles.

The Shareholders approve the re-election of Directors at the annual
general meeting.
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The Board has adopted a “board diversity policy” in relation to the nomination
and appointment of new Directors, which provides that the selection of Board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference
to the Company’s business model and specific needs, including but not limited
to gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when the
Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board. After assessing
the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company’s business,
the Nomination Committee confirmed that the existing Board was appropriately
structured and no change was required. The Nomination Committee reviews the
Board Diversity Policy annually.

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by the Board
pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by the Board, which
include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations. The systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.
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(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control

The relevant executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of written authorities with regard to key corporate
strategy and policy and contractual commitments. Such delegation
arrangement is regularly reviewed in order to ensure its effectiveness.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and
timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews and
audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial statements
is carried out in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable laws and
regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including ESG risks, the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of
risk upon directors and senior management.

During the year 31 March 2025, the Group has complied with Principle D.2
of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of
the risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risks
(including ESG risks) associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

(i) Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that
could affect the achievement of objectives;

(i) Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly; and

(iii) Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective communication
to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in for the year ended 31 March 2025,
no significant risk was identified.

(i) HEWzem
AARCRI-ETAEBEERERESF B
BRERZAMERS-

(i) MEBRER
HENTEEN SR EEECEECERKNEE
RUREHNABEFAERBERZEEMRTE -
WEREZHDERRT  UBRREITZEN -

(iif) TSR B A 95 o0 4R
ARACEYEEELRREF UBRE2E
"oRBLCESTREESR > U EHETH
KBS UBRREZRBREEEMZETTRE - K&
Bz 2R RE A 2 A R R A RS RE

(iv) SR B W b BB
AEECHITRERRAR (BERRE -HERE
BRI BB  SREARBRUEBARY
EEReREEB2MBLE -

BE-_Z-_AF=A=1+—HLEE AKECET
TEERTRED2MRRA  BEYUBERER AR
EENANEZERA EREEEEZERHE 2R
ERLEE MESSESEZEEEREANTHR
E-AREERAPEERGCETESERNTIEE
SHEH

BPEEE R
AEBRACARERRAGAEERRHEBREE
HEZER (BEBE HEREAER) - ZEAE
FEUTRE :

L

(i) @5 BAEMEE XEBREERTELEER
BHR2ER

(i) & IWRABzTEERPZE TELTER
BAE &

(i) B2 ZEAKREHER BREEZSSEXE
WIS EEER SR

RERBE-ZE-AF=A=1t-RALFEETZA
PRt il - WHEBREMEAER -

Annual Report 2025 F % - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % it 45 Fit 2 #]

46



Corporate Governance Report
TERERWMSE

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission
(the “COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group to achieve
objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The

components of the framework are shown as follows:

(ij  Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that

provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the Group;

(i) Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for

determining how risks should be managed;

(iii) Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to help
ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of

objectives are carried out;

(iv) Information and Communication: Internal and external communication to
provide the Group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day

controls; and

(v)  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each

components of internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and
to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy
and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to
time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of the relevant

disclosure requirements in relation to the Group, which include:

(i)  the access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve

confidentiality;

(i) confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into

significant negotiations; and

(iii) the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of the
Company when communicating with external parties such as the media,

analysts or investors.
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Whistleblowing Policy

In the meantime, the Company has established a whistleblowing policy, which
allows employees of the Group and those who deal with the Group (e.g. customers,
suppliers, creditors and debtors) to report to directly to the Audit Committee any
suspected impropriety, misconduct or malpractice within the Group.

The policy aims to provide reporting channels and guidance on reporting possible
improprieties and reassurance to whistleblowers of the protection that the Group
will extend to them in the formal system, including anonymity and legal protection
against unfair dismissal or victimisation for any genuine reports made.

The Group has engaged an external professional to carry out the internal audit
functions of the Group. The internal audit function is independent of the Group’s
daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal
control systems by conducting interviews, walk-throughs and tests of operating
effectiveness.

An internal audit plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems for
agreed review scope is conducted under rotation basis annually and the results
are reported to the Board via the Audit Committee afterwards.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these systems has
been conducted annually. Several areas have been considered during the
Board’s review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment;
and (ii) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks
and of the internal control systems. In addition, as one of the conditions of
the resumption guidance issued by the Stock Exchange to the Company on 16
January 2025, the Company should conduct an independent internal control
review and demonstrate that the Company has in place adequate internal
control and procedures to comply with the Listing Rules. The Board has engaged
SHINEWING Risk Services Limited as its internal control consultant with effect
from 25 April 2025 to conduct a review of the internal control systems and
procedures of the Group (the “Internal Control Review”) and to provide
recommendations and perform follow-up review (the “Follow-up Review”)
on the remedial measures implemented by the Company. As at the date of this
report, the Internal Control Review and Follow-up Review have been completed
and the Stock Exchange is in the course of reviewing and considering the
Internal Control Review report. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 18 November 2025 in relation to the key findings of the
Internal Control Review and the Follow-up Review.
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The Board, through its annual review and the review made by internal audit
function and the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems during the year ended 31 March 2025 were effective
and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience
of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit, and financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting provided

were sufficient.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) is currently appointed as the
external auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit services
to the Company. In order to maintain HLB's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds meetings
with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related fees, and to
approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by the Company
and related fees.

The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out
below:

Auditors’ remuneration BT &
— Audit services — BB
— Non-audit services —FERERE

RBEFECFEREURRNBDERRBEREXREZS
SRBEHERET  EREERABERRSGREEC
ZECAFZACZT-HUEFERBRRRED AW B
HARECEEMFERREEREBEE RS -
WERERGEEAERFBRERSEMFEL 2
RE -EBETRA HBEITFASRESZERR
BBCERRRREBAED  MALLRAZEE K
HELRPBREBEMER 2 IFIREE UK A
ERAZBE HEREARAREREB2EIR
BETBRE -

HESTMEBAARIE (EH) REZERER
B Z NI HE  MA DA RARBRIFRERE -

REX BRZESEAREEENEAFETERE
U wERB e ERGEURAFEER  WHEAR
RABRZFGCHBRE 2 MERBEUREEER -

BERUIBBRILEBRBE 2 MHERIASTEE (B
FHEEFTMEBAZHEES  BEREE 2 EMAH
B B EREENCEEABEZSAEER
ERZETMERA2BEARERD B2 EAHSE) 2
BRAMT :

HK$'000
FEx

700
180

880

The Board has accepted the recommendation from the Audit Committee on
appointment HLB as the external auditors of the Company for the year ending
31 March 2026 at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ESECEABRZEERNEERRBFASLRES
BEEIAARBE-E-A"EF=A=1+—HILEE
ZOBRHE 2 HEBREE -
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The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and
effective communication with Shareholders and potential investors. Therefore,
the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to
ensure the potential investors and the Shareholders receive accurate, clear
and comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the regulatory
publications such as publish financial statements, results announcements
and circulars, press release and news articles, general meetings and other
investment market communications such as roadshows and media interviews.

The primary platform for publication of all announcements and circulars made
by the Company in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements
is through a financial printer who maintains a site for the Company at
http://www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp2co=223 (English Version) and
www.capitalfp.com.hk/chi/index.jsp2co=223 (Chinese Version). In addition,
the Company also publishes all corporate correspondence on its website
http://www.elife.com.hk as an additional communication channel to the

Shareholders.

The Board maintains regular dialogues with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and
plans. The Directors and the members of various committees would attend and
answer questions raised at the annual general meeting of the Company. The
auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence. Separate
resolutions would be proposed at the general meeting on each substantially
separate issue.

The chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting a poll before putting a resolution to vote. The results
of the voting by poll would be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company respectively.

After taking into account that the Shareholders have multiple channels to
communicate their views as mentioned above as well as the steps taken by the
Board to solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders
during the year ended 31 March 2025 including but not limited to open
discussion with the Shareholders during the annual general meeting, the
Board's review of the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’
communication policy was found to be sound and adequate.
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Shareholders’ rights to requisite for and convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

According to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
not less than 10 per cent of the paid-up capital of the Company may by written
requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the Company
Secretary. The Board or the Company Secretary must proceed to convene
an EGM as soon as possible, within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition. The meeting shall be held not later than 2 months after the date of
deposit of the requisition. If the Board fails to convene the EGM as requisitioned
by the Shareholders within 21 days after the date of requisition was received,
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders’ rights of procedures for sending
enquiries to the Board and making proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders have the right to send their enquiries and concerns to the Board or
make proposals at the Shareholders’ meeting by addressing them to the Company
Secretary by mail at the Company’s correspondence address in Hong Kong
(6/F., The Annex, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Hong Kong) or by email to
the Company’s official email address (info@elife.com.hk). The Company Secretary
forwards all enquiries and proposals relating to ordinary business matters, such
as suggestions, inquiries and consumer complaints to the Board.

The Company Secretary is Mr. Ms. Chu Mei Yi (“Ms. Chu"), who is the
Company Secretarial Manager of Bird & Bird. Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong, an
executive Director, is the principal contact person of Ms. Chu in the Company.
The names of the Company Secretary during the financial year ended 31 March
2025 and as of the date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Chow Chi Fai (resigned on 26 November 2024)

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 26 November 2024 and resigned on 23
December 2024)

Ms. Tam Hang Yin (appointed on 8 January 2025 and resigned on 11 March
2025)

Mr. So Wing Chun (appointed on 12 March 2025 and resigned on 12
September 2025)

Ms. Chu Mei Yi (appointed on 12 September 2025)

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of Mr. Chow Chi
Fai, Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen, Ms. Tam Hang Yin and Mr. So Wing Chun has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

BRRERGBHABRRENXE (BREFHNX
gz
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The Company has adopted the amended and restated articles of association
of the Company by way of a special resolution passed on 29 September
2022 and effective on the same date, in order to, among other things, bring
the articles of association of the Company in line with the latest legal and
regulatory requirements including the core Shareholder protection standards set
out in Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules.

For details of the amended and restated articles of association of the Company,
please refer to the announcement and circular of the Company both dated 29
August 2022 respectively. There has been no change in the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025.
The constitutional documents of the Company are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, subject to the approval of
the Shareholders and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay
annual dividends to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations
environment is stable and there is no significant investment or commitment
made by the Group. The target annual dividend pay-out shall not exceed 30%
of the consolidated annual net profits (excluding extraordinary items, if any)
attributable to the Shareholders.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account,
among other things, the Group’s financial results, financial position, cash flow
situation, business conditions and strategies, expected future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of Shareholders,
any restrictions on payment of dividends and any other factors which the Board
may consider relevant. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
Articles and all applicable laws and regulations.
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The Board submits herewith its report and the audited financial statements of the

Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in the supply chain business for branded goods and
consumer products in the Greater China region. The Group’s core activities
encompass a comprehensive range of brand digitisation services, such as brand
management, brand promotion and brand supply chain, thereby establishing
an integrated industry chain. In addition, the Group also engages in the supply
chain, sales and marketing, and brand building of daily cleaning, anti-epidemic
and licensed branded consumer goods. The Group is currently expanding
our business to various consumer goods markets conforming to the Group's
business philosophy of “an easier life and better livelihood”, striving to provide
consumers with a more comfortable, convenient, environmentally friendly, and

healthier lifestyle experience.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual
report.

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 74 to 186.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2024: Nil)
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025 to the Shareholders. There is no
arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any

dividend.

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the
assets and liabilities of the Group:

EEEEURERECRERLFEABE-Z-0F
ZRAET-RALEFEZEERYBRE -
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RESULTS E ¥
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_Z-RAG=-A=-1+—BLFE
2025 2024
k-~ -5 —EINE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FTHET
Continuing operations FHRBERE
Revenue g 177,551 184,086
Cost of sales SHER AR (161,640) (152,226)
Gross profit ER 15,911 31,860
Other income HA A 432 997
Other losses, net HihEEFEE (98) (1)
Selling expenses HEMX (10,710) (4,211)
Other operating expenses Hit&EM% (24,130) (24,096)
Net allowance for expected credit losses on trade and BZREMERRECEREE
other receivables BEBETE (32,503) (27,767)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and #¥% - BMERREUREHAEEE
right-of-use assets ZEEEE (2,481) (173)
Loss from operating activities REEBEE (53,579) (23,391)
Finance costs EE= g% (335) (370)
Loss before tax R A& B (53,914) (23,761)
Taxation Hg (1,818) (5,193)
Loss for the year from continuing operations FHREERBZFFEGHR (55,732) (28,954)
Discontinued operation BHRIEBER
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AT ZEIE (40,658) -
Loss for the year from a discontinued operation, net of CRIEEEER AFERE 1K
income tax 8% (496) (1,954)
Loss for the year from discontinued operation ERIESEEB I AFEEEE (41,154) (1,954)
Loss for the year NEEEE (96,886) (30,908)
Other comprehensive expenses Htt2mEAX
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEEHM/ EERRZER
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair BAFEFARMEER RS
value through other comprehensive income R EEATFEED - (208)
Items that may be reclassified HETREHSE
subsequently to profit or loss: ERm2EE:
Exchange differences on translating BREBINCEEKZ
foreign operations ELELE (2,700) (920)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve HEBN%XBREHF D EZ T
upon disposal of a foreign operation RERE (603) -
Other comprehensive expenses F*EERMREAX
for the year (3,303) (1,128)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year TEEREMAXHE (100,189) (32,03¢)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION HMEBEREHEBE
2025 2024
“BIERF —EB_QNE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of BEENEARABREBEAZ
the Company rEEER
— from continuing operations - REFESEER (57,050) (31,038)
— from a discontinued operation —RBECKRIEREEK (40,788) (970)
(97,838) (32,008)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to BEAFERESZZ
non-controlling interests NEERF, (FB)
— from continuing operations —RABFEKSEER 1,318 2,084
— from a discontinued operation - RECKRIEESER (366) (984)
952 1,100
(96,886) (30,908)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to owners BERAAREBARZ
of the Company EHEMX AR
— from continuing operations —REABFESEER (60,155) (32,702)
— from a discontinued operation —RECDKRLEEEEK (41,189) (687)
(101,344) (33,389)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) attributable to BB R IFIERIER =
non-controlling interests 2EWE(BX)#%HE
— from continuing operations - REFERKEER 952 1,476
— from a discontinued operation - REERLEREXR 203 (123)
1,155 1,353
(100,189) (32,036)
Loss per share BERER
From continuing and discontinued operations FHEEEEBRORILREXER
- Basic and diluted —EXR#EE (7.9) cents{il (3.4) centsfll
From continuing operations HEREER
- Basic and diluted —EAREE (4.6) cents{il (3.3) centsfll
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2025
ZE_RFE
HK$’000
FHET

Assets and liabilities HEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,134
Current assets REEE 131,578
Current liabilities REBAE (82,136)
Non-current liabilities ERBER (505)
50,071

MERHBE (&)
As at 31 March

BR=RA=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021
—EmMFE 2= —E=Z —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 K$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET
5,846 4,512 8,481 15,212
249,813 73,638 92,863 108,340
(201,409) (38,923) (56,300) (35,171)
(2,015) (13,615) (1,659) (18,258)
52,235 25,612 43,385 70,123

Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024 are set out on pages 74 to 186 of the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share-based payment are set out in Notes 29 and
31 to the consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual report,
respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share-based payment as disclosed below and Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual report, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted as at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity as set out in this annual report,
respectively.
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As at 31 March 2025, the Company did not have reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands to members. No final
dividend has been proposed out of such reserves for the year (2024: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s largest and five largest
customers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 24.4% (2024:
approximately 22.1%) and approximately 64.8% (2024: approximately
78.7%) of the Group's total revenue, respectively. The Group's largest and five
largest suppliers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 29.4% (2024:
approximately: 23.1%) and approximately 67.6% (2024: approximately
80.9%) of the Group's purchases, respectively.

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholder owning more than 5% of the number of issued Shares, has any
interest in the Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

The Directors during the year and up fo the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Zhao Zhenzhong (Vice Chairman and Acting Chairman)
(Removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed on 12 March 2025)

Zhang Zhilin (Appointed on 11 March 2025)
Guo Wei (Re-designated as non-executive Director on 29 November 2024,
removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed on 12 March 2025)

Qin Jiali (Removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed on 12 March 2025)

Tan Xin (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Xiang Xin (Chairman) (Appointed on 1 October 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Qiu Bin (Vice Chairman) (Appointed on 1 October 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Chan Wai Cheong (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Chen Xingiong (Appointed as non-executive Director on 1 October 2024,
re-designated as executive Director on 24 December 2024 and removed
on 11 March 2025)

Non-executive Directors

Chiu Sui Keung (re-designated from executive Director to non-executive
Director on 29 November 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025)

Zhang Shaoyan (redesignation from executive Director to non-executive
Director on 29 November 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025)
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Lin Qiucheng (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Wang Anxin (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (Appointed on 11 March 2025)

Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (Retired on 30 September 2024)

Lam Williamson (Removed on 11 March 2025)

Wong Hoi Kuen (Retired on 30 September 2024)

Wong Tsz Fung (Appointed on 30 September 2024
and removed on 11 March 2025)

Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (Appointed on 30 September 2024 and
removed on 11 March 2025)

Chou Chiu Ho (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Cho Ka Wing (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Chan Lok Yin (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

Ma Kin Ling (Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on
11 March 2025)

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles, three newly appointed Directors,
appointed on 12 March 2025, namely Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong, Ms. Qin Jiali and Mr.
Guo Wei will retire and be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with Articles 87(1) and (2) of the Articles, two other Directors
will be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Details of the re-election of Directors will be disclosed in the circular of the
Company to be published in due course.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider each
of them to be independent.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 16 to 18 of this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of 3 years commencing from the date of the
employment and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party by giving
not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

All INEDs entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three years on 14 March 2025, which is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association, and may
be terminated by either party upon a three-month prior written notice.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION EFME
During the year, Directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the Directors FR EEHE (BRAEEAERESMINFTAL
and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the affairs of the AREMBARRSES 2RE)WT

Group, is as follow:

Basic MPF
Fees salaries  contributions Total
Name of director EEgR e BEfHe HESH®R &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET FET FTER TER
2025 ot~ Joy -2
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (Vice Chairman and  #iFHF A% (BIFERBEERE)

Acting Chairman)(Note 1) (BFEET) - 593 66 659
Mr. Zhang Zhilin (Note 2) RERLE (MEE2) 17 - - 17
Mr. Guo Wei (Note 3) D2 & (HIEF3) - 243 30 273
Ms. Qin Jiali (Note 1) EEBL L (FHEF) - 460 43 503
Ms. Tan Xin (Note 2) Rzt (MsE2) 17 - - 17
Mr. Xiang Xin (Note 5) [0 B 4 (HIEES) - - - -
Mr. Qiu Bin (Note 5) BB3R & (HIEES) - - - -
Mr. Chan Wai Cheong (Note 6) BB B L4 (M) - - - -
Ms. Chen Xingiong (Note 7) BRmEm e+ (HE7) - - - -
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Note 4) IR L L (MiEE4) - 1,547 12 1,559
Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (Note 4) RABE KL (HEE4) - 912 12 924
Independent non-executive directors BIUFHRITES
Mr. Lin Qiucheng (Note 2) MR % & (FFEE2) 17 - - 17
Mr. Wang Anxin (Note 2) FzO%E (HE2) 17 - - 17
Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (Note 2) HHE 7 LA (FEE2) 17 - - 17
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (Note 8) Bk 3 % 4 (fzF8) 90 - - 90
Mr. Lam Williamson (Note 9) MEEEE (KF9) 170 - - 170
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Note 8) B L L (HEE8) 90 - - 90
Mr. Wong Tsz Fung (Note 10) BFIEELE (FIEE10) - - - -
Mr. May Yee Wo, Matthew (Note 10) K UAF 4 (FFEE10) - - - -
Mr. Chou Chiu Ho (Note 6) AR (FiEEs) - - - -
Mr. Cho Ka Wing (Note 6) BEREEE (HE6) - - - -
Ms. Chan Lok Yin (Note 6) BR & 2+ (FiEF6) - - - -
Mr. Ma Kin Ling (Note 6) FRZELE (MEE6) - - - -

435 3,755 163 4,353
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Basic MPF
Fees salaries contributions Total
Name of director EEyeE e EX%e EREEARS A At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FERT THER TER
2024 —T-EF
Executive directors BiTES
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung HHREE
(Chief Executive Officer) (Note 4) (TEBH) (M5E4) - 1,350 18 1,368
Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (Chief Investment RREXALE(BEERERLE)
Officer) (Appointed on 1 July 2023) (Note 4) (R=FE==4#F+F— HEZF)
(Fftsx4) - 780 5 785
Ms. Qin Jiali BEEELZT
(Appointed on 1 July 2023) (Note 1) (R-E-_=ZFtHA—HEZHF)
(BfFET) - 180 - 180
Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong WP EE
(Appointed on 9 November 2023 (Note 1) (R=ZFE==#+—HFH AEZ(F)
(Bg=ET) - 95 - 95
Mr. Guo Wei HELE
[Appointed on 9 November 2023) (Note 3) (R=-ZF==f+—F N HAEZ(F)
(P#EE3) - 95 - 95
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin REWEE
(Retired on 29 September 2023) (R=BZ=ZFANA=+AHLEHE) - 1,800 - 1,800
Mr. Gao Feng Sl EE
(Retired on 29 September 2023) (RZFBZ=ZFAA=F+NHREF) - 780 9 789
Independent non-executive directors BILFRITEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (Note 8) %8k 5% 5% 4 (Kfz¥8) 135 - - 135
Mr. Lam Williamson (Note 9) M2 EEE (KF9) 135 - - 135
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Note 8) BB L (MHFE8) 135 - - 135
Dr. Lam Lee G. MEEEL
(Resigned on 7 February 2024) (R=EZWE= F+ HBF) 109 - - 109
514 5,080 32 5,626
(Note 1)  Removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed on 12 March 2025 (ff3%1) R-ZBE-RF=ZA+—-B#RE IN=Z=F
FZRT-HEEHNZHE
(Note 2)  Appointed on 11 March 2025 (Fff3E2) R-E-RE=ZRB+—BEZEHE
(Note 3) Re-designed as non-executive Director on 29 November 2024, removed (fEF3) R-BE-—_ME+—A=-t+HhARERIEHITE
on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed as executive Director on 12 March E RNZE-_RE=At+—H#ER TR=-=
2025) —HEZRAT-HEENZEERHTES
(Note 4) Re-designated as non-executive Director on 29 November 2024 and (fsF4) R-EBE-_NE+—B=-t+HhAREEEHITE
removed on 11 March 2025 B UR-ZZB-HEFZAT-BRER
(Note 5)  Appointed on 1 October 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025 (M5 RZZE-NE+A-—HEZE XR=-F=4
FZA+-HEER
(Note 6)  Appointed on 24 December 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025 (FffaF6) RZZ-_NE+-_A-+HNAHAEZME ER=
ZHEZAT-HHRERR
(Note 7)  Appointed as non-executive Director on 1 October 2024, re-designated (7)) RZZE-ZNE+A-—HEZE R-Z-0F
as executive Director on 24 December 2024 and removed on 11 March TZAZTNERERYTES  UR=-F=FH
2025 FZRT+—HHER
(Note 8) Retired on 30 September 2024 (f328) R-ZE-WFEAA=+HREE
(Note 9)  Removed on 11 March 2025 (FfzE9) R-E-RE=ZRB+—HHEER
(Note 10) Appointed on 30 September 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025 (MFEIOR=ZZBE-NFAA=Z+HEZRE TH=F=HA

FZRAT-HEER
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No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors has had any
direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed
of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or

leased to, any member of the Group during the year.

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2025, no Directors had any beneficial
interests (including interests or short positions) in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
which would be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in that section, or will be required,
pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Long positions in the Shares as at 31 March 2025

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

Interest in Shares/

Name of Directors Underlying Shares Capacity
EEER RER HRERRZESR g%

Zhao Zhenzhong Shares Beneficial owner
BT K BEREAA

Qin Jiali Shares Beneficial owner
EHE g EREEAA

Guo Wei Shares Beneficial owner
e i) BEREAA

AAT - HERQAHHEMHE 2 TR FRBRERT
VESHEYHERFEAESEEMYAREE
HEBARZAMEN BREABREREEN FRARE
ENEEER[AEEEARETAXEAREA - B
EFHESHEBA HEFHE2ENEE 2 EME

%‘Eo

BRTXREEN RZZE-HEFZA=+—H  #HE
ESRAQRAREETAHEAR (AEEBSRBE R
(EBHFRMAGH ] EXVRAET2ZHRE) 2BRD
HEROREFHEERER S RPERGEXVER G
B/RSAMAMNEARARARBI A (BERERSR
HERF2EBBRIBEFIRERER 2 BER K
B) RAREE S R ERPISE352F AR RGP
iz Z Mk A RE LW R B SR CIfT 8 2 R 2 <p Al
HERRARBXAzANERER (BEEERA
B) e

R-EB_AEF=ZA=+—BREHZHE
R A3 RABRBIAR D 2 47 A

Approximate
percentage of
issued ordinary
share capital of
the Company

Number of Shares/
Underlying Shares
held (after the
Share Consolidation)

Pk ARBHZHE HELFERT
(BERfHaHE) EEREZBHESLL
63,192,000 4.66%

51,672,000 3.81%

41,688,000 3.07%
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Save as disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements as set out
in this annual report, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company

or any other body corporate.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no share options were granted to
directors, employees and other parties while the remaining 23,891,282 share
options lapsed. As at 31 March 2025, no share options remained outstanding.

The Group did not recognise any equity-settled share-based payment during the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil) in relation to share options granted by
the Company.

On 27 June 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board resolved to terminate the
old share award scheme with immediate effect. Such termination shall not affect
the share awards granted by the Board under the old share award scheme.
On the same day, the Board has conditionally resolved to adopt the new share
award scheme (the “New Share Award Scheme”).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has not granted any
share awards or approved any purchase of shares by trustee under the New
Share Award Scheme (2024: nil). As at 31 March 2025, no shares were held
by any trustee under the New Share Award Scheme (2024: nil).

The Group did not recognise any equity-settled share-based payment during
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil). There was no unvested awarded
shares under the New Share Award Scheme as at 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

For further details, please refer to Note 31 to the consolidated financial

statements as set out in this annual report.

BRAFRABMEEPBRBRMEIAREEIN - K
DNE - HERADREEMME QR EFABER L
EZH BEEE  FEEAZBBRISHEUAT Z
FRABBARRAHIEMEMEABRZRONE
FMiGa e

ARBEREAE HBTERAFHRFTR 2GS
HRMEESD ©

REBE-Z-RF=A=+—-HLFE YEQRES
EEREMARHBRE  54523,891,282(0 B R &
KM -MR-ZB-HF=ZR=+—H0 AEBREEK
1THE -

AEERBE_ZE-_AF=ZRA=+—HLEFEREA
AREBRELREERIATMUEREEIL URD
XN ZHBE(ZT-NF &) -

REZEB-—tFAAZTEH(HRWBM]) EX23
REILEERDRBE - DEFEN - BEK LB
LEFECRBEERNEBAEARBZRORR - E
B EZSERGBRARAFTROEBDE S (HBG
St

RBE-Z-AF=ZA=Z+-HLFE XAALE
BREFBRORBDAARTEARDRBIAEZTEA

BEEARG(ZZ-NEFE &) R-FE-RHF=A
=t—B YEFAAIXARBEFRORBTIEE
B (ZZZWF : H)
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As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company were
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant fo Section 336 of the SFO:

REZZBZAFZA=Z+—H  BESHH > X272
BATRAS%E I £ 2 T ORI HN AR B REE S
R ERPIEIIMRAFE 2R BLTMA

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued

Number of ordinary share
Shares capital of the Company
Name of Shareholders interested  Nature of interests Capacity (Note 1)
EELFRBCRT
RAEERZ BERRFZBHEIL
BEEE &8 KRiPBE H#HEHHE L] (P&ET)
China Innovation Investment
Limited 226,000,000  Long positions Beneficial owner 16.66%
FERIFREERDT "E BEREAA
Chen Micoping 67,808,588  long positions Beneficial owner 5.00%
B ) BEREAA
Notes: W
1. The shareholding percentages are calculated based on the issued share capital 1. BROBSAILNDBRBERAAAR-_Z-_RF=A

of the Company as at 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors were not aware
of any other persons who had any interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or pursuant to section
336 of the SFO, which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company.

During the year, save for the service contracts of the Directors, the Company
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company.

None of the Directors or any entity connected with the Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party subsisting during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Certain related party transaction(s) as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements as set out in this annual report also constituted connected
transactions under the Listing Rules. Details of such connected transactions of
the Group during the year are set out below.

Guarantee in relation to the Loan Agreement
between Sino Talent Limited and Graceful Ocean
International Group Holding Limited

On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful Ocean International
Group Holding Limited (“Graceful Ocean”) as borrower and Mr. Ma Haike
(“Mr. Ma") as first guarantor whereby Sino Talent agreed to advance to
Graceful Ocean a term loan in the principal amount of HK$18 million (the
“Loan”) with interest accrued at the rate of 13% per annum. The parties
entered into five supplemental agreements to the Loan Agreement between April
2015 and June 2018 to, among other things, postpone the maturity date of
the Loan to 31 March 2019. On 24 June 2019, the parties and Mr. Gao Feng
(“Mr. Gao”), a former executive Director and the former vice-chairman of the
Board, entered into the sixth supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement
with the interest rate of 10% per annum, to further postpone the maturity
date of the Loan to 31 March 2020. Meanwhile, as an additional security
of the repayment obligations of the borrower under the Loan Agreement (as
supplemented by the six supplemental agreements), on 24 June 2019, Mr. Gao
entered into a second guarantee contract with Sino Talent and Graceful Ocean
whereby Mr. Gao agreed to act as the second guarantor and in the event and
only when Mr. Ma failed to or refused to fulfill its guarantee obligations as the
first guarantor, guarantee the due performance of Graceful Ocean in respect
of its repayment obligations under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by
the six supplemental agreements). On 12 June 2020, the parties and Mr.
Gao entered into the seventh supplemental agreement to further postpone
the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2021. On 23 April 2021, Mr.
Gao entered into a repayment agreement (the “Repayment Agreement”)
with Sino Talent to take up responsibilities to repay the outstanding balances
according to the repayment schedule on behalf of Graceful Ocean when Mr.
Ma failed to settle the Loan. The repayment schedule has been agreed and due
on 31 December 2022. The interest rate was changed to 5% per annum.

On 17 January 2023, Sino Talent entered into an amendment agreement (the
“Amendment Agreement”) to the Repayment Agreement with Mr. Gao to
further extend the final repayment date to 31 December 2023. The interest
rate remained at 5% per annum. Nevertheless, the Loan was not settled by Mr.
Gao by the due date of 31 December 2023. On 25 January 2024, Sino Talent
instructed its Hong Kong legal counsel to issue a formal demand letter to Mr.
Gao for the full repayment of the outstanding principal and accrued interest.
Despite repeated demands for payment, the amounts due under the Amendment
Agreement have not been seftled.

RAFHAHB2FEUBBRWEIOMNB & THE
ALREFRELTRUBREAERS - EELEE
RERETZHEERZ ZHBHRTX -

HESEARAFREEERSEZRERSR
RAFIMITIZERBB T ZIER

RZZE-WEAA+—H AQABFZ2EMNBLAH
BEEERLE ((HE]) EAERF) HEBEERE
EZERERLTE ((EEEE]) EFEEEH) REER
SE(BEE]) FAF—ERATLER DGR (8
RRE) Bt FEREASEHBRIREERNSES
18,000,000 T2 EMER (([HBER]  BERAR
13%:1 8 - RN AFEHENR-ZZ-—HEMNAZ=Z-N
FEANAHERERBRT LAMERGE  W(HPE
B EEZER AN E—_E—hE=ZA=+—H -
RZFB-AERNAZTEA  STHNHEATHTE
ERATESEE IR ELE((BEE]D (R
CEEAAZTABER) RERBBEIT LE DT
Wi BAEFTAEENRIO%  WE—FEEBEZER
ZEMAE-_Z-_TFE=FA=+—H- R EAHE
EFBTERERBGE (BEAOREHEFIBE) T2
BRETZEMER RZZ-hAEAAZ+MA -
SAERFEREEHREITVEZEREN Bt
SAEBEETEZERA TE(BREE)EELE
EARERBTEEAR —ERAZERSETZER
T ERESFEBREEBTHEARERGE (BAPER
WEAER) TeBEREEF -R-BE-Z2EXA+=
B BTN FESEETVELOH RIS UE—
SEEZERZIAYPAE—E=—F=A=+—H-
RIE-—SWNAZ+=0 SE+HEFEITIER
HE ((ERRE)  UNBSLEREBEZERZE
MBELER RESSEBRRBERFERREEER
EEEHCET BEREEREHERDTHIBA
BIE_—F+ZA=1t—H ARHAFEFE5% -

REZZBZ=ZH-A+tH HEESKETLEFH
Z(ETRR)  UE-SERRKENAPE-Z
TEFTZAZT—H  MIREFRFERRS% - BE
mit > SRERER=_ZB==ZF+=-A=+—B2H
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Guarantee in relation to the Loan Agreement
between Sino Talent Limited and Graceful Ocean
International Group Holding Limited (continued)

On 28 June 2024, Sino Talent issued a writ of summons at the High Court of
The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against Mr. Gao for claims of the
outstanding principal and accrued interest under the Amendment Agreement.

On 29 September 2024, Mr. Gao ceased to be a connected person of the
Company. On 13 November 2024, Mr. Gao filed a defence to this claim.

As at 31 March 2025, the total outstanding principal and the interest
accrued thereon was approximately HK$20,874,000 (2024: approximately
HK$20,581,000) and was included in other receivables. No repayment
was made during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately
$2,270,000).

On 26 June 2025, Mr. Gao filed a mediation certificate confirming his
agreement to pursue settlement discussions with Sino Talent for an amicable
resolution (the “Mediation”).

As of the date of this report, the Mediation is still ongoing. The Company will
issue further announcement(s) as and when there is update on the progress of
the Mediation.

On 9 November 2020, Smart Challenger Global Limited (“Smart
Challenger”), an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the procurement framework agreement (the “2020
Procurement Framework Agreement”) with Yangzhou Yiyuantang
Commodity Co., Ltd.* (BMNZEXBAMREBMR AT, previously known as
Yangzhou Yi Yuantang Daily Goods Co., Ltd.* (BMZEFEEARER2F))
(“Yangzhou Yi Yuantang”), pursuant to which Smart Challenger agreed
that Smart Challenger or its subsidiaries would procure and Yangzhou Yi
Yuantang would supply the daily cleaning and anti-epidemic products for a
term of two years and four months from 1 September 2020 to 31 December
2022 (both days inclusive). As Mr. Zhu Qian (“Mr. Zhu”) controlled more than
30% of the voting power in general meetings of Yangzhou Yi Yuantang, and
Mr. Zhu was also a substantial shareholder of Century Smart Group Limited
and Smart Challenger, both of which were non wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, Mr. Zhu was, therefore, a connected person of the Company,
and Yangzhou Yi Yuantang was an associate of Mr. Zhu and was, therefore,
a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level under the
Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the 2020 Procurement
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

As the 2020 Procurement Framework Agreement expired on 31 December
2022 and the Group intended to continue carrying out the existing
transactions under the 2020 Procurement Framework Agreement (i.e.
Yangzhou Yi Yuantang to supply the daily cleaning and anti-epidemic products
to Smart Challenger and its subsidiaries) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, Smart Challenger, Yangzhou Yi Yuantang and Mr. Zhu
entered into a renewal agreement on 9 January 2023, for a term of three
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 (the “2023 Procurement
Framework Agreement”). The transactions contemplated under the 2023
Procurement Framework Agreement also constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Set out below are annual caps and the actual transaction amount for
the transactions contemplated under the 2023 Procurement Framework
Agreement for the relevant periods:

1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023
—E-=%¥—R—HE

HR-ZZE-EFRBERBEECR -_ZE=--F+=A
Zt+—BER MAKERNREBER —REKBRE
HEBET_E_SERBERBRETZRERS
(BP 45 M 5 = R @ Smart Challengerk B A T FE
HABEREME) > 8Smart Challenger ~ M 5
BERRAEER-E-=ZF—-BNBITYBA=E==
F-A-BERE-ZE-HEF+-A=+—BLEARAHM=
FreEEHR (ZSZ=ZFHRBERGBHRD - BREL
TRA CEZFRBERBBRETRETZRS
THBRARBRZFEBERS

TREJI —Z-=FRBERBBRETERET IS
REBMBzZFELRREBRS SR

1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024
—ZE_ME—-A—HE

1 January 2025 to
31 December 2025
—E-H¥—RA—HE

+=B=+—H

RMB’000

AREFIT

Annual caps FEER 15,000
Actual transaction amount ERR 58 -

ZEImE -~ R 5
+=RA=+—H +=RA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETIT
20,000 25,000

NA i F NATE A

The INEDs have reviewed and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant
agreement governing such transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company’s auditor
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing the auditors’ findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules. The auditors of the Company confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions (i) have received the approval of the Board;
(i) were conducted in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (iii)
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the transactions; and (iv) have not exceeded the annual cap disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 9 January 2023.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWE

So far as the Directors were aware, none of the Directors or their associates
had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the business

of the Group.

Details of compliance with the CG Code are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 19 to 52 of this annual report.

Details of compliance with the Model Code by the Directors are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 52 of this annual report.

The Group may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of business. An announcement was made by
the Company on 22 April 2025 in respect of a notice of a legal proceeding.
Subject to this, the Directors confirm that, during the reporting period and
up to the date of this annual report, the Group had not been involved in
any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding against it or any of
the Directors that could have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial conditions or results of operations, and that to the knowledge
of the Directors, there is no pending or foreseeable litigation, arbitration
or administrative proceeding against the Group or any of the Directors that
could cause a material and adverse effect on the Group's business, financial
conditions or results of operations.

During the reporting period, the Group had complied with the laws in all
material respects, including the requirements under the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, SFO and the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for, among other things, the

disclosure of information and corporate governance.

RESHA ESRHEBEZALRERYREEEM
ERBRRTEBREMRTE 2 EBPEREAREL -
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HehXERBER -

EEETRETACHFERAFREIOEE2HZ
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Report of the Directors

EEZE®RE

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has

maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

Details of the composition of the Audit Committee and the major work
performed by the Audit Committee during the year are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 19 to 52 of this annual report.

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited shall be nominated for appointment as the auditors of
the Company for the year ending 31 March 2026 at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in the paragraph
headed “Event After the Reporting Period” in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Zhao Zhenzhong
Executive Director, Vice Chairman and Acting Chairman

Hong Kong
18 November 2025
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYXBEREE

B &t EH TR A E
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Elife Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 74 to 187, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountant (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

Key audit matter
AEFstEn

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables

EZREMERHNEZEREEEERE

Refer to Notes 4(iii), 5, 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

FE2HGAMIS|MRMELA(i) ~ 5 20821

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$80,030,000 and HK$13,610,000 respectively, net of
allowance for expected credit losses of approximately HK$42,160,000 and
HK$113,756,000 respectively.

RZZ-HAF=ZA=+—-H  EXEZEFEZREMEBRIEINLR
80,030,000 Tk13,610,000% T MKREHEFEEERBINNAR
42,160,000/ 7Tk 113,756,000/ 7T °

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of the
trade and other receivables and the sufficiency of provision for allowance for
expected credit losses based on information including credit profile of different
customers or debtors, ageing of the receivables to historical settlement records,
subsequent settlement status, expected timing and amount of realisation of
outstanding balances, and on-going trading relationships with the relevant
customers or debtors. Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ or debtors ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the allowance for
expected credit losses assessment.
EEECRBERERNES RAMBYRFE 2 TREMHRBREEBBERHE T
DHETEDRFNML  BHEENBETRAFEFRERAZGELRE B RAMER
MEHRE BEREELE  HEEERR AHSRAEBRERCREARESEHE -
UREFBEFIEBAZENFEEZIREBR - EEBTSETHEFRER
ANEBREBEBZEIBRYEZAEMEER - UMb AREEBHREBETMH
ZTEHEERERE -

We focused on this area due to the allowance for expected credit losses
assessment of trade and other receivables under expected credit losses model
involved the use of significant management judgements and estimates.
HMETE— P ERARNTRANCESEEATHES RAMBWTIRET ZHE
HEEFRBRIMIREEEHFLEERHE R -

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BEfimEstmmEEREEHTER

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on trade and other receivables
including but not limited to:

SHHEEENE S R HE B W KE T 2 BER
EMETZEFEEERRR

o Understanding the key controls that the Group
has implemented to manage and monitor
its credit risk and evaluating management’s
assessment process for allowance for expected
credit losses;

TR BEEREERERAFEERRAEKR
ZEBEGER  YHERERBEEFE
BB BRI

. Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing
profile of the receivables as at 31 March
2025 to the underlying financial records;
MEREHRAMBELBMEN S _H1F=A
=t - HZEWFREZRER

o Inquiring of management for the status
of each of the material trade and other
receivables past due as at year end and
corroborating explanations from management
with supporting evidence, such as performing
public search of credit profile of selected
customers or debtors, understanding ongoing
business relationship with the customers
based on trade records, checking historical
and subsequent settlement records and other
correspondence with the counterparty; and
MEREEHAREI REMBERRERFER2
BN - WRBEEE2HR > WBEAAH
RELSENRBEETFHAEHAZEERR -
RIBEZLBRTRETF 2 BNSERBER
BE REFFIEHACEENEREEL
BREMEXZHF 2BOXHERE &

J Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit losses provisioning methodology and
challenging the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking information,
used to determine the expected credit losses.
AEFAREERR2BBLEZRES - UK
BEENETHANCEEFERIAZRR 857
B RATEMER o

We found that the management judgment and
estimates used to assess the recoverability of the trade
and other receivables and determine the allowance for
expected credit losses on trade and other receivables
were to be supportable by available evidence.
BMBEBTGEE S R EMERRE 2 JRE TR EE
B RHMEWREZEREESRBEMAZEREE
HET R AT BERAEREXSF -
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the
“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other

Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’ s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in the independent auditors’
report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 18 November 2025
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

dated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2025 2024
- RS —EImE
Notes HKS$’000 HK$'000
My E TERT FHET
Continuing operations FEBER
Revenue Uk &5 6 177,551 184,086
Cost of sales SHE R AR (161,640) (152,226)
Gross profit EF 15,911 31,860
Other income Hapuwg A 7 432 997
Other losses, net Hings8F5 7 (98) (1)
Selling expenses SHERMX (10,710) (4,2171)
Other operating expenses Hitp & ERf % (24,130) (24,096)
Net allowance for expected credit losses on EZ R HMEWRREZEHES
trade and other receivables EiEREEE (32,503) (27,767)
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME BMERRBURERAEEE
equipment and right-of-use assets ZHERE (2,481) (173)
Loss from operating activities R EFEEE 8 (53,579) (23,391)
Finance costs SN 9 (335) (370)
Loss before tax MRBLAT R 18 (53,914) (23,761)
Taxation 418 12 (1,818) (5,193)
Loss for the year from continuing BREERBZTFEEBR
operations (55,732) (28,954)
Discontinued operation EHRILEEEY
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZER 15 (40,658) -
Loss for the year from a discontinued ERIEREER 2 AFERBE  HK
operation, net of income tax g 15 (496) (1,954)
Loss for the year from a discontinued ERIEREXEBAFERSE
operation (41,154) (1,954)
Loss for the year TEEBIR (96,886) (30,908)
Other comprehensive expenses Htt2@EMAX
Items that will not be reclassified to profitor TEEHH/EEEFZ2EE :
loss:
Change in fair value of financial assets at  BRAFEFAHMEZEWE 2
fair value through other comprehensive MEEERATELZD
income = (208)
ltems that may be reclassified HETWRENDE
subsequently to profit or loss: EE#H2EA
Exchange differences on translating BREBIMNEEERKZ
foreign operations EXEH (2,700) (920)
Reclassification of cumulative translation HEBIEBRBSEHSE
reserve upon disposal of a foreign Rt E#E
operation (603) -
Other comprehensive expenses FTEEHMREMAX
for the year (3,303) (1 ,128)
Total comprehensive expenses TEERHAXHAR
for the year (100,189) (32,036)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-"T-AF=A=+—HItEE

dated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HZ2HKz=E R

2025 2024
—BZEHE —EImE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
My £ TERT FHBT
Loss for the year atftributable to owners of BHEBRAQARHEBAAZ
the Company rEEBE
— from continuing operations -~ REFEKEEYR (57,050) (31,038)
— from a discontinued operation -~ RECRIEEEEYR (40,788) (970)
(97,838) (32,008)
Profit/(Loss) for the year atfributable to FEAFERES 2
non-controlling interests KEERF (BE)
— from continuing operations ~REFEKEER 1,318 2,084
— from a discontinued operation —-RECRLEEEER (366) (984)
952 1,100
(96,886) (30,908)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to  FERAATEFAZ
owners of the Company 2HEBAXEHE
— from continuing operations —REBESEEK (60,155) (32,702)
— from a discontinued operation - RECRLEREER (41,189) (687)
(101,344) (33,389)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) GENRFERER M
attributable to non-controlling interests W, (BsR) 8%
— from continuing operations —-REBESEXER 952 1,476
— from a discontinued operation - REDRLEREER 203 (123)
1,155 1,353
(100,189) (32,036)
Loss per share BREBR
From continuing and discontinued operations FEE LB RO RIEELETE
— Basic and diluted —EARR#E 14 (7.9) centsfil (3.4) centsiEAl
From continuing operations BREERS
— Basic and diluted —BEARAR#E 14 (4.6) centsfll (3.3) centsi#E Al

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

At 31 March 2025 A-Z-A%=A=+—H

2025 2024
—EZhE —EZNEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MIEE FET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE BERRE 16 1,134 2,793
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 - 3,053
1,134 5,846
Current assets mEBEE
Inventories =78 19 1,599 1,795
Trade receivables B S EWHE 20 80,030 167,046
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Re - BAREREMERIE 21 31,408 48,821
Cash and cash equivalents HENHRSZEER 22 18,541 27,132
131,578 244,794
Assets classified as held for sale PTHABFLHEZEE 32 - 5,019
Total current assets mEEERE 131,578 249,813
Less: Current liabilities W RE AR
Trade payables g ZEARE 24 51,014 129,278
Accrued liabilities and other payables EfeBEREMBESRE 25 17,728 23,320
Contract liabilities EHEE 26 5,861 5,970
Lease liabilities HEas 27 1,507 1,646
Amounts due to shareholders EARRRIE 28 837 881
Tax payables BB 5,189 6,382
82,136 167,477
Liabilities associated with assets classified as  BEoEARIEHECEE
held for sale BB aE 32 - 33,932
Total current liabilities mEBAERE 82,136 201,409
Net current assets mBEERE 49,442 48,404
Total assets less current liabilities BEHMERTDAR 50,576 54,250
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

& B B AR OR 3R

At 31 March 2025 RA-Z-RA%=A=+—H

2025 2024
—EZhE —EZNEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt 5 TFHET FHET

Less: Non-current liabilities wERBDAR
Lease liabilities HEERE 27 505 2,015
Net assets BERE 50,071 52,235

Capital and reserves B E R 6w

Share capital N 29 135,617 113,017
Reserves (R (85,077) 11,078
Equity attributable to owners of the Company &2 F#EH AEEE R 50,540 124,095
Non-controlling interests JEHERRiE D (469) (71,860)
Total equity gaRE 50,071 52,235

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 November REZB-HRF+-AT/\BRESSHERTETE

2025 and signed on its behalf by: WHATIHALTRKRES
Zhao Zhenzhong Zhang Zhilin
BiEH RER
Director, Vice Chairman and Acting Chairman Director
BEE  FIETEHREELE EE
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BERMT 2 B B ARG IS MR BB = — M ©
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LV N

Financial assets
at fair value

through other Share Non-
Share Share Exchange comprehensive  Accumulated options Other controlling Total
capital premium reserves  income reserve losses reserve reserve Sub-fotal interests equity
BAFERA
Ab2EkE ik
b KR ERRR CMBAEER RER  RRAER &G Nt fi2 fiaea

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
Tirn Tin Tirn Tin Tirn T Tin Tin Tin Tin

Note 30(o)
(Hi30p))

A1 Aol 2023 H=2zzEmE-- 5% s i By p0oe S (051 oes maY %560
(loss)/profit for the year KEE (BB) /57 - - - - [32,008) - - (32,008) 1,100 (30,908)
Other comprehensive fexpensel/ ~ KEEEHRE

income for fhe year (B /b - - [1327) (34) - - - [1,381) 253 [1,128)
Totol comprehensive KEERE(FR)/hE

[expensel/income for the year £y - - [1327) 54) 32,008 - - (33,389) 1,353 (32,036]
Share optons lapsed ERExy - - - - 130 2392) - - - :
Placement of shares (Note 29) RERR (H39) 33,116 7677 - - - - 40,793 - 40793
Transacion costs ofibutoblefo  BERBHELZXFAR

placement of shares - (1,49 - - - - - [1.49) - [1,49)
Rights ssue of shares (Note 29) % (K29) 463 15,750 - - - - - 20,382 - 20,382
Transacfion coss attributable fo BRFELZREHA

rights issue of shares - [1,026] - - - - - [1,026) - 1,02
At 31 March 2024 and H-B-mE=AZT-BR

1 Apiil 2024 CECRERA-H 113,017 363,962 5,497) (856) (339,404 3392 [10,519) 124,095 71,860) 52,035
(los|/profitfor the year KEE (B8) /&7 - - - - 97,838) - - (97,838) 952 (96,886)
Other comrrehensive lensel/  AEEEWRE

income for the year (F%)/hi - - (3,506) - - - 3,506) 203 3,303)
Totol comprehensive FEERE(ER)/UE

[expense]/income for the year 4g - - (3,506) - (97,838) - (101,344) 1,155 (100,189)
Subscripton of shares (Nole 29] B RH (K529) 22,600 5,198 - - - - 27,798 - 27,798
Transacfion coss attributable fo FEROFEL2REHA

subscription of shares - 9 - - - - - 9 - 9)
Share opfions lapsed BREXN - - - - 3,392 (3:392) - - - -
Disposal of subsidiories HEHEAR

Note 33) (33) - - - 856 2,24 - (3,080) - 70,236 70,236
At 31 March 2025 RIBZEEZAZ+-R 135,617 369,151 9,003) - (431,626) - (13,599) 50,540 (469) 50,07
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEM 2 EBAGS MM RERZ — 30 -
statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-RAF=A=1+—HILFE

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax
— Continuing operation
- discontinued operation

Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Interest income

Net exchange losses

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation on right-of-use assets

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets

Net allowance for expected credit losses on
trade and other receivables

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Operating (loss)/income before working

capital changes

Decrease in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables

Decrease/(increase) in deposits,
prepayments and other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables

(Decrease)/increase in accrued liabilities
and other payables

Increase in contract liabilities

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % & # B A B A ® - Annual Report 2025 4 #
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Notes
MIEE

16
17

16
17

2025
ot R
HK$’000

FERT

(53,914)

(41,154)

(95,068)

830
(314)

715
1,308

736
1,745

32,503

167

40,658

(16,719)
144
68,130

2,532
(78,730)

(5,506)

96

(30,053)

(2,862)

(32,915)

2024
—ECmEF
HK$'000
FHET

(23,761)
(1,954)

(25,715)

2,096
(920)

803
1,326
172

27,578

5,342
802
(161,505)

(16,353)
125,255

12,600
4,955

(28,904)

(28,904)



Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

2025 2024
k- e TS —EoMmE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt 5 TFHT FHET
Cash flows from investing activities BREHZRERE
Interest received 2WFIE 22 4
Net cash inflow in respect of the disposal of HENMBARZEESRAFE
subsidiaries 12 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BMEKRRK (220) (2)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERKRE < B
equipment 250 -
Net cash generated from BRAETHEEZCHEPRHE
investing activities 64 2
Cash flows from financing activities METBZRA&RE
Repayment of lease liabilities HEEBZEN (1,992) (2,000)
Repayments to shareholders, net e R RIE AR (45) (2,327)
Proceeds from placement of shares BERND 2 FABRE - 40,793
Transaction cost attributable to placing of HBAEEZRZHRA
shares - (1,490)
Proceeds from rights issue of shares Rz 8T8 - 20,382
Transaction cost attributable to rights issue RERDAMEEZRZ KA
of shares - (1,026)
Proceeds from subscription of shares RBRM 2 F1EFHA 27,798 -
Transaction cost attributable to subscription W\Eﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁgizx%ﬁﬁzﬁ
of shares (9) -
Net cash generated from financing MEETHEEZRSE
activities B8 25,752 54,332
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HeRBEFERHE
cash equivalents (D) BmeHE (7,099) 25,430
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FMZRERAESFEHER
of the year 27,132 2,283
Effect of exchange rate changes foreign BIMEBEBZEFEHZHE
operations (1,492) (505)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the FRZH & RREFEHRE
year 18,541 27,208
Analysis of balances of cash and cash Be&RASEFEHEBRE S
equivalents
Cash and bank balances RERWITHEER 18,541 27,132
Cash and bank balances reclassified EFNSEABELEEERZ
as assets held for sale BERIRITEHEER - 76
18,541 27,208

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Elife Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The registered office of the Company
is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at 6/F, The Annex, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour
Road, Hong Kong. The Directors consider that China Innovation Investment
Limited and Chen Miaoping are the substantial shareholders of the
Company.

The Group engages in the supply chain business for branded goods
and consumer products in the Greater China region, with core activities
in a comprehensive range of brand digitization services, such as
brand management, brand promotion and brand supply chain, thereby
establishing an integrated industry chain. In addition, the Group also
engages in the supply chain, sales and marketing, and brand building
of daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and licensed branded consumer goods.
The Group is currently expanding our business to various consumer goods
markets conforming to the Group’s business philosophy of “an easier
life and better livelihood”, striving to provide consumers with a more
comfortable, convenient, environmentally friendly, and healthier lifestyle
experience.

The principal activities, other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which
is the same as the functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

SEFERERABD(F2V)) ARHERS
HMRLZBERAR MEBROREBHERS
FERAB LM - RAGzEFMPEEMIUS
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands 2%
AA 2 T ELEEMBNVABTBBEEBEISRTERE
SHBOME -EESHPERIFTREFR AT RMK
PWIEABERABEERR -

FEERATPEHEREREERAREERD
HERXL EROEHEERRHERE -
HEEEE  RERERNREHERS KM
BEREEXE N AEERBKERABR
moBERARREBFREEER 2B mEERE
HE -EHEkmERR REAREBEZEHE
mmi% UREAKE[ZEE  EREI2KE
FR - BOREEERUETE BEE - FR
R-ERENEERER-

ETHEBRAR 2T EXBERAMFERNGESH
B|MRMTT8 - REVB|MKRLUBTES - M
(BT FARRB2HEEY  REHEH
S EBEINEETRL(TERT) -
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Notes t

A B A 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-T-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendment to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

the Consolidated Financial Statements

REFEBRHNERZIHITTEMGRE
EAEHENRRETE

RAFE  ARAFEUBHRER  FEEERE
RERSMLAS ((FEEMMLE ) BHG2T
IIEBMBRELENSHEAET A (REHT
EARETAR-Z-NFNA -ARBRZAE
EEEF LS Ol

ERMBHREER RERBEERRZH
F165% (BRI A) ZHEEE
BEETER BEZRBEFER
F15% (BRI ) BE DU RERE
zﬁiﬁ‘ﬁﬂ-ﬁ%&%ﬁ
(ZZ2ZZF) 1B
HEN
BEETER B RZARE 23
5158 (BRI AS) nEEE
BBEERE7RR HEBREZH
BBMHRELER
F75% BRI A)

RAFERAZSEBY B RS LS ERE
AN ESAEBRNAFERBEFE 2R
RRRER /IR GEPBRRAAZREER
ERERTE -

Annual Report 2025 F % - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % it 45 Fit 2 #]

82



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e S AR Y

at

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
have been issued but are not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instrument?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and amendments

to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

ERBERKRERZEEMBHREER
B ENBTE

REBWERFEEAUT S EMENRERZH
AEBUBREENSTERNREMBIA

BB R ELER REFEEBE QAR
BIORREBER BELXCHCEE
EREE285E (BRI A) HEZIE

BB R ELER MBETREzoERTE
FORREBMBIRE 2B
RS9 (BRT &)

BB R ELER BRMBREENET

S ER (BRI ) ER 2 FERE
—E115°
EERSTERE21 RSB
SCCHEN)
BB R ELER BBBRZ2IR
1858 g

! REEzZBEBR 2 BMB 2 FERBEN -

2 R-IZE-AFE-A-HIZRRBEZFEND
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 Lleases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair valve and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

BERENBRRCEREBETMOSTHEM 2
EBRUBREENEHENTMER - REREFS
BgHmEmMES  TREENREATECAENR
HREZERDIBRRBRERESR i REY
BRROEEBHEXZMERIAFSLTH
BTERRUMDREBQATKRIZERKER
o

UT AR EFEVBERREEAZERNESR
HE -BREEESBAN WEBRKERME2NZE
FEEREM -

(o) GEMBRRZIBHUEE

REDBRRDREBLEAEREE - HEH
TS BEMERE  REREHR &
THBIADELNTFENS -

BERA-—RERARBERRREMS
F2REZQAFE-

AVPEDETSSHEECHENERET
MEFXZPHE-BEEMBEIMHNER
FER-REERXTNER  BWZER
DEEBEMEH  RERAHMMAEERN
kst EH - EHEERBBE 2 A FERES
fhEtes  AEBEZERT HH2HEELTEA
RREENABETEERKBETR 2%
ERM - REESUBRRPAER KB
ZAPEDRLEEETE - HEEBHBRE
ERE2RURNDABER AR IEERZ
URDABERZNRRE - REBYBHRE
EHEIGHIHEIARZBERS UK
HEATEEACQENFQIPEZFE (FIME
BEHERNEZRFE IR 2 TR RFER
ERETEUEIGREEREIFT2EMR
BE) BRI -

REAFEHETRSMEERB 2 LOFE
RENEASRIATBERGABEZGER
MET B IAEMS  ARAERNET
DAIRZE » DA E R 2 4 RN 9] T RIS
HERRZER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if fact
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(a)

(b)

FREMBEBRZEREE (])

teoh > BB RREmM S AFEFERED
FEAEZHABTHERERAFEST
EvHABHHEBRE CEEMSEAE -
WERBE=R o HEBWT :
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(REHAE)

s HBIHWAENREEREBEER
Bt AR B AE (F-RABRE
ZREBRMN) R

s HZHBWAENEESEEZTITHR
E@AE-

FaREZEE

FREVBRREFBFADAREQXARE
MEAREN 2 BRHBRE - HAQE
BIR TS AT RE - BIAQ B HGEHIE

s HWRELEEAED

s AZHBEAEBHSHEPRESELEZ
AEORzABRRER K

o FHENTEAENUZEEDERE -

HEBRBERRPLAZEHZ=ZFEERN
H—ERZRHREH  AAREEERT
EHERBENRRET -

EARRNBESHE AR 2GR BBR
HHEEAR MEARIEREMNBELF
ZEEER  TBHAERASAR - AEM
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REBRANRAEAARFERERA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

()

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are
considered substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce with the
necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) except
for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provision,
Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies
in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in
a business combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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(c) RIS 6 (&)

(c) Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

®  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for lease for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; (b) the underlying asset is as
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity inferest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as
at acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value.
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(d) Subsidiaries

(e)

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company control another entity.

In the Company’s financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
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(e) RKEEFRAGHZWKA (i)

(e) Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is
a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an
agent). The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Revenue from brand promotion services

The Group recognises the revenue from brand promotion services at
a point in time as the Group satisfies the performance obligation by
transferring the promised service to its customer.

Revenue from the trading of commodities

Revenue from the trading of commodities directly to its customer. The
Group considers the revenue is recognised when the control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods have been delivered
to the customers and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. The customer has
accepted the products and the performance obligation is satisfied at
a point in time at which the products are delivered according to the
term of sales contract.
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(e) Revenue from contracts with customers

(f)

(continued)
Daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable
products business

The Group considers the revenue is recognised when the control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to the customers and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. The
customer has accepted the products and the performance obligation
is satisfied at a point in time at which the products are delivered
according to the term of sales contract.

Licensed branded consumer goods

The Group considers that revenue is recognised at a point in time
when control of the goods has been transferred. This occurs when
the goods have been delivered to the customer and there are no
unfulfilled obligations that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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()

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which is derived from the financial assets is presented as
other income.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
obijective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contfractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling the financial assets; and

e the contfractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(g9) MBI R (&)

Financial assets (continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost and
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income” line item in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(g9) MBI R (&)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalent) which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtor with
significant balances or collectively using a provision matrix with
debtors having similar credit ratings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 90 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 1 year past due. Unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is creditimpaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) @ breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(g9) MBIR (&)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical data and
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the
following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables
where the corresponding adjustments are recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve
is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated
losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accrued liabilities and
other payables, lease liabilities and amounts due to shareholders are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(h)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as non-
substantial modification when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities' original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted
to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification.

Leases

Definition of a lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contfract are subsequently changed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

(h) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the shortterm lease recognition exemption to
leases of office premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on shortterm leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

®  any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

(h) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments included:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual
value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

®  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option fo terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

(h) & (&)

FREEBFRBEA (#)
EAELE (F)

BAEERERARSSERERENMAR
HEEERAREZEREELEE  BRHAHY
RETEAFHERBEIRTE - £EM
BRT - EAREERESERAMLEAIRE
AFERRES (UBEERE) AIFE -

HREHERE

BNz REEEREDIRESTBYBR
EEREBEOFAR  WRAFEADSHE -
RAOSEAF 2 A TFEARREEIAE
AR AT AEREEEZBAE -

HEEE

REARBEY  FAEERZARNZHEE
ARRERARGEHEEE - RHAEHEE
NHRBRER  HHEFFRE 2FET 58
E - AIREEFERRBNRR AN ZBERf
ERRTHE -

HENRBE

e EBEEXHENR(BEREBEEMZEEN
) R A A FE W AR BB

e TAHBEMNK HERREHRKA
Z o YSHEREAMAEAHNZER
A=

e ABAENSKEEERETHEHEN
ZEH

e BEEERIHE(HMAKESER
EARTEZRERE) R

o RIBHNZHASAR (HHEHRRALE
BTEALLEAN ZRER) -

REAKBENE  HEEERAFIER
HENRELAE -

Annual Report 2025 F % - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % it 45 Fit 2 #]

102



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

(h) Leases (continued) (h) HE (#&)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Llease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

* a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease (see below for the accounting
policy for “lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liability as a separate line on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any incentive
receivables, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contain one or more additional lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component. The associated non-lease
components are included in the respective lease components.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBERRCEELUREXEH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BERHE (]

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

(i) Provisions (i) o8
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation HEARBARBARECSHRERAES
(legal or constructive) as a result of past events, it is probable that ECEEREE)  MAKERUEEARET
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable ZEME ULAREESHEELTEMME
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. EERUEFTREE -
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the BRARBEZEEARBESHREBTRE
consideration required to seftle the present obligation at the end of BEEFEREZHEMTT  MEAFIEER
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties ESREEzRARRTREEMEL o MBE
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using LA BITREBEIZREREMAER - H
the cash flows estimated to seftle the present obligation, its carrying REEAZEREREZRE (HEBKRE
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of BEZEEBELX) -

the time value of money is material).
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(i)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the seftlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interest.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.

Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

(i)
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(i)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit
or loss. Settlements of monetary items which formed part of net
investment in foreign operations without changes in the Group’s
ownership interests is not considered as partial disposals.

(k) Employee benefits

i Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. No accrual is made at the end of the reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward as the
amount is immaterial.

ii.  Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated
amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees, which are deemed to be contributions from the
relevant employees.

the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(k) Employee benefits (continued) (k) ﬁEi;ﬂ (#)

ii.  Pension scheme (continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government.

The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

() Equity-settled share-based payment

transaction
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The fair value of share options and awarded shares granted to
employees in an equity-settled share based payment transaction is
recognised as an employment cost with a corresponding increase in
the share options reserve within equity. In respect of share options,
the fair value is measured at grant date using the Binomial option
pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. In respect of awarded shares, the
fair value is based on the closing price at the grant date. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options and awarded shares, the
total estimated fair value of the share options and awarded shares
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the share options and awarded shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options and awarded
shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year of the review, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share options reserve and shares held for the share award scheme.
On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options and awarded shares that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve).

The equity amount for the share options is recognised in the Share
options reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is
transferred to the share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to accumulated losses).
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(

(m)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transaction (continued)
Shares held for Share Award Scheme

Where the shares of the Company are acquired under the share
award scheme, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “shares held for share
award scheme” and deducted from total equity.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related weighted average cost of the awarded shares
vested are credited to “shares held for share award scheme”, and the
related employment costs of the awarded shares vested are debited
to the share options reserve. The difference between the related
weighted average cost and the related employment costs of the
awarded shares is transferred to retained profits.

Where the shares held for share award scheme are revoked and
the revoked shares are disposed of, the related gain or loss is
transferred to retained profits, and no gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Where the cash or non-cash dividend distribution is declared in
respect of the shares held for share award scheme, the cash or fair
value of the non-cash dividend is transferred to retained profits, and
no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Related parties
A party is a considered to be related to the Group if:

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.
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(m) Related parties (continued)

1)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related
the

to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,

sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

a person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members

who may

be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic

partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when

there is a transfer of resources or obligations between the Group and

related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.
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(n)

(o)

IF=A=+t—HALEFE

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement
of financial position include cash, which comprises of cash on hand
and bank balances.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at
the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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(o) Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements
to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

(o)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Taxation (continued)
Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
of class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Borrowing costs
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

(o)

(p)

(a)

(r)
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(s) HAEHEZHRABRE

(s) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of
an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate, the
investment or the portion of the investment that will be disposed of is
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
and the Group discontinues the use of the equity method in relation
to the portion that is classified as held for sale from the time when
the investment (or a portion of the investment) is classified as held for
sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

The

following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving

estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the process

of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements: (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash-generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets have
been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the recoverable amount.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are approximately HK$1,134,000
and HK$Nil respectively (2024: approximately HK$2,793,000
and HK$3,053,000 respectively). During the year ended 31 March
2025, the Group has recognised impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$716,000 and right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$1,745,000 (2024: property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$1,000 and right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$172,000). Details are disclosed in Notes 16 and
17.

Allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised
cost

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 5.
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Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

(iii) Allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised

cost (continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of trade receivables
and other receivables are approximately HK$80,030,000
(2024: approximately HK$167,046,000) and approximately
HK$13,610,000 (2024: approximately HK$29,805,000)
respectively (net of loss allowance of approximately HK$42,160,000
(2024: approximately HK$23,584,000) and approximately
HK$113,756,000 (2024: approximately HK$99,829,000)

respectively.

The allowance for expected credit losses is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the expected credit losses and the
Group's trade receivables and other receivables are set out in Notes

5,20 and 21 respectively .

(a) Categories of financial instruments

FER e BRM S R ZMEFE (1))

(iii)

EBHEEAR B EEEL AR EEE
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(a) BT AEA

2025 2024
—EZRF —EZME
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Financial assets HMEBEE
At amortised cost 15 AR 113,020 225,197
At fair valve ZA-FE - 57
113,020 225,254

Financial liabilities HMBER
At amortised cost R EE LK 71,591 191,072

(b) Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, accrued liabilities and other payables, amounts due
to shareholders, amounts due to non-controlling interests, lease
liabilities and assets and liabilities associated with assets classified
as held for sale. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) B4
(continued)
Market risk W
(il Foreign currency risk (i)

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”). The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange
risk as most of the commercial transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency same as the functional currency
of each entity of the Group. Therefore the Group will only
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from the assets and
liabilities which are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which related. The
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC government. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise. The Group does not
have significant exposure to foreign currency risk.

(i) Interest rate risk (ii)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group is exposed to fair
value interest rate risk in relation to lease liabilities, amount
due to shareholders and amount due to non-controlling interest,
while the Group did not have any financial assets and liabilities
which are at floating rate of interests. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising
from any interest rate movements based on interest rate level
and outlook. The management will review the proportion of
any borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are
within reasonable range. In the opinion of the directors, the
Group does not have significant exposure to interest rate risk.
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Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 55 8 B Bt i (B A 4%

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its FERBERSGHFIETHENERALR
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. SETRUBEBERZAR - AKEZEFER
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, BEIEREEZBENE - REREMBEK
deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents. As REURRAERRECEEEE - R=F=H
at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to FREZZBINFZA=1+—H AEERE
credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to REBFREBTEEMEERIBEBEM
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising from AZzEsEERRE  DREGFS BN
the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as RERMINSHCRIAVBEE 2REE - &
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group EEYERENBEEFEEMEA RN
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its HAip 5 RIER -

credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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(b) A EFEEE B R (8)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
terms. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as to
the economic environment. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arises
when the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.

In respect of trade receivables in the PRC, the Group has a
concentration of credit risk in certain individual customers. At the
end of each reporting period, the five largest receivable balances
accounted for approximately 73.9% (2024: approximately 75.9%)
of the trade receivables and the largest trade receivable was
approximately 28.5% (2024: approximately 27.0%) of the Group’s
total trade receivables. The Directors closely monitor the risk
exposure of the customers and collateral and would take appropriate
action to ensure the risk exposure is acceptable. The Directors are
of the view that the expected cash flow of trade receivables are
sufficient to cover the carrying amount of trade receivables as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management reviews
the recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified approach on
trade receivables to provide for the ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix and considered relevant credit information such as forward-
looking macroeconomic information. Except for items that are
subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for impairment
individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the segmentation of
customer base and the Group's aging of outstanding balances.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade receivables with credit-impaired balances and
other receivables individually. The remaining trade receivables are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to
the Group’s aging of outstanding balances.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-RAF=A=1+—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure

to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other receivables as at 31

March 2025 and 2024:

5. MBI R (&)

(b) ME R EE B & ()

15 &% B2 5% iR {E F i (#8)

BAEKHRAR Kt ER®RE (&)

TREHEHEAEER-_Z-_0FKR-Z
—HFE=ZA=1+-BRESZEUNKERH
EWRBEFEAZZFERBREAEASRRE

EEFBEzER
Trade Receivables BHERRE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
Ll ik #REmE i b
At 31 March 2025 R-E-_RFE=A=+—H % HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T#ExT
Current (not past due) BNER (RiEER) 4.2 34,844 (1,468)
Less than 1 month past due BBHLR—M@A 16.0 8,284 (1,323)
Over 1 month but less than BEEB-—BABLN=1EA
3 months past due 29.4 15,235 (4,485)
Over 3 months but less than BEEB=EAELIR—F
1 year past due 41.2 49,215 (20,272)
More than 1 year past due BEEE—F 100 14,612 (14,612)
122,190 (42,160)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEEEEE HBERTEE EBERE
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-WME=A=+—H % HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FExT
Current (not past due) BNER (RiBuHp) 3.2 145,486 (4,723)
Less than 1 month past due BELOR—1EA 14.4 29,196 (4,197)
Over 1 month but less than BHBEE—EAELR=EA
3 months past due 49 .4 164 (81)
Over 3 months but less than BHEB=EABLIR—F
1 year past due 57.6 1,763 (1,01¢)
More than 1 year past due B E—F 96.8 14,021 (13,567)
190,630 (23,584)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

5.

5. MBI R(E)
(b) ME M EE B & ()

(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 55 BB R i (B BT 4 (8)
(continued)
Trade receivables and other receivables (continued) BHEBRRER A MERRE (&)
Other receivables Hth Bl RE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
GRS R E BRI R
At 31 March 2025 R-E-HRF=A=+—H % HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHT FHERT
Stage 1-12 months ECL FIBER- 12 FEHEERSE 2.6 13,139 (342)
Stage 2-Life time ECL F2RBR-2HEHEERE - - -
Stage 3-life time ECL (credit impaired)  H3ER-2HHEHREERE
(BEHBREERE) 99.3 114,227 (113,414)
127,366 (113,756)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TAHEER HBEREE iR
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MNE=A=+—H % HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Stage 1-12 months ECL FIRBR-12BAENEEER 2.7 16,128 (437)
Stage 2-Life time ECL F2RBR-2HEHEEEER - - -
Stage 3-life time ECL (credit impaired)  SE3MBR-2HEHREERHE
(BEHBREERE) 87.6 113,506 (99,392)
129,634 (99,829)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MM EREH &K ()
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 55 BB R i (B BT 4 (8)
(continued)
Trade receivables and other receivables (continued) BHEBRRR HfthFEW&RE (&)
The closing loss allowances for including trade receivables and R-ZB-RFR-ZZF-MNF=ZA=+-—H%
other receivables as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 reconciled to the BREESEVUREREMERRIETRZ
opening loss allowances as follows: HAREERFREAVNEEBFAYERNOT
Trade Other
receivables receivables Total
RAEBHE Eth s RE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr FER TEn
At 1 April 2023 R-B-—=2#mA—A 25,986 76,437 102,423
Increase in loss allowance recognised FARBEERIAZEBE
in profit or loss during the year BN 8,901 23,502 32,403
Reversal of loss allowance recognised FARBEERIAZEBE
in profit or loss during the year BERD (4,759) (66) (4,825)
Reclassified as held for sale ENDBABELE (6,544) (44) (6,588)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 EA:¥:@$_H_+ AR
—E-mEmA—A 23,584 99,829 123,413
Increase in loss allowance recognised FRAREBEZEIR ZEE
in profit or loss during the year B {518 hn 18,907 14,022 32,929
Reversal of loss allowance recognised FRAREBEZER 2B
in profit or loss during the year BERE (331) (95) (426)
At 31 March 2025 R-EBZRf=A=+-H 42,160 113,756 155,916
Trade receivables are written off when there is information that BSRUREREERBERERAERRK
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no reasonable BB B &SR L A IS XE R
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable He RECENETKWEREZHR (Hh
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a BIE) BB AREEAEBLEHEENRS
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure 2 URAEBBHESNBRZBBRR
to make contractual payments for a period greater than agreed = SR

contract terms.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net BERUIEZREBBINEEETRE
allowances for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables NARBEIREMERRIEBEZRBEERSE
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously BEFE HEMBEEAEHE 2% -
written off are credited against the same line item. HiHE—ETEENER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past
few years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has trade and other receivables
with approximately HK$42,160,000 and HK$113,756,000
respectively (2024: approximately HK$23,584,000 and
HK$99,829,000 respectively) being impaired since the management
of the Company considered these balances are unlikely to be
recoverable or partially recoverable.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables and other receivables are
set out in Notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The management monitored the financial background and
creditability of those debtors on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks
to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have good
credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired have no default payment history. In this regard, the
directors consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Deposits

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for
expected credit losses on a timely basis. The Group has assessed
that the expected credit loss rate for these receivables are immaterial
under 12 months expected credit losses method. Thus, no loss

allowance for deposits was recognised as at 31 March 2025 and
2024.

(b) A EFEEE B R (8)

15 &% B PR B iR {EL 5 (#R)

BAEKHRAR Kt ER®RE (&)
EHEERDEARBEHF2EREER
REE  ZEBERLBABURRNEE
[ 2 BRI 2 EEGIRR - EATARR A K
B 70 e U FROIR TR B B 2 RO PR 8
BHRoBNER-

RZZB-HE=ZRA=+—8 BAREXLXT
EEERASECEZRHEMERRES
B#142,160,0005% 5Tt ) 113,756,0005% 7T
(ZZ22ZF : 5 BI#23,584,000%8 T &
99,829,0005% jt) & K H 4 U = =X & 2
WE - MEBELHRE HERE-

BRAEEMRE S ERFAR A M ERRK
HFAR 2 FERRZE-—SEBRE - T
2 B E R 208K 21 -

EHEEREEERSAEBAZHBES
FERE FAEEZEBHABRFEEEELZ
REHFEITRS  UEEREERR © 15
REAPTFRBEZRBD E S ERHRIEY
BTEENHEZAR FUNS - EERB
FEBZEFERBS KEREE -

wBe
AEEEBERAERCESEBFELEE
BEREMEEERR -KAEECDRE2
BAESEESEATEZSERREZHE
HEEFERATEXN Bt R=ZZE=H
ER-FB_NE=ZA=1+—0  BERESE
BREEERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

(b) A EEEER B R ()

(b) Financial risk management objectives

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Deposits with bank

In respect to the Group’s deposit with bank, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial institution
with high credit rating and no recent history of default. Given the
high credit ratings of the banks, management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. The Group has assessed
that the expected credit loss rate for the deposits with bank are
immaterial under 12 months expected credit losses method. Thus, no
loss allowance was recognised as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
Management will continues to monitor the position and will take
appropriate action if their are changed. As at 31 March 2025 and
2024, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in
relation to deposit with bank.

In these regards, other than the credit risks mentioned above, the
management considers the Group does not have any other significant
credit risk and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash
and cash equivalents, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management.
Reports with maturity dates of borrowings and thus the liquidity
requirement are provided to management for review periodically.
Management will raise or refinance borrowings whenever necessary.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will
be settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining

period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity

5. MBI R (&)

(b)

MERREE B & (#)
15 S B3 B2 iR (B A 4 (#8)

) E & R

AEEEBERTERERRITHELR  EE
FARBERRERE  URBRSHBEER
EEZIMKER BUEEERDESA

EREREEERDESRR - HEEEE
HEREERDESTIRZBEERE
BERERXUMAER LER  EEEZEMN
BERHHETHERE -

TRERMEBEEE BB EE LR
RAAAE MR - REBBEHRESHE
HAEZRBPEMETIN - RARBEZLH

date. The amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual BESHRERGARAE  FBEOT
undiscounted payments, as follows:
At 31 March 2025
RZEZRAF=RA=+-H
Weighted
average On demand Between Total Total
effective  or less than 1 year undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1year to5 years cash flow amount
mEFy BERHK HEMR
ERd® —£R —F£ELF Rén #RmEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET THET FET
Non-derivative financial liabilities FHEMBAR
Trade payables ERENRE - 51,014 - 51,014 51,014
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2t EERHM
e FRIE - 17,728 - 17,728 17,728
Amounts due to shareholders ERRRFRE - 837 - 837 837
Lease liabilities HEEE 11.4 1,657 517 2,174 2,012
71,236 517 71,753 71,591
At 31 March 2024
R-E-ME=A=1—H
Weighted
average On demand Between Total Total
effective or less than 1 year  undiscounted carrying
inferest rafe 1 year to 5 years cash flow amount
EFY EER BRER
BERAIE —&R —FERF RBER BEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL FER FRET TER
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTERBEE
Trade payables ESEMNFRE - 129,278 - 129,278 129,278
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2 EERHM
R - 23,320 - 23,320 23,320
Amounts due to shareholders ENRRRE - 881 - 881 881
Lease liabilities HEAE 11.6 1,980 2177 4,157 3,661
Liabilities associated with assets B BEARBELEZ
classified as held for sales EEREBzEE - 33,932 - 33,932 33,932
189,391 2,177 191,568 191,072
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) MBIRZAFHE
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are MBEERVUKEEZAFERATHER
determined as follows: EE
e  the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities o EFEEEKIRRMKMG URREBITR

(including derivative instruments) with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices and ask prices
respectively; and

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities J
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current
market transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the
fair value is estimated using option pricing model.

TEERECHBEERVKEE (B
PTETR)ZAFE  HoR2ETRS
BAREHBREETE &

Htt B EERMEEE (BFTET
B) 22 E DREAREEES
VIEBRRERESN  RAELE
ARABERAGETHERG 2ERIE
EHE FUMBAELECTETA
ms XPEDRAHEEERA (G
o

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of REGEHBEMEXAER S X FETE
financial position

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that UTRHENSBAZEATFERRAEZ
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value on a BB IAEDN  DREAFEZAUBRREE
recurring basis, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to DRE—ZEE=ZHR:

which the fair value is observable:

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted -
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

- level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs -
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

- level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from -
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

(c) MBEIRZATFHE(E)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2024

RIZBE-_NE=ZA=F+—-HZAFEEHR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—R EZR E=H #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHET FET FET
Financial asset BREE
Financial asset at FVTOCI* BAFEFTAEMEEKE 2
BKEE" - - 57 57

*  The balance was reclassified as held for sale during the year ended

31 March 2024 (Notes 32).

As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of financial asset at FVTOCI of
approximately HK$57,000 was valued by an independent valuer,
APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited.

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
inputs to the valuation of financial asset at FVTOCI:

* BE-_Z_MF=A=1+—-HLEFER
ENSBABEEEZES (F:232) -

RZZBZWFE=ZA=+—RB  BQAFETA
HitzHWm M HEEERXFELNS7,000
B 7T TS B8 kB A 52 KB E AT A K
BERARME-

BUT BEE A 2 A FERT A Kt 2 W s 2 Bt
BEEZEPHAAMMERME EEZEE

Valuation Significant unobservable
technique inputs 2024
i {E T EXTrARsE —EZomE
Financial asset at FVTOCI Market comparative Adjusted Price-To-Sales ratio 0.57
RAFESFARME2EKE iS5 A L RE KERERHEER
ZUBEE
Marketability discount rate 20.5%
S RB TR
Sensitivity analysis Bl 5 A

If the adjusted price-to-sales ratio is higher and all other variables
were held constant, the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCI

would be higher.

If the marketability discount rate is higher and all other variables
were held constant, the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCI
would be lower.

HEAREREERLARMBEAMEE
HERE BRAVEFAHGZEREZH
BEE 2D FEKEM-

MHESRBERNELARMEHMEE
EERE BRAVEFAHGRZEREZH
BEEZLNTFEERD -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of

financial asset

As at 1 April RMA—H

Change in fair value of financial asset at RAVFEFAEEZE KR Z
FVTOCI in other comprehensive income MBEEZATEEZD

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) HEM B AR (F233)

Exchange realignment ERRARE

As at 31 March R=B=+—8©

(c) MBI RAZATFEGE)
MERESZRLTEHBZHR

2025 2024
—BE-hH%E —E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000

FRT Fx

57 274
- (208)
(56) -
(1) )
- 57*

*

ended 31 March 2024 (Note 32).

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of
approximately HK$208,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024,
relating to unlisted equity securities classified as financial asset at
FVTOCI and is reported as changes of “Financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income reserve”.

Except as disclosed as above, the directors consider the carrying
amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised costs in the consolidated financial statements approximate

to their fair value.

(d) Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior

year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts which includes
amounts due to shareholders, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share

capital and reserves.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on an
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class

of capital.

The balance was reclassified as assets held for sale during the year

* BE-_Z-_MFE=A=1+—-HLEFER
EFIBRABELEEEZEG (fF
32)

BEZZ-_WE=A=1+—HLEEIRH
2 mEUE 2 5 IELN208,00058 TEDEE
BRAFEFAHMEARS 2T HKEEZIHE
FHRAESFERE Y25 BMIRAFES
AHt2HEKRR M BEEREI2EE -

BREXFIREES  EBRANGEIBR
REBEAACRZUBEERMBEAE
ZAREEEE D FEMAS -

(d) BEFEREE
AEEERHES  URASEEEEE
ARHEGEE  YEBECEBREREHS
RIS ERE S REABE - AL BEH
BMERTE BAFER-

FEBEZEAEBOERMRRRE - BN
FERERNAREESESER  BER
ERREEEERE  UREADBAEEAEME
B (BRECBTREARRER) -

AARNESBFERNELEE - FRERT
Z—ED AEEEREEREARAREHE
BEARBEK 2Rk -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Capital risk management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated

as either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings

5. MBI R (&)

(d) B+EBEEE(#)

FEBRAEREELRERES - MAE
ERUBEARFEERUBER - RRE

divided by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the end of the HARzERBBLERNT
reporting period are as follows:
2025 2024
—ERE —ENEFE
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FET
Total debt () R () 2,849 4,542
Less: Cash and cash equivalents WBReRREEEER (18,541) (27,132)
Net debt FEHB N/AFEHR N/ATEA
Equity (il e (i) 50,071 52,235
Net debt to equity ratio FEBEERLE N/AFEHR N/ATEA
Total debt to equity ratio BEBHERLE N/AFEHR N/ATER
Notes: By EE

(i) Total debt comprise lease liabilities and amounts due to

shareholders as detailed in Notes 27 and 28.

(i)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”)
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment

performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

(i) HREBEEWI27R28fMzEEEE

RS IRERAIE o

(i) REEEAEEZRAEELAREE-

6. FWBEH

BERLERARE(EREERRE ) RELE
TERARRFEIMEBAZERDIEFRAR

NHERE2ERARB 2 ER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

The Group organised into three continuing operating divisions: supply AEBSAZBAVHEEKSE DS  HEREEK
chain business, daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and other consumable BRBR -BEARIEERER  RETHME
products business and licensed branded consumer goods. These divisions HEBRER ZEIBRETEERRESHEHN
are the basis on which the Group reports its segment information. ZEAE
The three operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as RIEETBUBEHREELESR  ZEATRERLEE
follows: DEMT
Supply chain business Engaged in the comprehensive supply ST HEEERRER HEM
chain business for branded goods, kEmza2H s
consumer products and commodities, % WM EEEX
assisting brand suppliers expanding HifERBURREM
their sales channels and offering BEZERYE  flamE
various value-added services such EE - -E2ZRERER
as brand promotion building and
management
Daily cleaning, anti-epidemic Engaged in the sales, marketing and HABZ - R BERGHNEERA
and other consumable brand building of daily cleaning, Bh % A A0 BE - BEARMEER
products business anti-epidemic and other consumable HAEMER ZHEETHRMEER

products in the PRC and overseas

Licensed branded consumer goods Engaged in the trading and online BEmEEER RPBERBIMMBEBER
sales via television network and EX MEka LBYEEET
online shopping channels of the BmEEEmcEI R
licensed branded consumer goods in SREHE
the PRC and overseas
Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts received and receivable BEECAREASE =T WR2RERE  BF
from third parties, income from commodities sales, sales of daily cleaning, WARBEERIEEXE - HEBRBER BHEHR
anti-epidemic and other consumable products and licensed branded mAEFE R ARG R EmER R E
consumer goods and provision of brand promotion services. Revenue EERE FREIZRENT !

recognised during the years are as following:

2025 2024
—EZRE —EIF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts XREEFRSWNZBRZES
with customers
Recognised at a point in time JREE — PSR B iR
Commodities sales BmiEE 44,409 51,903
Provision of brand promotion services REREEERE 122,818 122,408
Sales of daily cleaning, anti-epidemic and HEBRBRZ -BERARM
other consumable products SHAEm 9,496 8,055
Sale of licensed branded consumer goods HESTmEHER 828 1,720
177,551 184,086

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i # B 47 B 4 7 - Annual Report 2025 & 3
129



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH ()
Segment revenue and results THRRRER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEERERXERTRBRIMBE D 220
reportable segment: T
2025 —E_REFE
Continuing operations BHREBERE
Daily
cleaning,
anti-epidemic Licensed
Supply and other branded
chain consumable consumer
business products goods  Consolidated
BRER
By A a0 (el 1
Ll E 2 HERRY HBREH REe
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FERT FET FET
Revenue g~
Revenue from external customers HRBEHIREF 2 W 167,227 9,496 828 177,551
Result E¥
Segment profit/(loss) DERF (BE) (26,567) 2,103 (2,145) (26,609)
Unallocated other income FAOEE MU A 318
Unallocated corporate expenses 5k 5 fid 1> % 37 1 (27,288)
Finance costs BE R A (335)
Loss before tax BB A B (53,914)
Taxation B\ (1,818)
Loss for the year AEEERE (55,732)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Segment revenue and results (continued) SRR RIR(K)
2024 —E-WEF
Continuing operations BHREBERE
Daily
cleaning,
anti-epidemic Licensed
Supply and other branded
chain consumable consumer
business products goods Consolidated
RABE -
& AmA 5 EF m e
R HFEmER HEmER )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET THET FET
Revenue W &
Revenue from external customers HRBEHREF 2 W 174,311 8,055 1,720 184,086
Result E
Segment profit/(loss) DEEF S (FHE) 4,598 3,595 (3,066) 5,127
Unallocated other income RAOEE MU A 947
Unallocated corporate expenses sk Bl 2% H (29,465)
Finance costs BhE A (370)
Loss before tax BB A B (23,761)
Taxation Fi1E (5,193)
Loss for the year NEEERE (28,954)
Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external EXFERZBEERBIMAETRPZWE - BE
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the years ended 31 CECHFR-E-NMF=ZA=T-HLFER
March 2025 and 2024. WMAMEEE o
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as RSB ST BREWIIM A2 AEETS
the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results STERAME - A EEBE AR EE FTHMEA
represent the profit or loss from each segment without allocation of certain DA BMERARBEZASIHEEZE
other income, corporate expenses, finance costs and taxation. This is the Ho Mt AMEFBELEERKREREUDBERKRT
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation A EMRB2FHE -

and assessment of segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

Continuing operations

6. FWMEH(HE)

SHRERAR

BFREERY

Daily cleaning,
anti-epidemic

and other Licensed
Supply consumable branded
chain products consumer
business business goods Total
BRBER -
BrfE A &0 Eoido 1
HIERR HERER HERER #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET FiERx FEx
31 March 2025 —EHiF¥=A=+—H
Segment assets PEERE 92,065 22,730 867 115,662
Segment liabilities PEER 70,405 2,117 1,326 73,848
Daily cleaning,
anti-epidemic
and other Licensed
Supply consumable branded
chain products consumer
business business goods Total
RRBEZR -
BEmAmA g
S HREMER HEMER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET T FET
31 March 2024 ZEZMFE=ZRA=+—H
Segment assets PEERE 208,244 22,314 1,621 232,179
Segment liabilities PEEE 155,333 2,834 2,110 160,277
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mE M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Reconciliation of reportable segment assets and

HESBRERRRYE:

liabilities:
2025 2024
— =E-nmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments RSBz EELE 115,662 232,179
Unallocated and other corporate assets: AOBMRHEMEEEE !
Property, plant and equipment M- BERRE - 1,006
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE - 3,053
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE - FBNRIERE R W R IE 1,425 9,662
Cash and cash equivalents BHeRBELZEEEER 15,625 4,740
Assets relating to discontinued operation HERIKEXBEREE - 5,019
Consolidated total assets SGEEERE 132,712 255,659
Liabilities afR
Total liabilities of reportable segments AR EEEE 73,848 160,277
Unallocated and other corporate liabilities: RAMRHEMEEEE !
Accrued liabilities and other payables EtEERHMENRIE 6,046 5,170
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,910 3,164
Amounts due to shareholders S RERMIA 837 881
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation HERIEREXBER28E - 33,932
Consolidated total liabilities mEBEaE 82,641 203,424

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating

resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated

corporate assets (mainly comprising certain property, plant and

equipment, certain right-of-use assets, certain deposits, prepayments

and other receivables and certain cash and cash equivalents); and

e all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than

unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly comprising certain accrued

liabilities and other payables, certain lease liabilities and amounts

due to shareholders).

REZSBERRAIRS BHERAS :

e BRAPBRLEEE(ZEBEEETUE K
EREE -BHTEAEEE -BTRE W
AREREMERFBEURETRERE
SELEBE)N MEEESBEATRRS
;&

s BRAIBLEEE(ZEREETRAE
REMEMNRKE BATHEREURENR
RHB) I FEEBEIRETRBIH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Continuing operations

6. FWMEHHE)
HEthsMEH

BE_S_AFZAZ1+—HIFE
BFHEERY

Daily cleaning,
anti-epidemic

and other Licensed
consumable branded
Supply chain products consumer
business business goods Unallocated Total
BRER
BER&#N LEE
fhiEsERY HERRE HRARE ROE it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TET TET TET FET TFET
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ ¥1% + BERRZ B2 E 437 - - 278 715
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RRBEEZRE - - - 1,308 1,308
Net allowance for expected credit losses on ESRAMEYHEL
trade and other receivables BEEEFRRETE 27,782 (235) 322 4,634 32,503
Impairment loss of property, NE BERREZAESE
plant and equipment - - - 736 736
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ERAREEZHERR - - - 1,745 1,745
Additions to non-current assets* FRBEEEM 21 - - 9 220
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z_ME=A=+—HLEFE
Continuing operations BEREEK
Daily cleaning,
anti-epidemic
and other Licensed
consumable branded
Supply chain products consumer
business business goods Unallocated Toal
ARER.
BEARA Bitmg
HEEEH BRRER HERER AR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL ThR TAR TER TERL
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #]% « BERREZHE 501 22 - 278 801
Depreciation of rightofuse assets RRBEEZNE 22 83 - 1,221 1,326
Net allowance for expected credit losses on BoREMEKZEY
trade and other receivables EHEEFRRETE 15,635 (3,997) 239 15,890 27,767
Impairment loss on property, plant and NE BERREZAEESE
equipment - - 1 - 1
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets RRAREEZAERR - 172 - - 172
Additions to non-current assets* EBEREZEM - _ 2 _ 2

*  Additions to non-current assets excluding right-of-use assets.

*ORRBEECENTRERAEEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-"T-AF=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH ()
Geographical information WwERHE
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations are KARREBEAM AEBZEHETEURF
mainly located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The following analysis of the BrREB BE_ZT_AFR_ZFT_MNF=A
Group's revenue by geographical area is disclosed for the years ended ZS+-BLEEFE AEERGBEEHDI ZKRESN
31 March 2025 and 2024. WREOT
Continuing operations BHREBERE
2025 2024
k- o 2 —EImE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
The PRC H 177,551 184,086
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets TRAFNDEEREEMEHES D 2IREE
analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located: DT
Continuing operations HHREBEXRS
2025 2024
—BCEHF —EImE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
The PRC ol 155 -
Hong Kong &8 979 5,846
1,134 5,846
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH ()
Information about major customers AFREEERZEH
Revenue from major customers for the years ended 31 March 2025 and RBE-Z-_AFR-Z-NE=ZA=Z+—-HL
2024 contributing over 10% of the Group's total revenue are as follows: FEEMAREANBEBBIONZEERFIE
Bz WsmmT
2025 2024
ot = o 5 —EomE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Customer A (Note (i) BEEA(MEE() 43,359 26,321
Customer B (Note (i) & (ii)) & B (B £ (i) R (ii)) 32,941 -
Customer B (Note (i) & (ii)) & FB (M EE (i) & (i) - 40,666
Customer C (Note (i) & (ii)) & FC (M aE(i) & (i) - 39,636
Customer D (Note (i) & {ii)) % 7D (B £ (i) R (i) - 26,113
Notes: et -

(i) Revenue generated from supply chain business

(i) The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% to the Group's
revenue for the respective year.

(i) REHEEEE WS-

(i) PEEFEZWSREREEARETERI0% -
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For the yeg.:r ended 31 March 2025 HE-TE-RE=A=+—ALFE

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER LOSSES, NET 7. Rttt AR KGR B
2025 2024
- e - 2 —E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Continuing Operations RFREERS FET FHET
Other income Hfthir A
Interest income on: MEWA -
Bank deposits RITIFRX 22 4
Other receivables H th fE W SRR 292 916
314 920
Sundry income HMIEWA 118 77
432 997
Other losses Hfttis |
Net exchange losses EREEFAE (1) (M
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEW% - BERRHFE2EE (167) -
Others Hits 70 -
(98) (1)
/ ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 % # it i it A ®] - Annual Report 2025 F
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e M BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

8.

LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

8. BEREEHR

2025 2024
ZSThHF —FomEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Continuing Operations RFREERS THERT FET
The Group’s loss from operating activities AEEKEEBHEBREME(GTA) ¢
is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration* BB
- audit services — 2B R 700 700
- non-audit services — BB 180 150
Cost of inventory sold EEFERAL 49,682 58,076
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment* ME BERKRBEZITE” 715 801
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets* FERAREEZINE 1,308 1,326
Expenses relating to shortterm lease* EEMENER A 2,189 691
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  #1% BB R &R E 2 BERIE 736 1
Impairment loss on right-of-use-assets FERAREEZRERE 1,745 172
Legal and professional fee* ERREXER 6,707 4,039
Net allowance for expected credit losses EHGEESBRRETR
- allowance for expected credit losses —BESRURECHEBEERERE
on trade receivables 18,907 8,901
- allowance for expected credit losses —HttEWRE R EEEERE
on other receivables 14,022 23,459
— reversal of allowance for expected —ESRBRECEREEBRRERD
credit losses on trade receivables (331) (4,527)
— reversal of allowance for expected —HttEWRE 2 AREEBREERD
credit losses on other receivables (95) (66)
32,503 27,767
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration BTIHAX (BRESME) (#Z10)
(Note 10))
- wages and salaries** - IERHFE*~ 13,026 14,663
- retirement benefits scheme contributions** —RIREFGH B> 853 884
13,879 15,547

*

* *

expense”

Annual Report 2025 F % - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % it 45 Fit 2 #]

Expenses included in the “other operating expenses”

Expenses included in both the “selling expenses” and the “other operating

138

*ORATH®EERT I 2HX

O EEFATHERI IREMEEMY | 2MX



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-"T-AF=A=+—HItEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERF
2025 2024
—E-EHE —EomE
HK$’000 HK$'000
Continuing Operations RFREERS FHET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBZFE 335 370

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10.EEf £

BRELTRAREBARGAZREMERES
ECE-—HER-ZE-_NE=A=+—HItEE

Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, is as follows:

Name of director

2025

Executive directors

Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (Vice Chairman
and Acting Chairman) (note ()

Mr. Zhang Zhilin (note (b))

Mr. Guo Wei (note (c))

Ms. Qin Jiali (note (d))

Ms. Tan Xin (note (b))

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (note (e))

Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (note (f))

Mr. Xiang Xin (note (g))*

Mr. Qiu Bin (note (h))*

Mr. Chan Wai Cheong (note (i))*

Ms. Chen Xingiong (note (j))*

Independent non-executive
directors

Mr. Lin Qiu Cheng (note (m))

Mr. Wang Anxin (note (m))

Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris (note (m))

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond
(note (n))

Mr. Lam Williamson (note (o))

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (note (n))

Mr. Wong Tsz Fung (note (p))**

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (note (p))**

Mr. Chou Chiu Ho (note (g))*

Mr. Cho Ka Wing (note (q))*

Ms. Chan Lok Yin (note (g))*

Mr. Ma Kin Ling (note (q))*

EFpH

Fees

s

HK$'000

“BZRf
HITEE
HiRPEE (BIZERERE
EE) (MaE(a)
REREE (FEE(b)
K% (MEE ()
EEB Lt (M)
FE L (KEE(b)
IR L (MiEE(e)
RABE K& (R
m A (MiEE(g)) *
BB3H 554 (B =E(h)) *
BB & & (BFaE() *
BR AR IR 2z & (B &E(j)) *

BUFRTES

MRE G 4 (BT EE(m))
T =2k E (£ (m))
AL 7 4 (MR (m))
oK iR K& (FFFE(n))

MEE %% (MiaE(o))

=g EE (ME(n)

EFuELE (MEEp) **
Mg LA L4 (B RE(p)) **
BB EE (MEE(q) *
BEREEE (ME(q) *
PR & 38 22 & (Ff3E(q)) *

BREEEE (ME(q) *

FET

17
17
17

90
170

435

ZEEMEWT :

Basic
salaries,
allowance and Retirement
benefit in kind benefits
BExHe
REREMET BAER
HK$/000 HK$/000
THET THERT
593 66
243 30
460 43
1,547 12
912 12
3,755 163

Total

&t
HK$7000
TR

17
17
17

90
170

4,353

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 & # A B A ® - Annual Report 2025 4 #§

139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

Basic
salaries,
allowance and Retirement
Fees bonus in kind benefits Total
EXEe -
Name of director BEEpA e FRREVER RIKER &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET FET FET FET

2024 —EIWmE

Executive directors HTES

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (note (e}) IR E (FiEE(e)) - 1,350 18 1,368

Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (note (f)) RABEKE (M) - 780 5 785

Ms. Qin Jiali (note (d)) EEBEz L (M) - 180 - 180

Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong (note (a)) IR L& (iR (a) - 95 - 95

Mr. Guo Wei (note (c)) BEEE (HIEE(c) - 95 - 95

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (note (k) RN LA (HEE(K) - 1,800 - 1,800

Mr. Gao Feng (note (1)) =85 (BEE() - 780 789

Independent non-executive directors BIUFHTES

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (note (n)) B K& (M aE(n)) 135 - - 135

Mr. Lam Williamson (note (o)) M2 EE (EE(o) 135 - - 135

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (note (n)) HEELE (KE(n) 135 - - 135

Dr. Lam Lee G. (note (r)) mEREE L () 109 - - 109

514 5,080 32 5,626

*  The shareholders of the Company did not pass the resolution to authorise * O ARARRR-ZE-_NFNAB=FTHETZ
the Board to fix the Director’s remuneration during the annual general BRRBFAET  YABBREESEETE
meeting held on 30 September 2024. According to the legal "advice SHEWZRBR - RBARAMES 2 EES
obtained by the Company, there are no minutes of general meeiing B UAGFEAERERNAGAMSEMAE
approving their respective director remunerations pursuant to article 9 QIR EBOMEM EHBEESHFM B R AR
and 99 of the qrticFes of associations of the Company. As such, there is BELH  FIt > WEBEXISANFERIE
no evidence to support that the Company has been duly authorised under AREzABERARE EXAREETE - X
the articles of associations of the Company to fix or ‘make or withhold RINEZEES 25 o o ARAERE
payment of the director’s remuneration of these Directors. Furthermore, as RAEHBTREREA DB AR~ @40 > B
there were no resolutions recorded authorising the Company’s execution W B ERE R FRERRB
of the employment contract or appointment ?eﬂer with Chen Xingiong, EZEVEBESNIEMER > M BEFEEHE
Xiang Xin, Qiu Bin, Chou Chiu Ho, Cho Ka Wing, Chan Lok Yin, Ma Kin SRR EARER LM ESEVERS
Ling and Chan Wai Cheong, there is no evidence the Board was duly NeAY MEZEBEHNREZETRAREES
authorised to execute employment contracts for such former Directors. B%E -

Thus, the required employment contracts or appointment letters were not
signed by the Board.

**  There is no evidence to support that the remunerations of Mr. Wong Tsz o WEBEXISEFIEEEREUMELE 2 HH
Fung and Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew were supported by any signed letter DREEMEEE 2 EERER -
of appointment.

Note: Miat -

(a)  Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong has been appointed as executive director on (o) HRPEER-_Z_=F+—ANAEZEA
9 November 2023, removed 11 R\crch 2025 and re-appointed on HTES R-ZE-AF=A+—_HHAER
12 March 2025. WHRZE-AF=ZRF+-BEREFHZEE -

(b)  Mr. Zhang Zhilin and Ms. Tan Xin have been appointed as executive (b) REREEREBZLZLIR-Z-HF=A+-—
director on 11 March 2025. HEZERHITES -

(c)  Mr. Guo Wei has been appointed as executive director on 9 November (c) BEEENR-Z_=F+-BABEEIH
2023, re-designated as non-executive director on 29 November 2024, HTES > RZENF+—AZTAEHE
removed on 11 March 2025 and re-appointed as executive director on RFYTES N_ZT-HAF=HL+_BWE
12 March 2025. ROWRZZB-RAF=ZA+T-HEEHREER

HITESE -

(d) Ms. Qin Jiali has been appointed as executive director on 1 July 2023, d EEBEZIR=ZE_=5tA-BEZIAY

removed 11 March 2025 and re-appointed on 12 March 2025. TES R-ZT-AF=ZFT—H#HER I
R-B-RE=RAT-AREHREE-

(e)  Mr. Chiu Sui Keung, former chief executive office, has been re-designated e) BITHARBRBLER-Z_MNFE+—4
as non-executive director on 29 November 2024 and removed on SThARAEREITES  WR=-Z=-HF
11 March 2025. ZAt—H#ER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Hz—-Z—

s to
B 75 R 3% B =

7N

IF=A=+t—HALEFE

Note: (continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

(k)

(0

(m)

(o)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Mr. Zhang Shaoyan has been appointed as executive director on 1 July
2023, re-designated as non-executive director on 29 November 2024
and removed on 11 March 2025.

Mr. Xiang Xin, former chairman, has been appointed as executive
director on 1 October 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025.

Mr. Qiu Bin, former vice chairman, has been appointed as executive
director on 1 October 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025.

Mr. Chan Wai Cheong, has been appointed as executive director on 24
December 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025.

Ms. Chen Xingiong has been appointed as non-executive director on
1 October 2024, re-designated as executive director on 24 December
2024 and removed on 11 March 2025.

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin, former chairman, retired on 29 September 2023.

Mr. Gao Feng, former vice-chairman, retired on 29 September 2023.

Mr. Lin Qiu Cheng, Mr. Wong Anxin and Mr. Wu Kwok Choi, Chris
have been appointed as independent non-executive director on 11 March
2025.

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen retired on
30 September 2024.

Mr. Lam Williamson has been removed on 11 March 2025.

Mr. Wong Tsz Fung and Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew have been
appointed as independent non-executive director on 30 September 2024
and removed on 11 March 2025.

Mr. Chou Chiu Ho, Mr. Cho Ka Wing, Ms. Chan Lok Yin and Mr. Ma Kin

Ling have been appointed as independent non-executive director on 24
December 2024 and removed on 11 March 2025.

Dr. Lam Lee G. resigned on 7 February 2024.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments were

paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon

joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of the

directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year
(2024: Nil).
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Bt -

()

(h)

(i)

(i)

(k)

U)

(m)

(n)

(o)

(p)

()

(r)

(#)

E?’S%é‘ti%‘_?—_itﬂ REZERH
TESE R-E_MNF+-A-TABBEES
SF%L TEZ YN -Z-_AF=F+—-BHE
o

MEFMORER-ZB-_NF+A-AEEME
RYPTES AR -FT-HAF=ZB+-—BHERE
& o

AMEEFBREER-_Z-_NF+A-—HEE
EAYTES IR _FT-FZF=ZA+—-BK
B6H o

REBEAER-ZB-_NFE+-A=-+HHEEZ
ERAITES YR-FT-HF=A+-BK
BR -

MRBRZTR-B-_NE+B-ABEZEEAH*
BITES R-ZF-NF+T-A-TMAERME
RYTES IR-ZF-HF=ZA+-HEERE
o

AERRBIWEER-ZE-_=FAA=-TNA
RIE-

H'J BEFEsBAEER-B-_=FnA=1tNH
RIE-

MM EE EXOERERBEF EER=R
ThFE=RAT-REZRERBUNITES -

BKBREEREBRELAENR-_ZS-NFNA
=+ HEE-

MEEARER-_S-_AF=A+—HEER -

EFBRAERBUNEER-Z-_NFENA
ZSHEEZAERBUFHTES IR =-F
“HF=ZAT-HERER -

FRBALE EREEE REKTIRER
BERENRZZE-_NE+ A+ HNAREEA
BAFHTES YR -_Z_HAF=A+—H
WER -

MEREBLIR-_Z-_NE_ALHBT-

BE-_Z_RFR-_ZF-_MNMEF=ZA=+—HLHF
B AEENEAETSI MBERAMBEREB
RELABEBBEOES IS - ¢m1m§$
RESREREEMHNES (ZZT-NF : 8)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2024: four)

N.IEEEHESR
FRALEGReHF EEREME(ZE N
BEE  AMESHBEREEUBEHERMTI0

consolidated financial statements. A e

directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to the

HE-Z-hF=ZA=1t—HLEE BT=%
(ZE-WE . —R)FESESFEECHESH

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the details of the remuneration
of the remaining three (2024: one) highest paid employee who is non-

director is as follows: BOT :
2025 2024
—E"hF —EIMMF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Basic salaries, allowances and benefit in kind EXHFE  EZHREWERN 2,073 810
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRERFEIHR 31 18
2,104 828

The number of the highest paid employee who are not directors of the

WENFUTSHBEZH AR DESESHE

Company whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows: EZABAT :
2025 2024
k- 4 5 —EomE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZE#E 7t %E1,000,000% 7T 3 1

BE-_Z-AFR-FE-NFEZA=t+—-HLEHF
B AEBEWESRSIMERRMBAEBE
FESEBHEONFESRSHFEEIME -

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the non-directors, highest paid employees as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.
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mE M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

Continuing operations RFRBERS
Current tax ARERFLIE
- PRC —

2025 2024
“EZAF —TomE
HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FBT

1,818 5,193

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group's
income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong for the years

ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as follows:

HRAEEREBEZE-E-_AFKR=_T-NFE=H
=+ -ALEEZBWABRTEEBEE kR
BEE MUENBTEREHEHEE-

RETELXFEHE(REMBREZ] RE
KB ECERMAR BTN NE—-A—H
B BB ARZHER25% -

FEEREMXITRGEEEREMEZERER
RERTATBEEROT :

2025 2024
- R S —E-MmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
Continuing operations FRBERS THET FExT
Loss before tax BRBE Al S 18 (53,914) (23,761)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, REBRE A EEERERER
calculated at rates applicable to loss in REFEZRRABREZEEHIE
the tax jurisdiction concerned (13,390) (3,387)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHRBE L 2 B & 12,611 7,392
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBRBAZBRBELE (2,384) (1,183)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary difference ARG EE BB E (61) 16
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERBEERB o RETE 5,491 4,013
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised E}?Fﬁ BEZABRABIERIE (449) (1,658)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate for the year EZAEBRAFE 2 BRI R
AAEZHERX 1,818 5,193

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had unused estimated tax losses
of approximately HK$327,998,000 from continuing operations
(2024: approximately HK$306,310,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely except for the tax losses arising from the
PRC which may be carried forward for five years.

RIE-EF=ZA=1+—H AEEFELE
B EHBHHN327,998,0008 T (ZE-WEF :
#306,310,00058 7t) 2 K< B F{h st BB EFIE T
LUK SR OB R o B A SATER R R 255 FI 2k
B MU RBRELERBEE - AERAZHIEE
BUERPAANGEE HEPEEE ZBEIX
BIAEERER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Hz—-Z—

IF=A=+t—HALEFE

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of

the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

(a)

(b)

Basic
The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing and
discontinued operations attributable to owners of the Company is

the Consolidated Financial Statements

FE}‘JWTHITEJE 3= (— z

(a)

—mE ) -

X
ZIK’A AEAARGERASHEEERERILE
EEBCEBRERNEEDEBRUT BIEBTHE

based on following data:

2025 2024
bt S f S —EmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to RAREEAEML
owners of the Company (HK$’000) REERE (TET)
— From continuing operations - REFELSEEK (57,050) (31,038)
— From discontinued operation - RECHRLEEER (40,788) (970)
(97,838) (32,008)
Weighted average number of ordinary EBRTEBR2MEFHE(FR)
shares in issue ('000) 1,246,577 948,271
Basic and diluted loss per share BREARBEERE (8RB
(HK cents per share)
- From continuing operations - REFEBEKEXEK (4.6) (3.3)
— From discontinued operation - REECKRLREXER (3.3) (0.1)
(7.9) (3.4)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2025
has been adjusted for the effects of subscription of shares completed
on 25 September 2024.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2024
has been adjusted for the effects of placing of shares completed on
27 June 2023 and 1 November 2023 respectively and rights issue
of shares completed on 15 February 2024.

Diluted

The basic and diluted loss per share are the same for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. No diluted loss per share
was presented for the year ended 31 March 2025 as there was
no potential ordinary shares in issue as at 31 March 2025. The
calculation of the diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise
of the Company’s share options because the exercise price of those

share options was higher than the average market price for the
shares for the years ended 31 March 2024.
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(b)

BRI ERE-_E-_ASE=BA=t+—HLHEF
ESREABEMACETBRINETITIH
ERR-E-_NFEFAAZ+TEAERRZRE
DRBZEETURE -

A EBE-_ES-_WNE=ZA=+—HLEE
ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂsﬁﬂéﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬂé‘ BmEEIHE R
PRHR-ZBZ=FXA=-+TLtAR=Z==
F+—A—HRERZBRARERR ===
F_ATHEHERZERZZETURE -

e

BE-ZE-_AGR-ZF-_NFEF=ZA=+-—
HLEEEzSREAREEREER - RE
E_EZ_HF=A=1+-HLFELEES
NERBEEE RERER-_ZT_AF=A
S+-AUECRIT2BEEER - HES
REEEERTERIAQA T ZBEREE
T RERHREBZ-_Z_NFE=A=+—
HLEFEZEBRECTEESARO T
ITE ©
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Note

R

s to
EMBwRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

On 29 March 2024, the Group resolved to cease the operation of Esmart
digital services and on 30 March 2024, the Group entered into sales
and purchase agreement with a connected individual (“Purchaser”) to
dispose of its equity interests in Admiral Glory Global Limited (“Admiral
Glory”) for a cash consideration of approximately HK$22,000. Prior
to its disposal, Admiral Glory and its subsidiaries (“Admiral Glory
Group”) carried out all of the activities related to Group’s Esmart digital
services, which was a separate reportable and operating segment of the
Group. The disposal was completed on 28 June 2024.

As disclosed in note 32, the assets and liabilities of Admiral Glory
Group have been reclassified as assets of disposal group held for sale
and liabilities directly associated with disposal group held for sale in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group with effect from 30 March
2024. As Admiral Glory Group was a disposal group classified as held
for sale as at 31 March 2024, the Esmart digital services segment was
considered to be a discontinued operation in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024. The results of the Esmart
digital services segment for the year 31 March 2024, in the case of
the disposal group held for sale, of the abovementioned subsidiaries
have been presented as profit or loss from discontinued operation in the
Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 March 2024, the results of the Esmart
digital services segment has been presented as discontinued operations
accordingly.
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REZBZMF=ZA=-+NA *EEREL LK
EERHERYE UR—_Z_WNF=A=+HHE
—FEEAT(BEFNDITVEEHE  UBREER
fE#922,000% T i & H B Admiral Glory Global
Limited ([ Admiral Glory ) 2B -REE
Al > Admiral Gloryk H i & 2 & ([ Admiral
Gloryfll ) REEAEEERHBRBEEEA 2
FIBEEE MERBERBEALAEEEGRRZ
ReENH - FEHEEN =S -EEARA=Z+TN
H5ER ©

UM A2 E B2 -WF=ZA=1H
#2 - Admiral GloryEBZzEEREBEREAE
B REUBRRAENRI BEABFHEZ KT
ERRECEERES FHECREERBRERER
Bl 2 B & o HRAdmiral Glory&SBR -2
FZAZ+-BEREARFHEIREER
B HERHEREIHNEBE-ZE-_NE=A
ST-HLFEZGREMBBRERIERERESKL
ReExW - LMHNBLR 2 ERBBERE D BR
TEINFE=ZA=1— E(ﬁﬂﬁ?—rfﬁtﬂ%Z?&'ﬂ
EHE) 2XE CRAKEERZRE “HE=
A=+—HLFEZHER &Eﬂi’,ﬁﬁuiﬁﬁi’é
AENHERULEREXK 28D MEEBBR
BoMeFkKECHEZ2IREREREEK -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE
15.DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

The loss for the year from the discontinued Esmart digital services is set out

15.ERIEEEERH (8]
SR ERBBREEE FEBRBNT -

below.
Period ended Year ended
28 June 2024 31 March 2024
BE—BNF #HE-2-@OF
AA=+NAH =HA=+—8
1ERAR LEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Other income HA i A - 3
Other gain HAits i 22 - 53
Other operating expenses HitgEM% (1) (473)
Reversal for allowance for expected credit losses on B ZEWREZFAHEEHRBHRE
trade receivables - 232
Allowance for expected credit losses on other HitEWR - AHAEEEERAE
receivables - (43)
Loss from operating activities REEBEER (1) (228)
Finance costs A& B A (495) (1,726)
Loss for the year REERE (496) (1,954)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) HEMB AR 2EE (HZ33) (40,658) -
(41,154) (1,954)
Period ended Year ended

28 June 2024 31 March 2024
HE—Z-_OE HEZ-_NF

AA=+NA =A=+—H
ILRAE LEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss for the year from discontinued ERIEREXEBAFEBRERE
operations includes the following: UTIEE :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- -BERKEZITE - 2
Expenses relating to shortterm lease EEMENERZMAX - -
Legal and professional fee ERREEEM - 73
Imputed interest on amounts due to shareholders BARRFBZEEFE 455 1,585
Imputed interest on amounts due to non-controlling BN HEREZRBEZIEEFE
interests 40 141
Staff costs BEIRA
— wages and salaries - IER¥FE - 265
- retirement benefits scheme contributions — BRIREFF S - 26

BE-Z-_NFEFAAZ+NBLEHE HEHEAQ
FHENAEEMEER SR EFERTH63,000
BT (BEEZ-_NE=ZA=T—BLEE &
EINE R HIEEE386,0008T) ©

During the period ended 28 June 2024, the disposal group of companies
paid approximately HK$63,000 in respect of the Group’s net operating
cash outflow (year ended 31 March 2024: net operating cash outflow
HK$386,000).

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of disposal group are RHEHR - EERAEREENWEI2RIK

disclosed in Note 32. &= o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-RAF=A=1+—HILFE
16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. 1% - BB Rl

Furniture Fixtures
Leasehold and and Computer Motor
improvement  equipment fittings  equipment vehicles Total
HEMRKE GERRFE KEREH BRI RE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET TR THET TiEx TR
Cost: BE:
At 1 April 2023 WZBZ=FWNA—-H 3,838 2,555 559 914 5,470 13,336
Addition #3% - 2 - - - 2
Written off e (1,084) (1,417) (533) (491) (25) (3,550)
Reclassified as held for sale BN EARBEHE - - - (10) (525) (535)
Exchange realignment ERAR (54) (74) (26) (27) (28) (209)
At 31 March 2024 and R-ZE-_ME=ZA=+—-H
1 April 2024 R=Z-mEMA—A 2,700 1,066 - 386 4,892 9,044
Addition b - - - 14 206 220
Written off W - (871) - (207) 23) (1,101)
Disposal HE - - - - (1,088) (1,088)
Exchange realignment R HE - (3) - (2) (12) (17)
At 31 March 2025 R-BZRE=A=+-H 2,700 192 - 191 3,975 7,058
Accumulated depreciation RiFEREE:
and impairment:
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=ZFENB-H 2,586 2,540 559 855 3,197 9,737
Charge for the year FREX 268 15 - 34 486 803
Written off i3 (1,084) (1,417) (533) (491) (25) (3,550)
Reclassified as held for sale ENDEABELE - - - (10) (525) (535)
Impairment loss REEE - 1 - - - 1
Exchange realignment EHRZE (54) (73) (26) (24) (28) (205)
At 31 March 2024 and RZE-_ME=A=+—H
1 April 2024 KZE-MENA—H 1,716 1,066 - 364 3,105 6,251
Charge for the year FEREAX 268 - - 11 436 715
Written off s - (871) - (207) (23) (1,101)
Disposal HE - - - - (671) (671)
Impairment loss REEE 716 - - 20 - 736
Exchange realignment ERTESE - (3) - - (3) (6)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RF=A=+-H 2,700 192 - 188 2,844 5,924
Net book value: R RE :
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-RF=A=+-H - - - 3 1,131 1,134
At 31 March 2024 WNZE-ME=ZB=+-H 984 - - 22 1,787 2,793
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e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-T-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives, after taking into account of their residual value,
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvement 10%
Furniture and equipment 20-33.3%
Fixtures and fittings 20-33.3%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 10%

Impairment assessment

As a result of the poor performance of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group carried out a review of the
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (the “Tested Assets”) for impairment assessment. The recoverable
amount was the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually. The recoverable amount of cash-
generating units have been determined based on a value in use
calculation. The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group for the cash-
generating units covering the following 5 years with an average discount
rate of 12.0% as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 15%). The cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using 2% (2024: 2%) growth rate.

Based on the result of the assessment, management of the Group
determined that the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit
is lower than the carrying amount. The impairment amount has been
allocated to each category of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets such that the carrying amount of each category of asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in
use and zero.

Based on the value in use calculation and the allocation, during the year
ended 31 March 2025, the Group has recognised impairment losses of
approximately HK$736,000 (2024: HK$1,000) and HK$1,745,000
(2024: HK$172,000) on certain property, plant and equipment and
certain right-of-use assets (note 17) respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of the motor vehicles has not been reduced since the
fair value less cost of disposal is higher than the carrying amount. The
motor vehicles was measured at fair value based on Level 2 hierarchy
using direct comparison method.

% BERREEEHREEHTERE
B ARG BERLESENE - FAER
EMT :

HEWMREE 10%
BRAMR R H 20-33.3%
EEREMY 20-33.3%
R E 20%
TE 10%
i A BT 4
HRAEBEBZ-Z-_HAER-Z-0NE=A

ZSt-HBLEFEZRBRRE Zl-‘%l%ﬂﬂl% 3
ERRBUREAREE (HAREE] TR
B SETRE  LWEETRENG - TREE
BEAATERHERAETAEEMNE 2BSE -

REZEBMARESEE  AEBGTEE
FEzREEEENZAREEE REELE
Uz RESEDREEFERBEZAEME
Ee-ZiERAERAEEAERERRASELE
UHEZARRSFPMBEHERBGZREREHR

B BEPR-E-_AF=ZA=Z+-—HZFHUR
ZRHI12.0%(ZFB-WF : 15%) - AFHUEZ
REeEREFA2% (ZT_MWF : 2%) BRERHE
BEH o

RBFMMER  AEEEEEEERSELEN
ZAKREEFEENREE - HESHCIBRES
ER2ME BERREBURERABEE  £%
FREECRAETERE D PEREERA
EREERTEE=E2ZRSE -

REEREEFERIE BE-Z-2F=A

Zt-HUEFE  AEEBRGEESRAMEE

BERERETUE BERREUARETEA

REE (MF17) 2 BERBED BI#4736,000% T

(ZZZHF : 1,000 7T) & 1,745,000/ T (=
—MHE 1 172,00087T) ©

P2 PR O A AR+ S 2 IR
ALY - AERAEELRERE - RER
2 AFEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-RAF=A=1+—HILFE

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17.EHREE
Leased office
premises
HARFE
HK$’000
FET
Cost 5% S
At 1 April 2023 R-ZEBE-_=FMA—H 5,817
Additions R 3,925
Lease expiry HAE® (388)
Exchange realignment LA (3¢)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RE-ZE-WNEF=ZA=+—-—HR=-Z-EFMB—H 9,318
Exchange realignment N (33)
At 31 March 2025 R-E_HAF=A=+—H 9,285
Accumulated depreciation and impairment R ERRIE
At 1 April 2023 R-ZEBE-_=FMA—H 5,178
Charge for the year FARX 1,326
Lease expiry HAE® (388)
Impairment loss WIEEE 172
Exchange realignment ERRERE (23)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-EB-_WNE=A=+—HR=-Z-_MEFMBE—H 6,265
Charge for the year FARHX 1,308
Impairment loss PSRN SEi] 1,745
Exchange realignment LA (33)
At 31 March 2025 R-E_HAF=A=+—H 9,285
Carrying amounts: IREE :
At 31 March 2025 R-E-HAF=RA=+—H -
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_ME=A=+—H 3,053
For the impairment assessment, the details are disclosed in note 16. ERREFAFERMEIOKE -
Details of total cash outflow of leases is set out in the consolidated FREAELEZR e REAEHABEANGEES
statement of cash flows. MER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) General information of subsidiaries (a)

18. RINB AT ZEI
MEBARZ—RER

Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the

reporting period are set out below:

RBEMR - AEEZEENMB AR ZF15E

HHMT

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Nominal value and proportion of
Place of Form of of issued voting power held
incorporation business share capital/ FORRERREILR
Name and operations structure paid up capital iR R H(%)
BRfTRE /B8R
E1 HMA IR EE R EBERLR B*EE Direct Indirect Principal activities
Ef Mg fERE
Sino Talent Holdings Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100 Management consultancy
HESEERAR £ ARAF 187 EBEH
World Grace Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
tREFERAT B ERAH 187 REZR
FEEEEERRAA( The PRC Limited liability company US§151,611 - 100 Trading of commodiies in the PRC
HE ERERLT 151,611%7% RABETERES
Elife Capital Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
FEEEAERLA i ERAF 10,000% 70 REER
Shenzhen Aishang e-buy The PRC Limited liability company RMB2,000,000 - 100 Trading of licensed brands consumer
Technology Co., Ltd. (i oods
RITEDARNRERLA il ERERLT AR 12,000,000 RIRRHERES
Hui Min International (HK) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
ERER (BE)BRAT i ERAF 187 RERR
Zhongnongxin Supply Chain The PRC Limited liability company RMB39,999,999 - 100 Supply chain business
Management (Beijing) Limited i)
HEEHEEEE (1R) il EREMALT AR#39,999,9997 G ES
BRA(I)
KEFHHNERBERERAA) The PRC Limited liability company RMB15,528,360 - 100 Brand promotion business
il ERERLT AR15,528,3607 REEREEY
AREARES (BN ARAE( The PRC Limited liability company RMB989,913 - 100 Trading of daily cleaning and
antiepidemic products
HE EREMLT ARE989,913% BREZRGEARES
BRIMEMEEERARAA The PRC Limited liability company RMBS5,300,000 - 100 Supply chain business
il ERERAT ARH5,300,0007 ey
ABEAREER (BR)ERLA The PRC Limited liability company RMB200,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
i
H BREFAE  AR$200,000,0007% REER

Notes:

(i)  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.

(i)  These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises in the PRC.

pit

() ERFFIBAEEZHBAR DES
RABRHAEE S EEREEEHY
EoEERA SIHEMKEL RS
B BSENBHRLE -

(i) ZERXRARPEZIEBELRE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-"T-AF=A=+—HItEE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. WMIEATZIER (#8)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non- b) RETPEAEAFEREZZEZENS
controlling interests: DEZHE
None of the non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group have material NoBE-—HFE=ZA=+—H xEE2 k2
non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2025. EMBATEE RIEIERRER -
The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned subsidiary of TRERRETEEEAFEEREZ A&
the Group that have material non-controlling interests: EEFETEMNBERAT 2B
Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting
and principal rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated non-controlling
Name place of business  non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
HEfMBIHER FRBRERFSEZAEHESR PEFHERER
&8 FEERBE BRREZLLH ZER RIFERER
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
otk -2 ZEZoQF ek 32 ZECIQRF ek %2 e S 13
% % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T FERT THER
Sunfield Global* British Virgin Islands - 49.0 - (656) - (46,949)
HRIRIR* EBELES

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with

non-controlling inferests (469) (24,911)
REREEFEREZ 2ARNFEANB LA

(469) 71,860)
* An non-wholly owned subsidiary of Admiral Glory. The Admiral * Admiral Gloryz k2 EME AT -
Glory and its subsidiaries were classified as disposal group held for Admiral GloryR EHMBATER =%
sale as at 31 March 2024, and was disposed on 28 June 2024. —HE=ZA=t+t—HOoEABEEEZ
WHERE  YR-F-OFAAZTN
B#WEHE -

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s FHRSBEERFEREZZHF2ENBELR
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests for the year ARBE-Z-_MNFE=ZA=+-HLEE
ended 31 March 2024 is set out below. The summarised financial ZHEERBERIMT o AT HBEERS

information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations. EEREBEANARBMEAN 28 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. RMIBATIZE (&)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non- b) REFEEEARFERERZRZHFZEWE
controlling interests: (continued) NE 2 FHE T (&)
Sunfield Global g IR IR
2024
—E-mE
HK$'000
FET
Current assets MEEE 4,797
Non-current assets FRBEE 57
Current liabilities RBAEE (100,679)
Non-current liabilities FRBEME -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ANREBAEGESR (48,87¢)
Non-controlling interests IR (46,949)
Revenue L& -
Loss for the year REEEIE (1,338)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RARERAELES (682)
Loss attributable to owners of non-controlling interests FERERELER (656)
Loss for the year REEFHE (1,338)
Other comprehensive income attributable to AABREBEANEBEEMEE LS
owners of the Company 582
Other comprehensive income attributable to FEREZEGEMZE RS
non-controlling interests 560
Other comprehensive income for the year AFEEHMEE RS 1,142
Total comprehensive expense ANREEAELRRERMX
attributable to owners of the Company LR (100)
Total comprehensive expense FEREREO2EMX
attributable to non-controlling interests FEEE (96)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEE2HEBAXARE (196)
Deemed capital contribution from non-controlling Interest FERESZAZRELESE -
Net cash outflow from operating activities ReEXBRERHFH (38¢)
Net cash inflow from financing activities METHRERAFH 57
Net cash outflow REeERE T8 (329)

Annual Report 2025 % #§ - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4 i % it £ B 44 7
152



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-"T-AF=A=+—HItEE

19.INVENTORIES 19. 5%
2025 2024
ZETHF —EDMmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Finished goods B M 1,599 1,795
20.TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. 2B RIE
2025 2024
- S - 2 —EINF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT
Trade receivables (Note) BERWRE (MaE) 122,190 190,630
Less: allowance for ECL on trade receivables B ESERFECZEREESERE (42,160) (23,584)
80,030 167,046
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on past LTARBEHRBEAHERER I ZES
due date, at the end of reporting period: FE W R E
2025 2024
—EC-hHE —EomEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current BN R 34,844 145,486
0 to 30 days 0%30HR 8,284 29,196
31 to 90 days 31EZ90H 15,235 164
91 to 365 days 9123658 49,215 1,763
Over 365 days H#iB365H 14,612 14,021
122,190 190,630
Note: Miat -
According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a BETREF2EEIR AEALATHEZEF
range of credit periods from 30 to 180 days to its trade customers. Trade ZIEEHRAI0EI180H - ESEWMABUARYE
receivables are denominated in RMB. FTE °
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the years ended BE-E-_RAFR-_ZE-_NE=A=+—-HLEE
31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated RESERREETZHETGEFEEARNGETH
financial statements. HRMEES ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE
21.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

21. 8¢ AARFERAEMERRTR

RECEIVABLES

2025 2024
k- Jo 33 —E-IEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FExT
Deposits ®Re 839 1,135
Prepayments AN RIE 16,959 17,881
Other receivables (Note (i) & {ii)) ol e WU IR (B EE (i) B (i) 127,366 129,634
145,164 148,650

Less: allowance for ECL on other receivables W HMERREBEZEREEEE
(Note (iii)) B8 (822 iii)) (113,756) (99,829)
31,408 48,821

Notes: =

As at 31 March 2025, included the other receivables are several significant
items as follows:

(i)

Outstanding consideration for sale of minority interest in an associated
Company

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 2 June 2015 (as
supplemented and amended by two supplemental agreements thereto
dated 23 June 2017 and 28 November 2017) (the “Disposal
Agreement”) between Elife Investment Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Sino Rich Energy Holdings Limited) (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) (“Elife Investment”) and Jetgo Group Limited
(“Jetgo”), Elife Investment agreed to dispose of 10.5% of the issued
share capital of an associated company to Jetgo at the consideration of
HK$150,000,000. The first and second instalments of the consideration
of approximately HK$75,304,000 were settled in accordance with the
schedule.

In relation to the third instalment of the consideration of approximately
HK$74,696,000 due on 31 December 2018, Jetgo settled HK$200,000
in June 2018 and approximately HK$74,496,000 has remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, a full provision was made.

R-ZZB-AF=ZRA=+—B UTHEEKREABED
ST AE AU TR -

i) HEBHELALHEDZREELE

REFAQAZ2EMBARZEEREER
BERAR (BN EERRERERQA)
(REFRR)) EFESEAERAR (TES)D)
FAYBHA—ZE—AF A-BAZEER
E(EAMAE-E-—LtFEAAZT=ZHR=Z
—tFET-AZtTN\RZBOBAHREAERL
R (HERERD @ ZEEREFERR
E150,000,000/8 T HEHE A 82 HITRA
210.5% - RE2FE-HRFE M2 HREY
75,304,000/ T E R RE BRI RS

BEER-E-NF+-A=t+-RABZRE
TE=HHMBRIANT4,696,0008 T - EE
RZZE—-N\FEXHBEIE200,0008T 88 TH
74,496, 0008 TR E-_AFR-_T_-_WF
=ZA=t+—BHRME-

R-E-_RFR-_ZF-_MFE=A=+—-H" B
EH 2 EERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

Loan to Graceful Ocean International Group Holding Limited (“Graceful
Ocean’)

On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful Ocean, as borrower
and Mr. Ma Haike (“Mr. Ma") as first guarantor whereby Sino Talent
agreed to advance to Graceful Ocean a term loan in the principal amount
of HK$18 million (the “Loan”) with interest accrued at the rate of 13%
per annum. The parties entered into five supplemental agreements to the
Loan Agreement between April 2015 and June 2018 to, among other
things, postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2019. On
24 June 2019, the parties and Mr. Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”), a former
executive director and the former vice-chairman of the Board, entered
into the sixth supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement with the
interest rate of 10% per annum, to further postpone the maturity date of
the Loan to 31 March 2020. Meanwhile, as an additional security of
the repayment obligations of the borrower under the Loan Agreement (as
supplemented by the six supplemental agreements), on 24 June 2019,
Mr. Gao, entered into a second guarantee contract with Sino Talent
and Graceful Ocean whereby Mr. Gao agreed to act as the second
guarantor and in the event and only when Mr. Ma failed to or refused to
fulfill its guarantee obligations as the first guarantor, guarantee the due
performance of Graceful Ocean in respect of its repayment obligations
under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six supplemental
agreements). On 12 June 2020, the parties and Mr. Gao entered into the
seventh supplemental agreement to further postpone the maturity date of
the Loan to 31 March 2021. On 23 April 2021, Mr. Gao entered into a
repayment agreement (the “Repayment Agreement”) with Sino Talent
to take up responsibilities to repay the outstanding balances according to
the repayment schedule on behalf of Graceful Ocean when Mr. Ma failed
to settle of the Loan. The repayment schedule has been agreed and due
on 31 December 2022. The interest rate was changed to 5% per annum.

On 17 January 2023, Sino Talent entered into an amendment agreement
(the “Amendment Agreement”) to the Repayment Agreement with Mr.
Gao to further extend the final repayment date to 31 December 2023.
The interest rate remained at 5% per annum. Nevertheless, on 25 January
2024, Sino Talent instructed its Hong Kong legal counsel to issue a
formal demand letter to Mr. Gao for the full repayment of the outstanding
principal and accrued interest. Despite repeated demands for payment,
the amounts due under the Amendment Agreement have not been settled.

On 28 June 2024, Sino Talent issued a writ of summons at the High
Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against Mr.
Gao for claims of the outstanding principal and accrued interest under
the Amendment Agreement. On 13 November 2024, Mr. Gao filed a
defence to this claim.

As at 31 March 2025, the total outstanding principal and the
interest accrued thereon was approximately HK$20,874,000 (2024:
approximately HK$20,581,000) and was included in other receivables.
No repayment was made during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
approximately $2,270,000).

On 26 June 2025, Mr. Gao filed a mediation certificate confirming
his agreement to pursue settlement discussions with Sino Talent for an
amicable (the “Mediation”).

As of the date of this report, the Mediation is still ongoing. The Company
will issue further announcement(s) as and when there is update on the
progress of the Mediation.

i3
(i)

L (#E)

2GR EFERERA T ([EEEEE) 12
HEN

R-ZZE-MNFAB+—B RXQARAZE2EWE
ARFEEEERAT ((#HE]) EAEREA)
HESER (ERAEER) RESREE (B%
E)EAE-ERNITLERGE (HRiG
B Bt HEREOESERREMASE
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SERFEF VERBGE ((ERBED - UR
BERERBEFEZERZERBER  RBE
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EHEREEAERRFFE - BEZREHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

In respect of the sales consideration in Note (i), on 28 November
2018, 2 January 2019 and 25 April 2019, the Group (either by itself
or through its legal advisers) issued demand letters to Jetgo while the
management of both parties continued to discuss the means to settle
the outstanding amount. The Company sought legal advices from two
separate Hong Kong law firms on the viability and pros and cons of
taking legal action against Jetgo on its failure to make the repayment
in accordance with the Disposal Agreement. The Company will further
instruct professionals to assess the assets and financial conditions of the
Jetgo, its associated companies and the sole shareholder of the Jetgo in
Hong Kong and elsewhere and will then decide whether or not to take
legal action against the Jetgo or explore other options including but not
limited to disposal of the outstanding amount.

Due to the expected possibility of repayment from Jetgo in short period
of time is very low and its ECL was assessed at a very high level by an
independent firm of professional valuers, after thorough consideration,
the Board decided to make a full provision of allowance for ECLs on the
respective receivables, since the year ended 31 March 2019.

Regarding the outstanding loan balance in Note (ii), the ECL is assessed
at relatively high level of approximately HK$16,240,000 by an
independent firm of professional valuer as at 31 March 2024. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, a full provision on the outstanding loan
balance has been made as the Board considered the expected possibility
of repayment from Mr. Gao in short period of time is very low.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEE - ()

(iii)

B HEREMS  ~A&EE (BT
REBHEEBAM EEAEBR-_T—NE+—
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FEETRREEZEREERE -

HRESHEINEREANER Z TREMERER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-"T-AF=A=+—HItEE
22.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At the end of the reporting period, cash and cash equivalents were

denominated in the following currencies:

RMB AR
HK$ BT

22. 5@ RAEEEHEAE
RBEMFR  RERBLSEEEDATHES
EME

2025 2024
k= Jek 5 —EZNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHBT

15,498 22,329

3,043 4,803

18,541 27,132

The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB out of
the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by
the government of the PRC.

Cash and cash equivalents carry interest at market rates which range from
0.06% to 0.10% per annum (2024: 0.01% to 0.44% per annum).

MARBEECRERREEEBREELTEEA
BFPEBFAERZIEESH -

RERRSEEEERTSNERFE NFE
F0.06%£0.10% (ZZF-MF : FF0.01%=E
0.44%) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered into a series of
equity fransfer agreements that resulted in the acquisition and subsequent
disposal of three companies at zero consideration within a short
timeframe. The period between the effective date of each acquisition and
the effective date of its corresponding disposal was no more than 12 days
for each entity. Due to this brief holding period, the Group was unable
to exercise control by directing the relevant activities that significantly
affect the returns of these companies, notably through the appointment
of directors to direct significant investment decisions. Consequently, in
accordance with HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group
has determined that it did not obtain control over these entities at any
point. These transactions have therefore been accounted for as non-cash

transactions of acquisition and disposal of equity interests.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets of approximately HK$3,925,000 and corresponding
lease liabilities of approximately HK$3,925,000 in respect of operating
lease arrangement for leased office premises.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the
invoice date, at the end of the reporting period:

0 to 30 days 0Z30H
31 to 60 days 31Z60H
61 to 90 days 61E90H
91 to 365 days 91E365H
Over 365 days H#EiB365H

BE-ZT-AFZRA=+—-HLEFE  AEEF
N —RIIREEREGE - REREAUZRER
BUHZNHE=M2R  SHEREIAREE
MEOMEHELHEEN AR 2BERTERI2
R BHREEHEEY  AEEELZEBERY
ZEARZORELEAFE2EBEDH (LH
EEBZEAESRIERERRERRE) UTEE
FE- At RETEMBRELENFIOREFR
BUBHRER] AEEHAEARANEHZEE
ErEdE ZEXZEAMEARSREREE
REZFRERS °

BE_Z-_NF=ZAZ=+—-BLFE F&£EH
HERAEZNEZKELHELRHBREEREE
EENK3,9250008 T RIEEEEAEE ML
3,925,000 7T °

UTARBRERRBERREARRREOME
5 A ROR

2025 2024
—EZRSF —EmE
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

10,432 46,789
4,754 24,223
- 17,982
1,488 33,965
34,340 6,319
51,014 129,278

The average credit period from suppliers is ranged from 30 to 180 days.
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that
all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

(RER 2 TS H N FI0E180R « ALEEA
BEHBEREERE  RRAEEN KA
RERBRERNEA -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-"T-AF=A=+—HItEE

25. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. RtARRAEMEMRIT

2025 2024

—E-EHE —E-omE

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFHET THET

Accrued liabilities Z2:taE 6,655 3,919

Other payables HAih S FIE 11,073 19,401

17,728 23,320

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. A& E

2025 2024

- S R —EZomE

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFHET FHET

Contract liabilities (Note) ERBaE (W) 5,861 5,970
Reconciliation of contract liabilities for the years ended 31 March 2025 BE-—E-—RER-_E-_NE=ZA=+—HItHF

and 2024: EzEeHadHik:

At 1 April 2023

Revenue recognised during the year that was included
in the contact liabilities at the beginning of the year
Consideration received

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

Revenue recognised during the year that was included
in the contact liabilities at the beginning of the year

Consideration received

At 31 March 2025

R-E-_=FMA—A
STAEDENEBEZFRRRz WS

BHAE

REZBZME=A=+—-HR=-Z-NFNA—H
‘fAﬁ%ﬂAﬁ’JEﬁZfﬁlﬂﬁE el

BRARE

R-B-HAE=A=+—H

HK$'000
TER

1,015

(1,015)
5,970

5,970

(5,970)
5,861

5,861

Note:

Contract liabilities in relation to sales of finished goods are expected to be
settled within one year. The revenue is recognised upon the performance

obligation had been performed.

EE

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 & # A B A ® - Annual Report 2025 4 #§

159

HEENERERZANEERM R - FREE
BERNENEEETHREIER -

o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE
27.LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group's lease liabilities arise from the leasing of office premises with
a fixed lease term from 1 to 3 years as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. The
incremental borrowing rates applied by the Group range from 11.35% to

13% (2024: 11.35% to 13%).

The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows:

27. HR &R
R-ZZZAFR-ZZFMF=ZA=+—-RAEE
Er-HEEEELEEARETE  ERENZE
EEHNFIZF - AEBRACELEEER
ENFI1.35%F13% (ZBZMEF : 11.35%F
13%) °

FEEATHECHEEENT

As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
R-E_AF=HA=+—H RZZ-_WFE=A=+—H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHRE REHAS BEEE BEREE
IRz HE IR 2B E FRE%E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FTET FET FHET
Within 1 year 1ER 1,507 1,657 1,646 1,980
Over 1 year but less than 2 years T1HE#&{EB2FR 505 517 1,510 1,660
Over 2 years but less than 5 years 2FE#&{B5FR - - 505 517
2,012 2,174 3,661 4,157
Less: total future interest expenses  J& @ RIRFIEFIX 458 (162) (496)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaEBEE 2,012 3,661
Analysis for reporting purpose as:  Fi¥Re B H{EH D47 ¢
Current liabilities REEE 1,507 1,646
Non-current liabilities FRBERE 505 2,015
2,012 3,661

The Group's lease liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
RMB, being the functional currency of the relevant group entity.

FEBHESBENEIRARESIE - BIEREE
EERDEEYE -
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For the yeg.:r ended 31 March 2025 BE-Z-FF=A=1+—AILtFE

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS 28.FEfIBREFRIE

2025 2024
ZE-RfF —EIMEFE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE&T FET
Current liabilities REBEE 837 881
837 881

Notes: Miat :

(i) The amounts due to shareholders under current liabilities are non-trade in
nature, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(i) As at 31 March 2024, the amounts due to Mr. Gao, Mr. Zhang and
Mr. Chiu of approximately HK$11,450,000, HK$4,405,000 and
HK$215,000 respectively were classified as held for sale (Note 32).

() RRABEETZENRRAEBHFIZMEE -
HREER RERAEEREE-

(i) R=ZZ-_WE=ZA=+—-80 Efsk£E-
REERBAEZREDBIHN1,450,00058
TT 4,405,000 T 2150008 T DA E A
FEHE (EE32) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HBE-T-_RF=A=1+—HILEE
29.SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 29. X AFIKRF

Number of shares Amount
BH#E &
2025 2024 2025 2024
- 33 “ECRE k- S 33 - o 13
‘000 '000 HK$/000 HK$'000
T TR FET TR
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares EBR
At beginning and end of the year (of HK$0.1 each)  RENREL (FREEO.1ET) 3,000,000 3,000,000 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAR:
At beginning of the year READ 1,130,171 752,688 113,017 75,269
Subscription of shares (Note (i) RERG (H) 226,000 - 22,600 -
Placement of shares (Note {ii)) BERG (#2E(ii)) - 331,160 - 33,116
Rights issue of shares (Note {iii)) MR (4722 iii)) - 46,323 - 4,632
At the end of the year RE#H 1,356,171 1,130,171 135,617 113,017
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

On 25 September 2024, the Company completed a subscription of
shares and issued 226,000,000 shares at a subscription price of
HK$0.123 per share to an independent third party. The net proceeds
from subscription after deduction of related expenses were approximately
HK$27,789,000.

On 27 June 2023, the Company successfully placed 150,520,000
shares at the placing price of HK$0.103 through a placing Agent to
not less than six independent placees. The gross proceeds from the
placing were approximately HK$15,503,000, and the net proceeds,
after deducting the placing commission, professional fees and all related
expenses borne by the Company, were approximately HK$14,663,000.

On 1 November 2023, the Company successfully placed 180,640,000
shares at the placing price of HK$0.14 through a placing Agent to not
less than six independent placees. The gross proceeds from the placing
were approximately HK$25,290,000, and the net proceeds, after
deducting the placing commission, professional fees and all related
expenses borne by the Company, were approximately HK$24,640,000.

On 15 February 2024, the Company completed a rights issue of shares
and issued 46,323,042 right shares at a subscription price of HK$0.44
per right share on the basis of one right share for every five existing
shares held on the record date, and the net proceeds of the rights issue,
after deducting the professional fees and all other relevant expenses of
approximately HK$1,026,000, were approximately HK$19,356,000.

Bist :

(ii)

(iii)

R-ZZE-MFEABRZ-Z+ER > ARAER—E
RODELIRERDBEEO0.123BLE—EE
S HE=75817226,000,00088 IR 15 o HIERAEE
X% RBFAEREFENE27,789,000
BT ©

REZZBZ=ZHFXAZ+LH RRAARWDEBR
BREREUREE0.103B T FRIRAEE
I ABABE150,520,000 45 - EERE
2B RIBAENR15,503,000% 7T - &
NBERERS EXEMARMEARRARE
ZHEERAX  IBAREFENA14,663,000
BT e

REZZBZ=5+—-A—H  AOARWEBE
EREUREFO. 4B @R D RN BB K
B ABLE 180,640,000 17 - BB & 2
BRIEAFENR25,290,0008 T - A BR
BEMAE ZEXEARAERAQREEZHE
BRI - FISRURFEEEN 524,640,000 7T ©

RZZB-ME-_A+EAB » NARTZRERL
ERTHZAMEFAIRVEROER — R
BRERD 2 EEZIBESRERRMD0.448 T
B1746,323,042R IR B 10 - M AR HIBRE
BRARMAAMEREM1,026,000% T
BRHRZAEFIAFENR19,356,000%
T o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of Financial Position

30.F% 4

Bl MBI R &R R &R

(a) REKAR

2025 2024
- < Jo - 3 —EMF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MIE FET FET
Non-current assets FERENEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B ATz R 43,984 47,675
Property, plant and equipment Y% - RERRE - 1,006
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE - 3,053
43,984 51,734
Current assets REEE
Deposits, prepayments and other e ANREREM
receivables e E 1,419 1,105
Cash and cash equivalents HERBLEEER 15,367 1,221
16,786 2,326
Less: Current liabilities i REAER
Accrued liabilities and other payables B EREMENTE 5,640 4,085
Lease liabilities HEEE 1,405 1,255
7,045 5,340
Net current asset/(liabilities) REEE (AR) BH 9,741 (3,014)
Total assets less current liabilities EEBERRBER 53,725 48,720
Less: Non-current liabilities i ERENAR
lease liabilities HEERE 505 1,909
Net assets HERE 53,220 46,811
Capital and reserves BER
Share capital i 29 135,617 113,017
Reserves % 30(b) (82,397) (66,206)
Total equity EReE 53,220 46,811

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
18 November 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Zhao Zhenzhong
iR
Director, Vice Chairman and Acting Chairman

BEX FIEIEREEIE

R-ZE-HZE+-A+\BEESSHE
REENE  AATIATREERE

Zhang Zhilin
RES
Director

EE

Annual Report 2025 3§ - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4: 3 # i A7 i 4+ 7]

164



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-"T-AF=A=+—HItEE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

30. x LT Z MBI R R W (H)

(b) Reserves (b) & o
The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows: RATEBZHAEBOT :
Share Share
premium Contributed  Accumulated options
account surplus losses reserve Total
Ry BARR 2HER TR R Gk O &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T TER TEn TART
[Note (i) [Note {ii))
(Hrif)) (Hi2fii)
At 1 April 2023 RZB-=EMA-H 343,051 7,076 (423,897 5,784 (67,986)
Loss for the year rEERRE - - (19,131) - (19,131)
Share options lapsed BREXN - - 2,392 (2,392 -
Placement of shares (Note 29) RERD (4i29) 7,677 - - - 7,677
Transaction costs attributable to RERBHELZRBAE
placing of shares (1,490) - - - (1,490)
Rights issue of shares (Note 29) ®IR (H7i29) 15,750 - - - 15,750
Transaction costs attributable to BBFEEZRIRE
rights issue of shares (1,026) - - - (1,026)
At 31 March 2024 and RZBZME=ZA=+-BR
1 April 2024 “E-MENMA-A 363,962 7,076 (440,636 3,392 (66,206)
Loss for the year KEEER - - (21,380) - (21,380)
Share options lapsed IR XM - - 3,392 (3,392) -
Subscription of shares (Nofe 29) RERG (Hi29) 5,198 - - - 5,198
Transaction costs attributable AERDFELZRARA
fo subscription of shares 9) - - - 9)
At 31 March 2025 RZZEZRE=ZR=1-H 369,151 7,076 (458,624) - (82,397)

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 & # A B A ® - Annual Report 2025 4 #§

165



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Reserves (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Contributed surplus

The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and the capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted
and issued nil paid. Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances.

Share options reserve
The share options reserve relates to share options granted to
employees under the employee share option scheme. Further

information about share-based payments to employees is set out in
Note 31.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Company did not have
reserves available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie,
calculated in accordance with the Company Law (2003 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands to members. No final dividend has been
proposed out of such reserves for both years.

30.FLRFZHMBERRERR W ()

(b) f o (#8)
Mt

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Share Options Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of enabling the Company to grant share options to the eligible
participants as incentive or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include any directors, employees,
officers and/or consultants of the Company or its subsidiaries. The Scheme
became effective on 23 September 2021 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date. The Scheme
replaces the old share option scheme which was adopted on 8 October
2010 and amended on 17 August 2017.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on the date
of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period
is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share option in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors.

R Bz et &

AABRE-EBRES ((&t@]) - #F
BARNAMEGERSEERHBRE  FRER
SEFEEMZEBE HER - ZFB2EE
KSEEQERAQNADAAMNBAREMNES &
B SRBER /IEY - ZFER-_ZE--F
NAZ+=ZRBER  RIFUHEMBXNFUERE
ATzt d > BRZEtEEZ AR+ FARKESR
Mo ZFEMRR=_Z-—ZFF+ANBRMA (XL
REZZB—LFENA+LRER) 2EBRETS -

MR R2 at B TR IF I B 1% 0 i) AR AT 68 2 B AR A A
BRO2EeRNVBBEEASRBRETERAQR
REZFAERRBEASLERRMEERSH
TRD210%  ZETBIREERSEEMEM2
BRABEREBREVERTZHRSKROBE U
RABEAREBERITROZI%RR - LE—F
RHBRLREERE LARRRASLE
IRERALAE -

REARARES  TETRAESRETERRIRK
E2EMHBAIREBRE KASENES
SIEBATESRE o bLHh 0 LAMEM1218 B B
AERRBHEEMAMBEARN ZEERRIB L
FUTESREFMBRE  MERBFEAR
DEEMEBERTRG 20.1%HBE (RIER
HEHMADBRD ZERFE) BB5,000,000
BT BEABERBRRAELESRRAE -

REBRECERTRREHEZZAHEN28BR
B ARAAXINEH BRI 2EBARE-
FEREREZ2ITEHHESERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

Share Options Scheme (continued)

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the
share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer, provided that the subscription
price shall not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.

The fair value of share options granted to any directors, employees and
other parties is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share option reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

The closing prices (before and after Share Consolidation which took effect
on 27 January 2022) of the Shares immediately before the following dates
on which share options were granted are set out below:

Closing price immediately before the grant date
Closing price immediately before the grant date
(after Share Consolidation on

27 January 2022) R & BHE)

BEIEH A A 2Tl
BEIEH A AT 2K
(R=B==f£-A=++tA

PR Rt ® (48)
WREZTEEOESEE  ETHEA)S2
ARGRBREZER AN (LVAREEA)E
B2 WHE RiI)ADARGREEREE
AWM EERS A EHRA 2 THRDERE
THREE BRBETSERBOEME -

RTEMESE - BEREMAT ZBREZQAF
ERAA-—EHREERS MEZAZELHES
AREIEI - R AFEDAEL AN RBRE
ERHE 2HRARGEEUNEHREDREETERN

it
BERALSE ARRABR S S ERRAR LRE -

TREIRHREZBRERT I AHRRLEAZ
BHER-F-_=F-A=-t+ttAROEHEH
ERIREBER)

21 January

2020
—z-z

—AZ=+—H

HK$

BT

0.101

0.505

The aggregate value of share options granted to each class of grantees on
21 January 2020 are as follows:

Class of Grantees IR AR
Directors =)
Employees E&
Others Hith
Total st

RIZBZRE-AZ+-ARTEEREARAZ
BREABEENT :

HK$
BT

3,099,000
2,161,000
1,361,000

6,621,000

As at 31 March 2025 and the issue date of the consolidated financial
statements, all share options have lapsed and no share options remained
outstanding (2024: 23,891,282, representing approximately 2.11% of
outstanding shares).

RZZBZHAFZAZ+ - HRGEMBRERTH
B8 EBREHCAN - X EE[EKRIT
E2ERE(ZT-MF : 23,891,282 - thE
BITRMM2.11%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

Share Options Scheme (continued) MR HERT B (48)
As approved during the 2021 annual general meeting held on 23 it o RERER =-_ZE-—FhLBA=-+=H=&
September 2021, the mandate limit of the Scheme was refreshed to TR-BZ-FRRBFASLEMEERZ
66,492,871 shares. Since no share option was granted thereafter, 66,492,871 IRIR17 o RN E % 30 M43 H B IR AE -
the total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme was R-B-_MER=-ZZB-_AF=ZA=1+—-BHREZ
66,492,871 as at 31 March 2024 and 2025, representing 4.90% ST FRIT2RMDEH EH66,492,8718% 1
(2024: 5.88%) of the shares in issue as at the issue date of the ERGAVBHRRERBAPEOBITRME 24.90%
consolidated financial statements. (ZZZWF 1 5.88%) °
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2025 are as BE-_Z_HF=A=1+-HALGFEBREEZS
follows: wmE
Adjusted
exercisable Adjusted
price per  exercisable
share price per
after Share share
Consolidation  after Rights
on Issues on
Exercisable 27 January 15 February  Outstanding lapsed  Reallocated  Outstanding
Exercisable price per 2022 2024 at 1 April during the during the  at 31 March
Category of Participants Date of grant period share [Note (c) [Note (c) 2024 year year 2025
[Note o] & (b)) HK$ HK$ HK$ [Nofe ()
RZ8ZZ RZBZRE
-AZ+tH ZA+iA
Riraaz R
EREER ERESR  RIBCRE NZEZRE
fies fiE® iR mA-A EES ZA=+-H
SEETR BUHEE  (WELRL) BRTER () (W) REATE (&) L RETTE
#T ET ET
Directors and chief executives
EERTEMHAR
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 0.55 0.564 5,651,282 (5,651,282) - -
by RIEE 18
-A=+-8
Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (Note (] & (g)) 21 Jonuary 2020 Period § 0.1 0.55 0.564 5,651,282 (5,651,262 - -
RBELE WK ) it 33 Bl
-A=+-8
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 0.5 0.564 565,128 - 565,128) -
[Note [h))
BRBEE (W) 32Ef Eit]
-R=t-8
Mr. Lom Williamson 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 0.5 0.564 565,128 565,128) - -
HegxE Z32Ef ERit]
-B=t-8
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Nofe ) 21 Jonvary 2020 Period 5 011 0.5 0.564 565,128 - (565,128) -
EBELE (M) 32Ef ERit]
-R=t-8
Sbiol 12097948 (118769 [1,130256) -
It
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

Share Options Scheme (continued) RERR MRt B (4E)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2025 are as BE_Z-_RAF=A=+—HLEEEREZE
follows: (continued) mT (&)
Adjusted
exercisable Adjusted
price per  exercisable
share price per
after Share share
Consolidation ~ after Rights
on Issues on
Exercisable 27 January 15 February  Outstanding lapsed  Reallocated  Outstanding
Exercisable price per 2022 2024 at 1 April during the during the ot 31 March
Category of Participants Date of grant period share [Note (c) [Note (c) 2024 year year 2025
[Note (o] & (b)) HK$ HK$ HK$ [Nofe [f)
RZEZZE RISIREF
-AZ+tA ZRtiR
kit R
EREER Fid ] 41 S a3 ok -3
fies fHER fHER mA-A LS ZA=+-H
SRERN RURE  (HEp) BRITER (i) (W) EE3H (&) L EE3H
#T ET ET
Employee of the Group
s5ERER
In aggregate 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 0.55 0.564 6,430,770 (6,430,770) - -
a5t - 23 18
-f=+-8
Shiod 640770 [6430,770) ; -
gt
Others
ift
Mr. Wang Xiao (Note (d) 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 0.55 0.564 3,897,436 (3,897 436) - -
IEREWH) RIEE Eit |
-A=+-8
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (Nofe fh)] 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 0.5 0.564 - 565,128) 565,128 -
BREEE W) RIEE Bl
-A=+-8
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen Note ()] 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 0.55 0.564 - 565,128) 565,128 -
EEREL (i) R2EE Bl
-A=+-8
Dr. Lam Lee G. (Note (h)) 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 055 0.564 565,128 565,128) - -
REREL i) Ik Suf 2 il
-B=t-8
SUb-IJot;l 4,462,564 (5,592,820) 1,130,256 -
Tofal 23,891,282 23,891,282) - -
it
Weighted average exercise price 0.564 0.564 0.564 N/A
(in HKS) TER
mEFYTER(ET)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—AItFE

Share Options Scheme (continued) AR R ()
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2024 are as BE_ZE-_NME=A=+—HLEEEREZE
follows: mE
Adjusted
exercisable Adjusted
price per  exercisable
share price per
after Share share
Consolidation after Rights
on Issues on
Exercisable 27 January 15 February  Outstanding lapsed  Reallocated  Adjustment  Outstanding
Exercisable price per 2022 2024 at 1 April  duringthe  during the of at 31 March
Category of Participants Date of grant period share [Note (c] [Note (c] 2023 year year  Rights Issues 2024
(Noe (o] & (b)) HK$ HK$ HK$ Note (f)
RZBZZE  RIBIRE
-A-+tH ZA+iA
kit 1374
dRESR  ERRSR  R2BCZ R-B-RmE
fil TR iR mA-A EES ZA=1-H
SEETR RHBE (R BRITER 1) (i) RETTE () EhaR fRaAE REATE
& ET ET
Directors and chief executives
EERIEMRAR
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 21 January 2020 Period § 0.1 0.5 0.564 5,800,000 - - (148,718) 5,651,262
by - 23 Efi
-A=+-8
Mr. Zhang Shaoyan (Nofe [d) & [g]] 21 January 2020 Period § 0.1 0.5 0.564 - - 5,800,000 (148,718) 9,651,262
RBELE WK it St 23 Efit
-A=t-H
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond 21 January 2020 Period § 0.1 0.5 0.564 580,000 - - (14,872) 565,128
BRass - 23 Eit
-A=t-8
Mr. Lam Williamson 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 0.55 0.564 580,000 - - (14,872 565,128
nEELE - 23 Efit
-A=t-H
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen 21 January 2020 Period § 0.1 0.5 0.564 580,000 - - (14,872) 565,128
EiSELE - 23 Efi
-A=t-8
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Nofe ()] 21 January 2020 Period § 0.1 0.5 0.564 5,800,000 (5,800,000) - - -
REWEE (W) it St 23 Efit
-A=t-H
Mr. Gao Feng (Note (1] Mlanay 2020 Perod 5 011 0.55 0564 5800000 [5,800000] - . -
REEE (i) nt St 23 Efit
-A=t-H
Dr. Lam Lee G [Nofe (h)) 21 January 2020 Period § 0.1 0.5 0.564 580,000 - (580,000) - -
WE_EL (W) E%i?i 218
A= _B

Sub-ofal 19,720,000 {11,600,000) 5,220,000 (342,052) 12,997 948
/J\ﬂ-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

Share Options Scheme (continued) RERR MRt B (4E)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2024 are as BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HLEEEREZE
follows: (continued) mT (&)
Adjusted
exercisable Adjusted
price per  exercisable
share price per
after Share share
Consolidation  after Rights
on Issues on
Exercisable 27 Janvary 15 February  Outstanding lapsed  Reallocated  Adjustment  Outstanding
Exercisable price per 2022 2024 at 1 April  duringthe  during the of ot 31 March
Category of Participants Date of grant period share [Note [c] [Note (c] 2023 year year  Rights Issues 2024
[Note (a & [b]) HKS$ HKS HKS$ Note (f)
RZ§ZZ RZEZRE
-AZ+tA ZRtiR
Ritanae R
ERESR BHEER  R2BCZE RZBZmE
e iR iR mA-A EES ZA=+-H
SEETH RURW  (WEEp) BRTER (i) (W) REITHE () FhiER L) RETE
& ET ET
Employee of the Group
A50ERR
In aggregate 21 January 2020 Period 5 0.1 0.55 0.564 10,300,000 3,623,077) - [246,153) 6,430,770
& bt 22 £15
-f=t-8
Subfofol 10,300,000 (3,623,077) - (246,153) 6,430,770
I
Others
it
Zhang Shaoyan (Note [d] & [g)) 21 Jonvary 2020 Period 5 0.1 0.55 0.564 5,800,000 - (5,800,000] - -
RB= WZ K ZECEE £315
-f=t-8
Wang Xiao (Nofe (d]) 21 January 2020 Period § 0. 0.5 0.564 4,000,000 - - (102,564 3,897,436
TEWH) ZECEE £315
-f=t-8
Xu Ying (Note (g]) 21 January 2020 Period § 0. 0.5 0.564 580,000 580,000) - - -
BEWHl) ZECEE £315
-f=t-8
Sun Qiang (Note fe] 21 January 2020 Period § 0. 0.5 0.564 580,000 580,000) - - -
BRIzl ZECEE £315
-f=t-8
Dr. Lam Lee G. [Note (h)) 21 Janvary 2020 Period 5 0.1 0.55 0.564 - - 580,000 14,872 565,128
REEEL (W) it St 23 B
-A=t-H
Subfofol 10,960,000 (1,160,000 {5,220,000) (117,436) 4,462,564
it
TAotul 40,980,000 (16,383,077) - [705,641) 23,891,282
Ch
Weighted average exercise 0.5500 0.5525 0.5500 N/A 0.5640
price (in HK$) TEA
mEFYTER (ET)
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Share Options Scheme (continued)
Notes:

(a)

(b)

Period 1* 22 September 2015 to 21 September 2020

Period 2*

Period 3*

Period 4*

20 October 2016 to 19 October 2021

16 December 2016 to 15 December 2021

27 June 2017 to 26 June 2022

Period 5 21 January 2020 to 20 January 2025

Period 1 to Period 4 share option exercise period were expired in
previous financial years.

The vesting date of the share options for Period 1 to 4 is the date of
grant. The vesting dates of the share options for Period 5 are as follows:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 March 2020 and
exercisable from 31 March 2020 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 June 2020 and
exercisable from 30 June 2020 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 September 2020
and exercisable from 30 September 2020 to 20 January 2025,
both dates inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 December 2020
and exercisable from 31 December 2020 to 20 January 2025, both
dates inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 March 2021 and
exercisable from 31 March 2021 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 June 2021 and
exercisable from 30 June 2021 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 September 2021
and exercisable from 30 September 2021 to 20 January 2025,
both dates inclusive; and

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 December 2021
and exercisable from 31 December 2021 to 20 January 2025, both
dates inclusive.
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IF=A=+t—HALEFE

Share Options Scheme (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

The exercise price of the share options was adjusted to HK$0.55 after
Share Consolidations with effect from 27 January 2022. The exercise
price has further adjusted to HK$0.564 upon rights issue of shares with
effect from 15 February 2024. As at 31 March 2024, the weighted
average remaining contractual life of the outstanding share options was
0.81 year. During the year, all share options lapsed and no share options
remained outstanding as at 31 March 2025.

The rationale of grant was to provide incentive and award for services
rendered as a consultant in relation to merger and acquisition and
business development.

The rationale of grant was to provide incentive and award for services
rendered as a consultant in relation to business development.

In addition to the expiry of the exercisable period, the share options
lapsed due to the resignation or retirement of the participants.

The share options of Mr. Zhang Shaoyan has been reallocated to
“Director and chief executives” due to Mr. Zhang’s appointment of
director during the year.

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin and Mr. Gao Feng retired from director on 29
September 2023; Dr. Lam lee G resigned as director on 2 February
2024 and Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen
retired from director on 30 September 2024.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

Share Options Scheme (continued)

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of share
options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option
varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The fair
value of the share options were determined by an independent valuer,
APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited, using the Binomial option
pricing model (the “Model”). Details of the inputs to the Model are as
follows:

the Consolidated Financial Statements

MERE ARt E (48)
HEZEEREATECEERBRINIERES
zEﬁﬁ#o%&%zﬁﬁﬁ%%*Iﬁﬁﬂz

----- BlMBRTE - BREZAFEDBEBY
ﬁﬁ%ﬁkﬁé&ﬁ&@ﬁﬁﬁ@?ﬁ%_ﬁt
HETEERN (ZEXDEE -z 2B AE
HEOT

21 January

2020

ZBIEF

—RA=+—H

Total number of share option BRELY 29,550,000
Total number of share option (after Share Consolidation ERBAH (R=-Z-—F—-A=+tBRHBEHE)

on 27 January 2022) 5,910,000

Total number of share option (affer right issue on 15 BREAH(N-_Z-ONF-A+ABAH#HRE)

February 2024) 5,758,462

Grant date share price EHEHROER HK$0.107

0.107#87x

Grant date share price EHEHROER HK$0.535

(after Share Consolidation on 27 January 2022) (R=ZBZZF—-A=t+tHRNEHE) 0.535% 7T

Exercise price TREE HK$0.110

0.110& 7

Exercise price TREE HK$0.55

(after Share Consolidation on 27 January 2022) (R=ZE==F-A=+tHRHEHE) 0.55% T

Exercise price TREE HK$0.564

(after rights issue on 15 February 2024) (R=ZZ2-ZMEZR+HAMKRE) 0.5648 7T

Expected volatility TR R bR 40%

Expected life of the options BRERSFEY 5 years

5%

Dividend yield RE &R 0%

Risk-free interest rate SR = 1.49%

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Company did not
grant any share options to directors, employees or other partners. As at
31 March 2025, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is 6 years
and 6 months (2024: 7 years and 6 months).

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no expenses was

recognised in relation to the scheme.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

Share Award Scheme

The Board has adopted a share award scheme (the “Old Share Award
Scheme”) since 11 February 2011, pursuant to which 5,050,000
shares had been purchased by a trustee from the market at the cost of the
Company and were held in trust until they were granted and awarded to a
selected participant. No awarded share was granted to any persons since
the commencement of the Old Share Award Scheme.

On 27 June 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board resolved to
terminate the old share award scheme which was in place since 11
February 2011 and to adopt the new share award scheme (the “New
Share Award Scheme”).

The purposes and obijectives of the New Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees and persons to the
Group and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Subject to any early
termination as may be determined by the Board in accordance with the
scheme rules, the New Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective
for 10 years from the Adoption Date.

The Board may select any individual or corporate entity being a director
(including executive and non-executive director), employee, officer, agent,
advisor, consultant or business partner of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and other persons who/which in the opinion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group
(the “Eligible Participant”) for participation in the New Share Award
Scheme and determine the number of the awarded shares to be awarded
to the selected participants (the “Selected Participants”).

The Board shall offer the awarded shares (“Awarded Shares”) to the
Selected Participant(s) by any of the following ways as the Board deems

fit:

(a) subject to (i) the passing of an ordinary resolution by the
Shareholders in general meeting approving the Scheme Mandate
and the transactions contemplated thereunder; and (i) the Listing
Committee granting approval of the listing of, and permission to deal
in, any new shares as Awarded Shares, pay such sum to the Trustee
for the purpose of subscribing for the new Shares to be allotted and
issued to the Trustee for the benefit of the Selected Participant(s) or
allot and issue the new Shares as Awarded Shares to the Selected
Participant(s) directly; and/or

(b) pay the reference amount to the Trustee (or as it shall direct) and
direct the Trustee to purchase old Awarded Shares. The Board is
entitled to impose any conditions as it deems appropriate with
respect to the entitlement of the Selected Participant to the Awarded
Shares.

B {7 5% Wb &t &Y

ESEE-F —F-A+-BERARGRD
sHE CERGERER]) Bl FEALED
£ 85,050,000 BB W UBERXBEEE
HREHURBFERB>280E - AERDRB
BB LUK EEEAA T R RBRE -

REZZE-—LHFXAZTEB(HRMWAM])  ES
ERREILBE-ZFE-——F-At+-HEBRIZE
BRAD B E) - M ERAVET AR 0 SR B 5+ & ([ #BR AR
EmWEtED -

HFRORBFAIHZENREEARTAEEET
BERATZERYATRE BRBBRSE
BRAXEBCHELERREN D URABXE
BeE-—SBHRRSIGEAT - RFBFEERE
B SRAREAML L BRNRORBITEEAH
BB BB ERLEFFIOFEEAY -

EXeUREENENBALRAES (BEHT
RFHTES) EE - FTEAE RE - EH
A BRREBBH2EAALIER  EM
MEARAREZSERAHAEEERIBREE
BESEEMEM2HMAL ((EBESHAE])
SEFRORBTE  YUTEEEAZREZS
HE(REESEFT IRH2ZAROHE -

ESEURUTERASEZEAAR  Ag:
ESEERHERRD ((RmMEE)) :

(o) F(I)BRRRBRRAS LEBREEREZ
LERBEUREETRETZ2RS ) K(i)
L ESEHEEAERRBRD ZHRD
LtTREER  AKWMESEECNEIE
HERERBITTZEAZHTRG - XLHLE
NEZEAZNEENE  REEOETR
SHEEBRTHRDEREBRD RN

b) BEEA(FEEER)XGSERE XL
ERSAABEERRRY -EFZSERE
HRRBEERRERESHERNZBRG
it =78 2 8 R e A0 AE TR 4 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

Share Award Scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the scheme rules, the total number of Shares, whether they are
new shares or old shares purchased on-market by the Trustee, underlying
all grants made pursuant to the New Share Award Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at the Adoption Date.
Such scheme limit may however be refreshed from time to time subject
to the certain conditions set out in the New Share Award Scheme. The
Company shall not make any further grant of Awarded Share(s) which
would result in the total number of the Awarded Shares together with the
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted but yet to be exercised under the other share option
or award scheme(s) of the Company representing an aggregate over thirty
per cent (30%) of the Share in issue as at the date of such grant.

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders and subject to the
adjustment in the event of consolidation or subdivision of shares, the
maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a Selected
Participant under the New Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1 per cent (1%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date or the date of refreshment of the scheme
limit (as the case may be), excluding all the shares awarded under the
New Share Awarded Scheme up to the Adoption Date or the latest date of
refreshment.

Any Awarded Shares and the related income thereof held by the Trustee
and which are referable to a Selected Participant shall vest in that
Selected Participant in accordance with the timetable and conditions as
imposed by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided that the Selected
Participant remains at all times after the approved by the Board and on the
relevant vesting date an Eligible Participant of the Group.

If the Board selects a director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to the director may constitute a connected transaction
of the Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to director
forms part of the remuneration of the relevant director under his/her
service contract, such grant of awarded shares is exempted from all
the reporting, announcement and independent Shareholder’s approval
requirement under Rule 14A.31(6) of the Listing Rules.

For the Awarded Shares to the Selected Participants who are connected
persons (excluding directors), the Company will comply with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements. However, any
grant to any director or senior management of the Company must first be
approved by the Remuneration Committee.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-T-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

Share Award Scheme (continued)

The New Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the date
falling on the 10th anniversary date of the Adoption Date and (ii) such
date of early termination as determined by the Board provided that such
termination shall not materially and adversely affect any subsisting rights
of any Selected Participant thereunder.

The Share Award Scheme Mandate Limit of 66,492,871 shares (after the
Share Consolidation) has been refreshed and approved by shareholders
during the annual general meeting on 23 September 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Company has not
granted any share awards or approved any purchase of shares by trustee
under the New Share Award Scheme. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024,
no shares were held by any trustee under the New Share Award Scheme.

The Group did not recognise any equity-settled share-based payment
during the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. There was no unvested
awarded shares under the New Share Award Scheme as at 31 March
2025 and 2024.

The total number of share awards available for grant under the New Share
Award Scheme was 66,492,871 as at 31 March 2025, representing
approximately 4.90% of the outstanding shares.

The remaining life of the New Share Award Scheme as at 31 March 2025
is 2 years and 3 months (2024: 3 years and 3 months).

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no share awards were granted under
the Share Award Scheme.

B% {7 S& W =t & (48)

AR 13 B AT RIS R ()R B B B E 2 B o
(NEFERERR AL (HREAARLTEY
EASEESRECEF 2 AARERRNEEX
TREE) ZBH (LUBRERE) AL -

IR A7 2R B =t B IR EPREHG66,492,87 1 R (B
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BFERELERRMEREN -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

On 30 March 2024, which was the date of discontinuance of the
discontinued operations of the Esmart digital service segment, the directors
were committed to a plan to sell the Admiral Glory Group, which were
available for immediate sale and the sale was considered highly probable.
Accordingly, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the
Admiral Glory Group would be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. The Admiral Glory Group
were therefore reclassified as a disposal group held for sale and measured
at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The assets and liabilities of Admiral Glory Group, which belonged to
the Esmart digital service segment, have been classified as assets and
liabilities classified as held for sale and are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued segment
classified as held for sale are as follows:

the Consolidated Financial Statements

RIZE-MF=ZA=+H (MR LELESLHIE
RSBz RERKERAR)  EEFRHEHT S
HEAdmiral Glory&E @ » EATEIEFHEIL KR A
HEZ AR K o Bt » Admiral Glory&EB&E
ERAGZRAEATIZERHERIMIFRS
HEFAMUE o Admiral Glory& B H i # & 3
PEAFFHEZRLERR  WiIRHAKREENE
AFEBREEREAME R ZBREENE °

Admiral GloryEB2EEREEBN S REE
RS D MEE  HEDEABELEZEERE
B YARR-_B-MF=ZA=+—BZEFIH
BIRRKRF L2 -

PEABFELHECZCARLREXER I HEERE
BZ2EEENUOT :

HK$'000

FET

Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE -
Goodwill Gk -

Financial asset at fair value through other BRAVEFAEMEZERE 2HBEE

comprehensive income 57
Trade Receivables g 5 EWRE -
Deposits, prepayment and other receivable RE - ANFERHABEWRE 4,886
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkREEEER 76
Total assets classified as held for sale PHEABFLECEELE 5,019
Accrued liabilities and other payables EfeBEREMBESRE (2,095)
Amounts due to shareholders (Note 28) FEAS BR SR FRIE (A13£28) (16,070)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests J?E'T'T?'H‘Lﬂﬁi‘gﬁﬂ (8,767)
Total liabilities classified as held for sale PEABFLHEZEEHRE (33,932)
As at 31 March 2024, cumulative amount of approximately HK$456,000 RZBE_NE=A=1+H HPEABEHEZ

relating to the disposal group classified as held for sale has been

recognised in other comprehensive income and included in equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-FF=A=1+—HAItFE

Admiral Glory Global Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Admiral Glory Group”)

As disclosed in note 15, the completion of disposal of the Admiral Glory
Group took place on 28 June 2024. The net liabilities of the Admiral
Glory Group at the date of disposal were as follows:

Admiral Glory Global Limited&
HRE LT (##E Admiral Glory%
LIHD)

UM FEISHRE  AEER -2 -TF XA
—+ N\ BREKEEAImiral Glory&E o Admiral
CloySERHERHZEEFEMNT ¢

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: BRENIECEERARSIN:
HK$’000
FET
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkRELEHEER 10
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables BE - ANFERHMEWRE 4,662
Financial assets at fair value through other BRAVEFAEMEZERE2HBEE
comprehensive incomes 56
Accrued liabilities and other payables EfeBEREMBESRE (33,681)
Amounts due to the group entities ENEEERRE (66,597)
Net liabilities disposed of FHEAEFE (95,550)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBLARZER :
HK$’000
FET
Consideration received 2WRRE 22
Net liabilities disposed of FEEaEFE 95,550
Non-controlling interests at the date of disposal RHERMFERER (70,236)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve upon R BEREREERET S EZER
disposal to profit or loss 603
25,939
The losses on waiver of amounts due from R ERE % EWAdmiral Glory&E B IE 2 1B
Admiral Glory Group upon disposal (66,597)
Loss on disposal HERE (40,658)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) HEBELEZRHERA
arising on disposal: () B8 :
HK$'000
FET
Cash consideration RERE 22
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of W HEZRITEKRRES (10)
12

The impact of Admiral Glory Group on the Group’s results for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 are disclosed in note 15.

Admiral GloryR Bz #EHAEEBE T -1
FREIZFZNMNFZAZ+T-HLEFEZEEZE
ERMFTISAEE °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-RAF=A=1+—HILFE

34.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34. BFkiE
2025 2024
ZSThHF —FomEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FBT
Authorised and contracted for capital contributions EAHMBRARZEEREITHEE
payable to subsidiaries 444,014 379,045
Except abovementioned, the Company did not have significant capital BREMEN RBEBHR RARLEERER
commitments at the end of the reporting period (2024: Nil). EE(ZEZMEF E) -
35.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 35. MREMPAELRRZHIR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing TRENARERAZHAELRB/ZEHH
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising o BRASRFRCLE RATHHELR
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or RIERERBERRRALREERAEE RS
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow RERBRESBRABEIHHELNRLSAE
statement as cash flows from financing activities. ZRfE-
Amounts
Amounts due to non-
due to controlling Lease
shareholders interests liabilities Total
AR E 310
BRI H2IRR HERR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FTiEx TR
(Note 28) (Note 27)
(#1z£28) (Hi5£27)
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FDWA—H 17,883 8,626 1,403 27,912
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREREZEE -
Repayment of lease liabilities BE2HEEE - - (2,000) (2,000)
Repayment to shareholders, net BREREBIEEE (2,327) - - (2,327)
Non-cash items: HEELIER -
Finance costs E A 1,585 141 370 2,096
Additions of lease liabilities HEHEaE - - 3,925 3,925
Reclassified as held for sale BENOBRRBHELE
(Note 32) (H3232) (16,070) (8,767) . (24,837)
Exchange realignment (5% (190) - (37) (227)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZFEZMF=A=+—-HK
ZECNFNA—H 881 - 3,661 4,542
Changes from financing cash flows: HBEREREZEE .
Repayment of lease liabilities BiEHE8E - - (1,992) (1,992)
Repayment to shareholders, net EIRREFFEE (45) - - (45)
Non-cash items: HELER -
Finance costs BEMAK - - 335 335
Exchange realignment EXAE 1 - 8 9
At 31 March 2025 RIB-HEF=A=+-H 837 - 2,012 2,849
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T-AF=A=+—HItEE
36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024, the Group had entered into the following material related party
transactions:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statement is as follow:

Shortterm employee benefits AHEEREA
Retirement benefits RIKER

6. EXFEALTRS
BRILEGRAMEBREME S FAIREZRG RE
BN BEZE-HFR-Z-_NF=ZA=+—
BIEEE  AEESTIUTEABEALRS

(o) EEBEBARZHS
FEEBABCHE (BERAMBHREN
HIOMHBEZENTFARAES 2 H0E) 1

T

2025 2024

- R S —E-MmE
HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

3,789 5,890

163 50

3,952 5,940

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

WERBOAAGEUBRRWESZIE
IRAIR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Hz—-Z—

(b) Related party transactions

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had

the following material related party transactions:

Yangzhou Yi Yuantang Daily Goods Co., Ltd
(“Yangzhou Yi Yuantang”) (Note (i))
Sales of daily cleaning and anti-epidemic products

Yangzhou Fuerkan Machinery Manufacturing
Co., Ltd (“Yangzhou Fuerkan”) and its
subsidiaries (Note (i))

Sales of daily cleaning and anti-epidemic products

the Consolidated Financial Statements

IF=A=+t—HALEFE

(b) REALXS
BE-Z-_AFR-F-MF=A=1-
AR AREEETATERBRAL

2025 2024
—EC-RFE —EmE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#xT FHET
BENMNEEXARASERLR
(TEMBER]D (M)
HERABRERMBERR - 384
BHTRABARBREERTRAF
(TEHMRBFR]D R
HB AT (Max(i)
HERABERBERR - 66

The above related parties were company controlled by a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level during the reporting
period. The transactions were conducted on terms and conditions
mutually agreed between the relevant parties.

Note:

(i) Mr. Zhu Qian (“Mr. Zhu") controls more than 30% of the voting
power at general meetings of Yangzhou Yi Yuantang and Yangzhou
Fuerkan. Mr. Zhu is also a substantial shareholder of Century Smart
Group Limited and Smart Challenger Global Limited, both of which
are non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Therefore,
Mr. Zhu is considered a connected person of the Company at the

t?ﬁ@ﬁﬁ)&i%zﬁ’&ﬂﬁ"ﬁﬂﬁ“ﬂﬁﬁz
BEATRBEHANEFZQF - ZERS
BE Eﬁﬁk:ﬂﬁlﬁjﬁmzﬂ% KRR HEST -

faz -

(i) BERKRHEZEE (THREE] ZHIBM
SEERBMNABRBREARE 230%5
ERER MAKRELERER HCentury
Smart Group Limited & Smart Challenger
Global Limited (& 2B HHBA DT 23k
EEMBLAR) 2ETERR - Bt - K&

subsidiary level under the Listing Rules.

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March

2025 (2024: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-T-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

(i)

Notice of Appeal by the Appellants

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
25 October 2024, 20 December 2024, 27 December 2024, 7
January 2025, 10 January 2025, 21 February 2025, 11 March
2025 and 21 March 2025 in relation to the postponement of
the extraordinary general meeting requisitioned by six individual
shareholders of the Company (the “"EGM”) and the injunction
application received by the Company in respect of the postponement
of the EGM.

On 21 March 2025, the Company received a notice of appeal (the
“Notice of Appeal”) from Mr. Xiang Xin and Ms. Chen Xingiong as
appellants (the “Appellants”) and Ms. Liu Qivhua as respondent (the
“Respondent”) for an appeal against the judgment of the High Court
of Hong Kong dated 12 March 2025. For details of the appeal,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 25 March
2025. On 4 August 2025, a consent summons was jointly filed by
the Appellants and the Respondent to the High Court of Hong Kong
pursuant to which the appeal by the Appellants against the judgment
and order of the Honourable Madam Justice Linda Chan made on 21
February 2025 be dismissed (the “Consent Summons”). On 8 August
2025, the High Court of Hong Kong made an order in terms of the
Consent Summons.

the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-ZT-AF=-A=1+—HItFE

(ii) Resumption guidance (ii) ®he4E5I1

On 15 January 2025,
Stock Exchange setting out the following resumption guidance (the

the Company received a letter from the
“Resumption Guidance”) for the resumption of trading in the Shares:

(a) publish all outstanding financial results required under the
Listing Rules and address any audit modifications;

(b) conduct an independent forensic investigation into the issues
about certain operating subsidiaries of the Company during
the 2024 Interim Period, assess the impact on the Company’s
business operation and financial position, announce the

findings and take appropriate remedial actions;

(c) demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern
about the integrity, competence and/or character of the
Group’s management and/or any person with substantial
influence over the Company’s management and operations,
which may pose a risk to investors and damage market
confidence;

(d) conduct an independent internal control review and
demonstrate that the Company has in place adequate internal
controls and procedures to comply with the Listing Rules;

(e) demonstrate the Company’s compliance with Rule 13.24 of the
Listing Rules; and
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The Stock Exchange requires the Company to meet all Resumption
Guidance, remedy the issues causing its trading suspension and fully
comply with the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction
before trading in its securities is allowed to resume.

For further details of the Resumption Guidance, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 16 January 2025.

For further details of the progress of the resumption of trading by the
Company, please refer to the quarter update announcements of the
Company dated 28 February 2025, 2 June 2025 and 2 September
2025 and the announcements of the key findings and results of the
forensic investigation and the internal control dated 18 November
2025.
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(iii) Requisition for an extraordinary general

(iii) PEMHRAERATERBHE

meeting by China Innovation Investment
Limited

On 13 March 2025, the Company received a notice from China
Innovation Investment Limited, a substantial shareholder who
is currently holding approximately 16.66% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company, requesting the Board to call for an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company in accordance with
Article 58 of the Articles for the purpose of considering, and if
thought fit, passing the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions
of the Company (the “Shareholder’s Requisition”):

1. That Ms. Qin Jiali be removed as a Director with immediate
effect;

2.  That Mr. Zhao Zhenzhong be removed as a Director with
immediate effect; and

3. That Mr. Guo Wei be removed as a Director with immediate
effect.

For details of the Shareholder’s Requisition, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 25 March 2025 and the circular of
the Company dated 2 April 2025.

The extraordinary general meeting was held on 25 April 2025 to
enable the shareholders of the Company to consider, among other
things, the resolutions as proposed in the Shareholder’s Requisition.
For the poll results of the extraordinary general meeting, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 25 April 2025.
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(iv) Pre-conditional voluntary cash partial offer

by China Innovation Investment Limited

On 14 May 2025, China Innovation Investment Limited notified the
Company of its intention to make the partial offer (in compliance
with the Takeovers Code) to acquire 180,000,000 offer shares
(representing approximately 13.27% of the Company’s issued share
capital) (other than those already owned by the offeror and parties
acting in concert with it) at the offer price of HK$0.056 per Offer
Share. The making of the partial offer is subject to the satisfaction
of several pre-conditions. As at the date of this report, these pre-
conditions have not been fulfilled. For details of the pre-conditional
voluntary cash partial offer, please refer to the announcement
published by the China Innovation Investment Limited on 14 May
2025 4 June 2025, 3 July 2025, 1 August 2025, 20 August 2025,
19 September 2025 and 8 October 2025.

(v) Loans to the Group

On 2 September 2025, KB EZEaREER(ER)ER QA
("Yinglian Jiahe”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a one-year revolving loan facility agreement with
an independent third party for RMB50,000,000 with an interest
rate of 5.5% per annum. The facility is unsecured, guaranteed by
the Company and is designated for funding the Group’s business
expansion and daily operations. As of the date of this report, there is
no outstanding amount under the loan.

On 3 September 2025, the Company entered into a one-year
shareholder’s loan facility agreement with Mr. Zhao, the Vice
Chairman of the Company, for HK$5,000,000. The facility is
unsecured and interest bearing at a prime rate plus 1% (i.e. 6.25%)
per annum. The facility is not secured by the assets of the Group.
As of the date of this report, the outstanding amount under the loan
amounted to HK$1,500,000.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the annual report, no
subsequent events occurred after 31 March 2025, which may have a
significant effect, on the assets and liabilities of future operations of the
Group.

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 18 November 2025.
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